HALLMARIKK

I A L S E RV I LCE S , I N C

Annual Report 2010



NASDAQ: HALL

Hallmark Financial Services, Inc., is a publicly traded holding
company with wholly owned subsidiaries engaged in property
and casualty insurance headquartered in Fort Worth, Texas.

Hallmark’s Business Plan

is to operate as a diversified underwriter
of niche property and casualty insurance
products. This plan is executed by five
wholly owned operations, each with
separate specialty product focus. Each
operation is independent of each other
and has their own senior management,
underwriting, and claims staff.

Our Corporate Strategy

is to create a “Best in Class” Specialty
Insurance Company focused on under-
writing profitability and long-term growth
of stockholders’ book value per share.
Our specialty product focus and niche
market strategy enable us to develop and
retain in-house underwriting expertise and
specialized market knowledge, which
helps differentiate Hallmark from our
competitors. Each operation tailors its
products and product distribution to the
unique nature of the risk and coverages
they provide.

Our Financial Goal

is to earn a consistent underwriting profit
and build long term shareholder value by
focusing on profitability and operating
efficiency versus topline premium growth
and market share.
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Net Premiums Earned Book Value Per Share
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Highlights
For the Years Ended December 31, ($ in thousands, except per share amounts) 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
OPERATING RESULTS
Gross premiums produced $314,857 $288,450 $287,081 $297,904 $293,304
Net premiums earned 278,271 251,072 236,320 225,971 152,061
Net operating income!” 8,264 33,257 21,124 41,769 23,950
Net income attributable to Hallmark 7,334 24,575 12,899 27,863 9,191
Weighted average shares outstanding—diluted 20,175 20,633 20,877 20,768 17,194
PER SHARE
Net income—diluted $ 0.36 $ 1.19 $ 062 $ 1.34 $ 053
Adjusted net income—diluted® $ 0.36 $ 119 $ 062 $  1.34 $ 089
Book value $ 11.72 $ 11.26 $ 861 $ 865 $ 726
SELECTED BALANCE SHEET ITEMS
Total cash and investments $498,237 $445,405 $360,683 $427,787 $268,000
Total assets $736,620 $628,869 $538,398 $606,982 $415,953
Unpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses $251,677 $184,662 $156,363 $125,338 $ 77,564
Unearned premiums $140,965 $125,089 $102,192 $102,998 $ 91,606
Total liabilities $499,497 $401,228 $358,249 $427,361 $265,222
Total stockholders’ equity $235,763 $226,517 $179,412 $179,621 $150,731
Return on average equity® 3.2% 12.1% 7.2% 16.9% 12.9%
GAAP RATIOS
Loss ratio 72.8% 61.2% 61.0% 58.8% 57.3%
Expense ratio 29.6% 30.5% 30.6% 29.1% 28.7%
Combined ratio 102.4% 91.7% 91.6% 87.9% 86.0%

(1) Net operating income is income before noncash interest expense from amortization of deemed discount on convertible notes and income tax. The 2006 net operating income of
$23,950 is calculated as the reported pre-tax income of $14,325 plus the $9,625 interest expense from amortization of discount on convertible notes.
(2) 2006 excludes the noncash interest expense from amortization of deemed discount on convertible notes (see accompanying reconciliation).
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Letter from
Our CHAIRMAN

Mark E. Schwarz

Business conditions in the property/
casualty insurance industry remained
tough throughout 2010 with a fourth
consecutive year of overall rate decreases
in commercial lines coverages. This cir-
cumstance resulted from an industry
498 o capital position at its highest level in
history coupled with a level of insured
exposures still struggling to recover to
pre-recessionary levels. Against this

Cash and Investment

Gash & Equivalents—13% backdrop, our 2010 increase in book
S — value was $9.2 million or 4% per share.
This result pales in comparison to last
Total Cash and Investments year’s increase in book value per share

of 31% and our five-year average growth

$500 —
| ()
. in book value per share of 15%.
$300 —
Our produced premium of $315 million, premiums earned of $278 million and total revenues
$200 — of $307 million each represent new all-time highs. However, our bottom line results this year
are a reminder that profitability does not follow volume. Our disappointing 2010 performance
$100 derived from a consolidated combined ratio of 102.4%, our first greater than 100% combined
ratio since present management assumed responsibility for operations eight years ago.
0 Our specialty commercial segment achieved a respectable 93.3% combined ratio, while
06 07 08 09 10 difficulties in both standard commercial and personal lines segments drove unsatisfactory

combined ratios of 109.2% and 103.8% respectively.

While continuing to work towards our corporate objective of producing consistent under-
writing profits regardless of market conditions, efforts continued in 2010 throughout the
company to improve in all ways. We do business in more states with more products



03 : AR2010

““We do business in more states with more products than ever
before and continue to look for ways to profitably expand our

. 7
operations.

than ever before and continue to look for
ways to profitably expand our operations.
The acquisition of State Auto National
Insurance Company and the recently
announced acquisition of Texas Builders
Insurance Company are examples of capi-
tal commitments that we believe will pro-
duce favorable returns and enhance the
future value of our businesses. As a result
of these efforts, and despite our low level
of profitability in the year just ended, we
believe that Hallmark is a more valuable
company today than it was a year ago.

During 2010, our investment operations
produced a total return on invested
assets of $25 million or 6.7%. Total cash,
cash equivalents and investments grew
$53 million, or 12%, to $498 million, or
$24.76 per share as compared to $10.60
per share five years ago, representing

an average annual gain of more than
18% per year.

Total investment securities increased 32%
during the year to $432 million, due mostly
to increased investment in senior, secured,
floating-rate debt instruments. Despite the
increase in income-producing securities,
2010 net investment income of approxi-
mately $15 million was flat with the prior
year and still down from 2008’s all-time
high of $16 million. This is due to the effect
of lower market yields during the period,
a decision to maintain a short overall port-
folio duration, and continuing to hold

significant cash and cash equivalents in
the amount of $66 million as of year-end.

Holding cash when short-term rates are
near zero is punitive to return on stock-
holders’ equity calculations. We could
easily increase our net investment income
many millions of dollars per annum by
holding less cash, moving out on the yield
curve, and investing in taxable, rather
than tax-exempt securities. However, we
believe there are many dangers associ-
ated with such a policy at this time and
prefer to forego current income in exchange
for reduced balance sheet risk and greater
flexibility with respect to future opportunities.

Although property/casualty companies
remain profitable as a group, low market
interest rates in conjunction with difficult
industry conditions are causing ROEs to
decline and an inability to grow earnings.
Because Wall Street cannot predict how
or when industry conditions will improve,
analysts and investors continue to extrap-
olate the current trend ad infinitum. The
result is deeply depressed valuations for
many property/casualty companies, whose
shares trade at or below book value—
ours included. While the current valuation
for our shares no doubt includes an extra
increment of disappointment related to
our recent weak results, we believe it is
short sighted to judge a business with
excellent long-term results based on
short-term performance. We believe that

the seven consecutive years of underwrit-
ing profitability prior to 2010 did not occur
by accident. While no one can predict
what will cause industry conditions to
change or when it will occur, we believe
there is nothing more certain than the
inevitability that change will come.

In the meantime we maintain the advan-
tages of a management team that think
like owners, a balance sheet free of legacy
liabilities and a short-tailed book of business
that will respond to pricing adjustments
relatively quickly. As we strive to learn
from our mistakes of the past year, we
will persistently pursue our objectives of
enhancing the value of our current opera-
tions, finding suitable acquisitions at sen-
sible prices and identifying investment
opportunities in public securities that
carry acceptable levels of risk and offer
possibility of meaningful gains.

N

Mark E. Schwarz
Executive Chairman of the Board
April 2, 2011
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Our PRESIDENT & CEO

Mark J. Morrison

To Our Stockholders:

A.M. Best has reported that the property/
casualty insurance industry’s net premiums
written increased 1% in 2010 to $425 billion
from the previous year—the first increase
after three consecutive years of decline.
Property/casualty insurers’ admitted assets,
direct premiums written and net leverage
also improved in 2010. Despite such
improvements, the industry-wide combined
ratio rose to 102.1% in 2010—a deteriora-
tion from 99.9% in 2009. Property/casualty
insurers’ policyholder surplus in 2010
increased 9% from 2009 to $565 billion.
However, excluding Berkshire Hathaway
Inc.’s policyholder surplus increase of
471% year-over-year, the industry’s overall
increase was under 4%.

The market remains significantly overcapi-
talized and demand for insurance capacity
is weak due to the global recession. Most
carriers profess to be exercising underwrit-
ing discipline—walking away from business
that does not meet their pricing targets—
but it is still a very competitive market. We
have seen premium levels stabilize some-
what during 2010, but they still are far below
the hard market peak of 2004-2005.

For Hallmark, fiscal 2010 proved to be a
year of challenges and opportunities.
With a Company-wide combined ratio of
102.4% and book value per share growth
of 4% year-over-year, our performance
was in line with the property/casualty
industry average for 2010, yet significantly
missed our target for the year. This unchar-
acteristically poor result was due to a
combination of factors affecting incurred
losses in each of our three largest business
units. Increased volatility of large losses
and weather related claims negatively

affected the results of our Standard
Commercial and E&S Commercial business
units. We also experienced unfavorable
results in our Personal Lines business unit,
as higher than expected growth from geo-
graphic and product expansion drove a
greater proportion of less seasoned busi-
ness into the total mix of policies in force.

Despite the challenges we faced during the
year, we continue to build opportunities
for the future. With the close of our acqui-
sition of Hallmark National Insurance
Company (formerly State Auto National
Insurance Company) at the end of 2010
and the renewal rights to its non-standard
personal automobile business, we have

a pipeline of seasoned business to fuel
growth in our Personal Lines business
unit for 2011 and beyond. Additionally in
2010, our E&S Commercial business unit
launched a nationwide non-standard
medical malpractice insurance program
with the hiring of an experienced Chicago-
based underwriting team.

The importance of expense control and
organizational effectiveness cannot be
underestimated in a soft market. Beginning
in 2008, we have been proactive in our
efforts to maintain operational efficiency
by reducing costs through automation,
technology and non-essential headcount
reductions. This has allowed us to achieve
a slight reduction in our expense ratio to
29.6% in 2010 and remain within our
target expense ratio of 30%.

The accompanying Annual Report
describes in detail the progress we have
made in realizing our vision for your
Company. Please let me summarize some
of the highlights for you.

Who We Are and What We Do

We are a diversified property/casualty
insurance group serving businesses and
individuals in specialty and niche markets
that require specialized underwriting
expertise or market knowledge. We cur-
rently offer standard commercial insur-
ance, specialty commercial insurance and
personal insurance in selected market
subcategories that are characteristically
low-severity and short-tailed risks.

We market, distribute, underwrite and
service our property/casualty insurance
products through the following business
units, each of which has a specific focus:

e Qur Standard Commercial business unit
primarily underwrites lower-severity,
short-tailed commercial property/casualty
insurance products in the standard mar-
ket. We distribute these products through
a network of over 325 independent
agents primarily serving businesses in the
non-urban areas of Texas, New Mexico,
Oregon, Idaho, Montana, Washington,
Utah, Wyoming, Arkansas and Hawaii.

e QOur E&S Commercial business unit pri-
marily offers general liability, commercial
automobile and commercial property
policies in the excess and surplus lines
market. We offer these products to
small and medium-sized commercial
businesses and healthcare professionals
that often do not meet the underwriting
requirements of standard insurers. The
E&S Commercial business unit markets
its products in 24 states through 12
wholesale brokers and 63 general
agency offices, as well as over 435
active independent retail agent offices
throughout Texas and Oregon.
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e Qur Personal Lines business unit offers non-standard personal automobile, low value
dwelling/homeowners, renters, motorcycle and business automobile policies. We market
these policies through a network of over 5,500 independent retail agents in 28 states.

e Our General Aviation business unit offers general aviation property/casualty insurance
primarily for private and small commercial aircraft and airports, marketed through
approximately 200 independent specialty brokers in 47 states.

e Our Excess & Umbrella business unit offers small and middle market excess liability
insurance and commercial umbrella coverage on both an admitted and non-admitted
basis focusing primarily on trucking, specialty automobile, and non-fleet automobile
coverage. We market these products through over 100 wholesale brokers nationally.

Net Premium Retention

(% in millions)
The insurance policies produced by our business units are written by our insurance
company subsidiaries, as well as unaffiliated insurers. Our insurance company subsidiar- $350
ies have an A.M. Best financial strength rating of “A=" VIII (Excellent). These insurance $300 —
company subsidiaries are: $250 —|
e American Hallmark Insurance Company of Texas, which presently retains a portion of $200 |
the risks on the policies marketed by each of our business units;
150 —
e Hallmark Specialty Insurance Company, which presently retains a portion of the risks on $
the policies marketed by our E&S Commercial and Excess & Umbrella business units; $100 —
e Hallmark Insurance Company, which presently retains a portion of the risks on policies $50 —
marketed by our Personal Lines, E&S Commercial, General Aviation and Excess & 0
Umbrella business units; 05 06 07 08 09 10

e Hallmark County Mutual Insurance Company, which presently fronts certain lines of
business in our E&S Commercial and Personal Lines business units in Texas, where we H Retained H Non-Retained
previously produced policies for third party county mutual insurance companies and
reinsured 100% for a fronting fee. Hallmark County Mutual Insurance Company does
not retain any business; and

e Hallmark National Insurance Company (“HNIC”), which was acquired on December 31,
2010. Simultaneous with the closing of the acquisition, HNIC entered into reinsurance
contracts with an affiliate of the seller, State Auto Property & Casualty Insurance Company
(“SAPCI"), pursuant to which SAPCI will handle all claims and assume all liabilities arising
under policies issued by HNIC prior to the closing and a portion of the liabilities during
a transition period of up to six months following the closing. Commencing January 1,
2011, HNIC retains a portion of the risks on the policies marketed by our Personal Lines
business unit.

Our Philosophy, Strengths and Strategies

Our goal is to create a “best-in-class” specialty property/casualty insurance group focused
on underwriting profitability and long-term growth of shareholders’ equity. We also seek to
build a strong balance sheet based on conservative investment, reinsurance and reserving
practices. In pursuing these objectives, we have certain competitive strengths, including:

e Specialized market knowledge and underwriting expertise in the market subcategories
served by our business units;

e Tailored marketing strategies developed by each business unit to penetrate the specialty
or niche market in which it operates;

e Superior agent and customer service from performing the underwriting, billing, customer
service and claims management functions at the business unit level;

* Market diversification that spreads both our revenue and our risks among various spe-
cialty and niche markets that generally operate on different market cycles; and
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$315 (miion)

Gross Premiums Produced

B Standard Commercial—22%

B E&S Commercial—32%
General Aviation—7%

B Personal Lines—30%

B Excess & Umbrella—9%

* An experienced management team comprised of executive officers with an average of
over 20 years of insurance industry experience, as well as strong management and
underwriting teams within each of our business units.

Our strategies for exploiting these competitive strengths to achieve our goal of becoming
a premier specialty property/casualty insurance group include:

® Focusing on underwriting discipline and operational efficiency to consistently generate
an underwriting profit in both hard and soft markets;

® Achieving organic growth in our existing business lines by consistently providing our
insurance products through market cycles, expanding geographically, expanding our
agency relationships and further penetrating our existing customer base;

Pursuing selected, opportunistic acquisitions of insurance organizations operating in
specialty and niche property/casualty insurance markets that are complementary to our
existing operations; and

Maintaining a strong balance sheet by employing conservative investment, reinsurance
and reserving practices and to measure our performance based on long-term growth in
book value per share.

Our 2010 Performance

Our total revenues for the year were $307 million resulting in net income $7 million, or
$0.36 per diluted share, and operating cash flows of $36 million. Our book value per
share increased 4% during 2010 to $11.72.

The following are highlights of the 2010 results and our plans for 2011 for our reporting
segments:

e Qur Standard Commercial Segment struggled in a market that experienced its fourth
consecutive year of price deterioration and weak economic conditions. Gross written
premium decreased by $4.7 million, or 6.5%, from the prior year. Price competition
among the larger regional and national carriers combined with weak economic condi-
tions negatively affected our ability to increase written premium.

In addition, this segment experienced an unusual volume of large property and weather
related losses. This resulted in a gross loss ratio of 82.6%, which was 20.5% higher
than 2009, generating an annual pre-tax loss of $2.3 million. While these results are
disappointing and do not meet our expectations, we take comfort in the fact they were
driven by unexpected events rather than a deterioration in the risk profile of the book.
We continue to remain disciplined in underwriting and pricing standards. We are confi-
dent this discipline will deliver consistent profitable results over time.

Despite a difficult year, 2010 had several positive results. The segment implemented
new technology initiatives that improved efficiency and service. This improved our
expense ratio for the segment by 0.6% from the prior year. The operation also success-
fully expanded its geographic footprint by adding two new states, Hawaii and Arkansas.

Our Specialty Commercial Segment was also adversely impacted by weak market con-
ditions. In addition to a weak economy and price deterioration, national standard carri-
ers continued the practice of expanding underwriting guidelines to accommodate risks
that would previously only qualify for non-standard markets. This inhibited our ability to
achieve significant premium growth during the year. Gross written premium increased
by $14.5 million due to increased retention of business written in our Commercial E&S
and Excess & Umbrella business units.

Pre-tax net income fell by $7.6 million to $13.3 million in 2010. The primary reason for
the decrease was increased loss and loss adjustment expense. The gross loss ratio
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increased 4.1% to 61.9%. Increased
volatility in several large general liability,
auto liability and aviation hull losses
were the main driver of this increase.
Prior year development also contributed
to the increased loss and loss adjust-
ment expense. Despite the negative
trend, the segment generated a com-
bined ratio of 93.3%, which is above
our target 90% but a positive result given
the overall market conditions.

All business units within the Specialty
Commercial Segment continue to look for
growth opportunities through geo-
graphic and/or product expansion. Our
Excess & Umbrella business unit added
to their underwriting team with the addi-
tion of a veteran underwriter based in
Atlanta. Our Commercial E&S business
unit successfully expanded their geo-
graphic footprint by three more states in
2010. In addition, they launched a non-
standard medical malpractice product.
The new product is supported by the
addition of a seasoned underwriting team
controlling an existing book of business.
We continue to look for other similar
opportunities to expand the geographic
reach and product offerings in our
Specialty Commercial Segment.

e Our Personal Segment financial perfor-
mance during 2010 was not in line with
our expectations or its historically profit-
able results. Although the Personal
Segment continued the strategy of dis-
ciplined growth through geographic,
product and agency distribution expan-
sion, we failed to achieve the difficult
task of balancing growth with profitabil-
ity. Gross premiums written grew 32.9%
during 2010, compared with 17.9% in
2009. The combined ratio for 2010 was
103.8% compared with 86.5% for 2009.
Although the 2010 combined ratio is in
line with those of our true non-standard
auto peers, it is an unacceptable out-
come for us. We initiated remedial actions
in 2010 and which continue into 2011.
These corrective actions include rate
increases, agency management action,
tightened underwriting guidelines and

strengthened staff in the claims and
product areas to address the increased
size and complexity of the Personal
Segment. Our expectations include
the return to underwriting profitability
during 2011.

We developed our Personal Segment
platform to include speed-to-market,
geographic and new product deploy-
ment capabilities at minimal cost. We
successfully entered five additional
states during 2010 and our strategic
plan for 2011 includes continued geo-
graphic expansion into seven new states.
We were able to leverage this capability
with the acquisition of Hallmark National
Insurance Company. In six phases
over the first six months of 2011, we
will deploy the acquired business in the
21 existing states. The seasoned busi-
ness and access to the existing agency
plant is an outstanding fit for our
Personal Segment.

Where We Go From Here

In this environment of lower investment
yields and slow economic growth, under-
writing discipline and operational efficiency
must remain our top priority. Generating
consistent underwriting profitability is the
best way to earn risk-appropriate return
on our shareholders’ equity.

Our management team is committed to
defining Hallmark’s culture based on
maintaining underwriting profitability,
strengthening the depth and breadth of
our management team, expanding our
business into additional specialty lines
and increasing the financial strength and
capitalization of the company.

While we remain cautious about the econ-
omy and general market conditions, we
believe our competitive strengths and our
controlled growth strategies will allow
Hallmark to once again produce superior
results across changing market cycles.

We have seen industry pricing trends
remain consistent over the past several
quarters and into 2011, with signs of slight

improvement. However, with the combina-
tion of a weak economy, which has sup-
pressed demand for insurance capacity,
and another mild year for natural catastro-
phes, downward pressure on rate levels
will continue in 2011. Recent large catas-
trophe losses attributable to earthquakes
in New Zealand and Japan in the first
quarter of 2011 may absorb some of the
industry’s excess capacity and, with an
active U.S. storm season, prove to be the
catalyst for a broad market pricing turn.
Either way, we believe we are well posi-
tioned to compete in the current market
or capitalize on a turn when it occurs.

Although we were disappointed with our
results in 2010, we realize our accomplish-
ments over recent years have been signifi-
cant, and we remain committed to achieving
the long-term goals we have set. In many
ways, the events of the past year have
tested the soundness of our business
strategy. By all measures, our businesses
underperformed their historical levels and
the targets we have set for ourselves.
While these results were virtually the same
as the wider property/casualty industry
results, our goal at Hallmark is to achieve
petter than industry-average performance.
We are confident that, over the long term,
our businesses will achieve the superior
performance our stakeholders have grown
to expect from us.

| greatly appreciate your confidence in our
vision and continue to be optimistic that
the best is yet to come.

tiid o

Mark J. Morrison
President and Chief Executive Officer
April 2, 2011
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Hallmark’s Operational Structure

We segregate our five business units into three reporting segments for financial accounting purposes. Our insurance company subsidiaries
retain a portion of the premiums produced by our business units. The following chart reflects the operational structure of our organization,
the subsidiaries comprising our business units and the business units included in each reporting segment.

Standard Commercial Segment Personal Segment Specialty Commercial Segment

STANDARD COMMERCIAL PERSONAL LINES E&S COMMERCIAL GENERAL AVIATION EXCESS & UMBRELLA
American Hallmark American Hallmark TGA Insurance Managers, Inc. Aerospace Insurance Heath XS, LLC
Insurance Services, Inc. General Agency, Inc. . Managers, Inc.
(a/b/a Hallmark insurance Company) TGA Special Risk, Inc. Hardscrabble Data
Effective Claims . Aerospace Special Risk, Inc. Solutions, LLC

Management, Inc. Hallmark Claims Services, Inc. Pan American Acceptance _

(d/b/a Hallmark Insurance Company) Corporation Aerospace Claims Management

Group, Inc.

American Hallmark Hallmark National Hallmark Specialty Insurance Hallmark County Mutual
Hallmark Insurance Company
Insurance Company of Texas Insurance Company Company Insurance Company

Geographic Spread of Premiums Produced

1% 10 2.99% M 3% to 4.99% 5% t0 9.99% M 10% and higher
(Every other state is <1% of total premium)
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1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number001-1125:
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(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Nevada 87-0447375
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(Check one):
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The information required by Patt s incorporated by reference from the Registeadefinitive proxy statement to be fi
with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14Alatgr than 120 days after the end of the fiscat gesered by this report.

Unless the context requires otherwise, in this FAOrK the term “Hallmark” refers solely to Hallmarkinancial Services,
Inc. and the terms “we,” “our,” and “us” refer to Hllmark and its subsidiaries. The direct and imdir subsidiaries of
Hallmark are referred to in this Form 10-K in timeanner identified in the chart under “ltem 1. Busss — Operational
Structure.”

Risks Associated with Forward-Looking Statements Inluded in this Form 10-K

This Form 10-K contains certain forward-lookingtetaents within the meaning of the Private Securitigigation Reform
Act of 1995, which are intended to be covered by slafe harbors created thereby. Forward-lookiatestents include
statements which are predictive in nature, whichethe upon or refer to future events or conditiammsywhich include words
such as “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,’b&lieve,” “estimate” or similar expressions. Theasatements include the
plans and objectives of management for future djmers including plans and objectives relating tbufe growth of our
business activities and availability of funds. t&maents regarding the following subjects are fodalaoking by their nature:

. our business and growth strategies;

. our performance goals;

. our projected financial condition and operatieguits;

. our understanding of our competition;

. industry and market trends;

. the impact of technology on our products, operetiand business; and
. any other statements or assumptions that arkistorrical facts.

The forward-looking statements included in thisrRdrO-K are based on current expectations that wevolmerous risks and
uncertainties. Assumptions relating to these fodWaoking statements involve judgments with respe¢ among other
things, future economic, competitive and marketditions, legislative initiatives, regulatory frameik, weather-related
events and future business decisions, all of whaieh difficult or impossible to predict accuratelydamany of which are
beyond our control. Although we believe that tlssuanptions underlying these forward-looking stateimare reasonable,
any of the assumptions could be inaccurate andefire, there can be no assurance that the forlwaidng statements
included in this Form 10-K will prove to be accuératin light of the significant uncertainties infet in these forward-looking
statements, the inclusion of such information stiowdt be regarded as a representation that ouctolge and plans will be
achieved.



PART |
Item 1. Business.
Who We Are

We are a diversified property/casualty insurancaugrthat serves businesses and individuals in aiye@nd niche markets.
We offer standard commercial insurance, speciatiynroercial insurance and personal insurance in teglemarket
subcategories that are characteristically low-sgvand short-tailed risks. We focus on marketidigtributing, underwriting
and servicing property/casualty insurance prodtias require specialized underwriting expertisemarket knowledge. We
believe this approach provides us the best oppityttmachieve favorable policy terms and pricinghe insurance policies we
produce are written by our five insurance comparbsiliaries as well as unaffiliated insurers.

We market, distribute, underwrite and service owpprty/casualty insurance products through fiveitess units, each of
which has a specific focus. Our Standard Comrakheisiness unit (formerly known as our AHIS Op@gtUnit) primarily
handles standard commercial insurance, our E&S Cenecial business unit (formerly known as our TGA @peag Unit)
concentrates on excess and surplus lines comménmsialance, our General Aviation business unitnienly known as our
Aerospace Operating Unit) specializes in genergtawn insurance, our Excess & Umbrella business(formerly known as
our Heath XS Operating Unit) handles excess comialexatomobile and commercial umbrella risks orhbar admitted and
non-admitted basis and our Personal Lines busimeisgformerly known as our Personal Lines Opegatimit) focuses on
non-standard personal automobile insurance and leomemtary personal insurance products and services.

Each business unit has its own management teamsigitiificant experience in distributing productsit®target markets and
proven success in achieving underwriting profitpiand providing efficient claims management. [Edusiness unit is
responsible for marketing, distribution, underwrgi and claims management while we provide capitahagement,

reinsurance, actuarial, investment, financial répgr technology and legal services and other athtnative support at the
parent level. We believe this approach optimiaes operating results by allowing us to effectivplgnetrate our selected
specialty and niche markets while maintaining oflenal controls, managing risks, controlling oveatieand efficiently

allocating our capital across business units.

We expect future growth to be derived from orgagriowth in the premium production of our existingsimess units and
selected opportunistic acquisitions that meet oiteréa. For the year ended December 31, 2010rceqypately 89% of the
total premium we produced was retained by our #xsce company subsidiaries, while the remaining 1486 ceded to
unaffiliated insurers.

What We Do

We market standard commercial, specialty commeacgidlpersonal property/casualty insurance produttgh are tailored to
the risks and coverages required by the insurede Balieve that most of our target markets are watteed by larger
property/casualty underwriters because of the sfpized nature of the underwriting required. We abde to offer these
products profitably as a result of the expertiseoof experienced underwriters. We also believe lomg-standing
relationships with independent general agencies retall agents and the service we provide difféat@tus from larger
property/casualty underwriters.

Our Standard Commercial business unit primarily amdites low-severity, short-tailed commercial pedy/casualty
insurance products in the standard market. Thesgupts have historically produced stable lossltesnd include general
liability, commercial automobile, commercial propeand umbrella coverages. Our Standard Commelhtialness unit
currently markets its products through a networB2t independent agents primarily serving busiregsthe non-urban areas
of Texas, New Mexico, Oregon, Idaho, Montana, Wagtan, Utah, Wyoming, Arkansas and Hawaii.

Our E&S Commercial business unit primarily offecsranercial property/casualty insurance productiiénexcess and surplus
lines market. Excess and surplus lines insuranogiges coverage for difficult to place risks tluat not fit the underwriting
criteria of insurers operating in the standard raarkOur E&S Commercial business unit focuses oallstm medium-sized
commercial businesses and healthcare professith&lslo not meet the underwriting requirementstarfigard insurers due to
factors such as loss history, number of years Bin@ss, minimum premium size and types of busiopssation. Our E&S
Commercial business unit primarily writes geneiability, commercial automobile and commercial pedy. In addition, our
E&S Commercial business unit markets medical psifesl liability insurance on an excess and surfihes basis. Our E&S
Commercial business unit markets its products istafes through 12 wholesale brokers and 63 geageaicy offices, as well
as 439 independent retail agents in Texas and @rego



Our General Aviation business unit offers genendhtion property/casualty insurance primarily forivate and small
commercial aircraft and airports. The aircraft ilid@p and hull insurance products underwritten byr dGeneral Aviation
business unit are targeted to transitional or rtaneard pilots who may have difficulty obtainingiumance from a standard
carrier. Airport liability insurance is marketenl ¢maller, regional airports. Our General Aviatirsiness unit markets these
general aviation insurance products through 19&peddent specialty brokers in 47 states.

Our Excess & Umbrella business unit offers smadl ariddle market commercial umbrella and excesdliigbhnsurance on
both an admitted and non-admitted basis focusiriggsily on trucking, specialty automobile, and riteet automobile
coverage. Typical risks range from one power umiiéets of up to 200 power units. Our Excess & Wellha business unit
markets its products through 107 wholesale broikeadl 50 states.

Our Personal Lines business unit offers non-stahgersonal automobile policies, which generallyvite the minimum
limits of liability coverage mandated by state lendrivers who find it difficult to obtain insuraeadrom standard carriers due
to various factors including age, driving recoridims history or limited financial resources. @QR@rsonal Lines business unit
also provides personal products complementary test@ndard personal automobile such as low valwlithg/homeowners,
renters, motorcycle policies and business auto. Pemsonal Lines business unit markets these pslittieough 5,571
independent retail agents in 28 states.

Our insurance company subsidiaries are Americamdak Insurance Company of Texas (“AHIC”), Hallmalsurance
Company (“HIC"), Hallmark Specialty Insurance Compd“HSIC"), Hallmark County Mutual Insurance Conmya(*“HCM")
and Hallmark National Insurance Company (“HNIC").eWacquired HNIC from State Auto Financial Corpamation
December 31, 2010. Simultaneous with the closifighe acquisition, HNIC entered into reinsurancentcacts with an
affiliate of the seller, State Auto Property & Caky Insurance Company (“SAPCI”), pursuant to wh&APCl will handle all
claims and assume all liabilities arising underigie$ issued by HNIC prior to closing and a portadfrthe liabilities during a
transition period of up to six months following thiwsing. AHIC, HIC, and HSIC have entered intoamling arrangement,
pursuant to which AHIC retains 46.0% of the netnuitems written by any of them, HIC retains 34.1%tlué net premiums
written by any of them and HSIC retains 19.9% & tiet premiums written by any of them. A.M. Besinpany (“A.M.
Best"), a nationally recognized insurance industiyng service and publisher, has pooled its ratiogthese three insurance
company subsidiaries and assigned a financial gilnenating of “A-" (Excellent) and an issuer crediting of “a-” to each of
these individual insurance company subsidiariestartie pool formed by these three insurance cosnpahbsidiaries. Also,
A.M. Best has assigned a financial strength ratihtA—" (Excellent) and an issuer credit rating ‘@f” to each of HCM and
HNIC.

Our five business units are segregated into thepertable industry segments for financial accognginrposes. The Standard
Commercial Segment presently consists solely oftamdard Commercial business unit and the Per&eghent presently
consists solely of our Personal Lines business. ufihe Specialty Commercial Segment includes oulSE&ommercial
business unit, General Aviation business unit, Brdess & Umbrella business unit. The followingl¢abisplays the gross
premiums produced by these reportable segmentaffiiated and unaffiliated insurers for the yeansded December 31,
2010, 2009 and 2008, as well as the gross premiunitten and net premiums written by our insurangksidiaries for these
reportable segments for the same periods.



Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
(dollars in thousands)
Gross Premiums Produced (1):
Standard Commercial Segment....... $ 67,844 $ 72512 % 80,193
Specialty Commercial Segment (2)... 151,721 144,230 146,054
Personal Segment........................ 95,292 71,708 60,834
Totaloe oo $ 314,85 $ 288,45( $ 287,08:
Gross Premiums Written:
Standard Commercial Segment....... $ 67832 % 72,512 % 80,190
Specialty Commercial Segment (2)... 157,849 143,338 102,825
Personal Segment........................ 95,292 71,708 60,834
Total. .o $ 320,97¢ $ 287,55!¢ $ 243,84¢
Net Premiums Written:
Standard Commercial Segment....... $ 63572 % 68,082 $ 75,361
Specialty Commercial Segment (2)... 122,973 121,950 98,732
Personal Segment........................ 95,096 71,708 60,834
Totaloe oo $ 281,641 $ 261,740 $ 234,927

(1) Produced premium is a non-GAAP measuremenntiamagement uses to track total premium produgesliboperations. Produced premium excludes Uizéd
third party premium fronted on our HCM subsidiaiye believe this is a useful tool for users of fimancial statements to measure our premium praéatuethether
retained by our insurance company subsidiariessuraed by third party insurance carriers who pagomsmission revenue.

(2) The Excess & Umbrella business inuluded in the Specialty Commercial Segment wagiaed effective August 29, 2008.

Operational Structure

Our insurance company subsidiaries retain a powuibthe premiums produced by our business unitg fbflowing chart
reflects the operational structure of our orgamzatincluding the subsidiaries comprising our bess units and the business
units included in each reportable segment as oéBeer 31, 2010.

Hallmark Financial Services, Inc.
(“Hallmark”)

Standard Commercial Segment Personal Segment Specialty Commercial Segment

—

,—l

Standard Commercial Personal Lines E&S Commercial General Aviation Excess & Umbrella
L] American Hallmark L] American Hallmark L] TGA Insurance L] Aerospace Insurance
Insurance Services, Inc. General Agency Inc. Managers, Inc. (“TGA”)| Managers, Inc. "  Heath XS, LLC
(“American Hallmark (d/b/a Hallmark (“Aerospace Insurance (“HXS”)
Insurance Services”) Insurance Company) . TGA Special Risk, Inc. Managers”)
(“TGASRI”) . Hardscrabble Data
= Effective Claims = Hallmark Claims = Aerospace Special Risk, Solutions, LLC
Management, Inc. Services, Inc. (d/b/a - Pan American Inc. (“ASRI™) (“HDS™)
(“ECM™) Hallmark Insurance Acceptance Corporation
Company) (“PAAC”) . Aerospace Claims
Management Group,
Inc. (“ACMG”)
American Hallmark Insurance Hallmark National Hallmark Insurance Hallmark Specialty Hallmark County Mutual
Company of Texas Insurance Company Company Insurance Company Insurance Company
(“AHIC™) (“HNIC”) (“HIC”) (“HSIC”) (“HCM”)




Standard Commercial Segment / Standard Commercial 8siness Unit

The Standard Commercial Segment of our busineseptly consists solely of our Standard Commeraisir®ess unit. Our
Standard Commercial business unit markets, undiexsveind services standard commercial lines insargnienarily in the
non-urban areas of Texas, New Mexico, Idaho, Orgftontana, Washington, Utah, Wyoming, Arkansas Hatvaii. The
subsidiaries comprising our Standard Commercialnass unit include American Hallmark Insurance 8w, a regional
managing general agency, and ECM, a claims admatich company. American Hallmark Insurance Sawitargets
customers that are in low-severity classificatiomshe standard commercial market, which as a gtoaye relatively stable
loss results. The typical customer is a small-eglimm-sized business with a policy that covers eriyp general liability and
automobile exposures. Our Standard Commerciahbasiunit underwriting criteria exclude lines obimess and classes of
risks that are considered to be high-severity datile, or which involve significant latent injugyotential or other long-tailed
liability exposures. ECM administers the claimstlo@ insurance policies produced by American Halkniasurance Services.
Products offered by our Standard Commercial busineg include the following:

e Commercial automobileCommercial automobile insuranpeovides third-party bodily injury and property dage
coverage and first-party property damage coverggiat losses resulting from the ownership, maamtee or use
of automobiles and trucks in connection with auied’s business.

e General liability. General liability insurance provides coveragetford-party bodily injury and property damage
claims arising from accidents occurring on the iagis premises or from their general business dipeia

e Umbrella. Umbrella insurance provides coverage for thirdypdigbility claims where the loss amount exceeds
coverage limits provided by the insured’s undedygeneral liability and commercial automobile piaic

e Commercial propertyCommercial property insurance provides first-paxtyerage for the insured’s real property,
business personal property, and business inteorugsses caused by fire, wind, hail, water damapeft,
vandalism and other insured perils.

e Commercial multi-peril. Commercial multi-peril insurance provides a combora of property and liability
coverage that can include commercial automobile@ye on a single policy.

e Business owner'sBusiness owner’s insuranpeovides a package of coverage designed for stoafthedium-sized
businesses with homogeneous risk profiles. Coweermgludes general liability, commercial propertpda
commercial automobile.

Our Standard Commercial business unit marketsriipgrty/casualty insurance products through 32¢peddent agencies
operating in its target markets. Our Standard Ceraoral business unit applies a strict agent sergbrocess and seeks to
provide its independent agents some degree of aotractual geographic exclusivity. Our Standardn@ercial business
unit also strives to provide its independent ageuitis convenient access to product information padsonalized service. As
a result, the Standard Commercial Segment hasricstly maintained excellent relationships with fisoducing agents, as
evidenced by the 25-year average tenure of theg@Bcy groups that each produced more than $1.@mik premium during
the year ended December 31, 2010. During 2010tofnéen agency groups produced approximately 3#¥d,no individual
agency group produced more than 9%, of the tothprm volume of our Standard Commercial business un

Our Standard Commercial business unit writes me&sron a package basis using a commercial mulii-pelicy or a
business owner’s policy. Umbrella policies are tsntonly when our Standard Commercial business aled writes the
insured’s underlying general liability and commatcautomobile coverage. Through December 31, 2@@6, Standard
Commercial business unit marketed policies on HetfaClarendon National Insurance Company (“Cla@migl, a third-party
insurer. Our Standard Commercial business unitsearcommission based on a percentage of the epresdum it produced
for Clarendon. The commission percentage is deéteiby the underwriting results of the policiesguced. Our Standard
Commercial business unit presently markets all asd/renewal policies exclusively for AHIC.

All of the commercial policies written by our Staand Commercial business unit are for a term of datims. If the insured is
unable or unwilling to pay for the entire premiumaidvance, we provide an installment payment glahrequires the insured
to pay 20% or 25% down and the remaining paymevis eight months. We charge a flat $7.50 instafihiee per payment
for the installment payment plan.

Specialty Commercial Segment

The Specialty Commercial Segment of our businestudies our E&S Commercial business unit, our GénAkgation
business unit, and our Excess & Umbrella business During 2010, our E&S Commercial business wttounted for
approximately 67% of the aggregate premiums pradilgethe Specialty Commercial Segment, with ourdssc& Umbrella
business unit and General Aviation business uibaating for 18% and 15%, respectively.

E&S Commercial business unitOur E&S Commercial business unit markets, undiéesirfinances and services commercial
lines insurance in 24 states with a particular essgghon commercial automobile, general liabilityl mommercial property
risks produced on an excess and surplus lines.basisaddition, our E&S Commercial business unitrkess medical



professional liability insurance on an excess amglas lines basis. Excess and surplus lines insgrarovides coverage for
difficult to place risks that do not fit the undeitimg criteria of insurers operating in the starttianarket. The subsidiaries
comprising our E&S Commercial business unit incldd@A, which is a regional managing general age¢gASRI, and
PAAC, which provides premium financing for policiesarketed by TGA and certain unaffiliated generad aetail agents.
TGA accounts for approximately 98% of the premiustume financed by PAAC.

Our E&S Commercial business unit focuses on smoatidium-sized commercial businesses and healtpcafessionals that
do not meet the underwriting requirements of tiadél standard insurers due to issues such asisgsy, number of years in
business, minimum premium size and types of busioggration. During 2010, commercial automobild ganeral liability
approximated 70% and 26%, respectively, of the prams produced by our E&S Commercial business unérget risks for
commercial automobile insurance are small-to medéimad businesses with ten or fewer vehicles, wintude artisan
contractors, local light-to medium-service vehicéesl retail delivery vehicles. Target risks for gext liability insurance are
small business risk exposures including artisariractors, sales and service organizations, andlibgiland premises liability
exposures. Target risks for commercial propertyuiance are low-to mid-value structures includirffice buildings,
mercantile shops, restaurants and rental dwellimgsach case with aggregate property limits of ldsn $500,000. Target
risks for medical professional liability insuranege medical entities and healthcare professionatduding physicians,
surgeons and podiatrists. The commercial insurgmoducts offered by our E&S Commercial businesd urdlude the
following:

e Commercial automobileCommercial automobile insurance provides thirdypbadily injury and property damage
coverage and first-party property damage coverggiat losses resulting from the ownership, masnter or use
of automobiles and trucks in connection with amied’s business.

e General liability. General liability insurance provides coverage fard-party bodily injury and property damage
claims arising from accidents occurring on the iedis premises or from their general business dijpais

e Commercial propertyCommercial property insurangeovides first-party coverage for the insured’'d pgaperty,
business personal property, theft and businessruptiton losses caused by fire, wind, hail, watemdge,
vandalism and other insured perils. Windstorm, icarre and hail are generally excluded in coastdsar

e Medical professional liability. Medical professional liability insurance providesverage for third-party bodily
injury claims resulting from professional servigesvided by physicians, surgeons, podiatrists aadioal entities.

Our E&S Commercial business unit produces busiime2d states through 12 wholesale brokers andaanktof 63 general
agency offices, as well as 439 independent reggihts in Texas and Oregon. Our E&S Commerciainless unit strives to
simplify the placement of its excess and surplosdipolicies by providing prompt quotes and sigrataady applications to
its independent agents. During 2010, general agprdduced 79%, retail agents produced 19% and \salgebrokers
produced 2% of total premiums produced by our E&Sn@ercial business unit. During 2010, the top tenegal agents
produced approximately 38%, and no general agemdused more than 8%, of the total premium volumeowf E&S
Commercial business unit. During the same petiogl top ten retail agents produced approximately &3¢ no retail agent
produced more than 1%, of the total premium volafneur E&S Commercial business unit.

Through 2008, all business of our E&S Commerciaitess unit was produced under a fronting agreeméht member
companies of the Republic Group (“Republic”), whigfanted our E&S Commercial business unit the aitthto develop
underwriting programs, set rates, appoint retail ganeral agents, underwrite risks, issue poliaieb adjust and pay claims.
We assumed 70% of the risk under this arrangenme®®®8. In 2009, our E&S Commercial business wnite a portion of
its policies under a fronting arrangement with Rejgupursuant to which we assumed 100% of the riGkmmission revenue
was generated under the fronting agreement on a@hép of premiums not assumed by AHIC. An additibcommission
may be earned if certain loss ratio targets are @dtitional revenue was generated from fully edrmwlicy fees and
installment billing fees charged on the legacy peatlines products. During 2010, in states wihegavere not yet licensed to
offer a non-admitted medical professional liabilityoduct, we utilized a fronting arrangement witthad party pursuant to
which we assumed all of the risk and then retrodedportion of the risk to third party reinsurers.

The majority of the commercial policies written loyr E&S Commercial business unit are for a termlaf months.
Exceptions include a few commercial automobile gie§ that are written for a term that coincideshwite annual harvest of
crops and special event general liability polidiest are written for the term of the event, whistgenerally one to two days.
Commercial lines policies are paid in full up framtfinanced with various premium finance compapniesiuding PAAC.

General Aviation business unit. Our General Aviation business unit markets, uwdézs and services general aviation
property/casualty insurance in 47 states. Theidigbes comprising our General Aviation busines# include Aerospace
Insurance Managers, which markets standard aviatawerages, ASRI, which markets excess and suilpias aviation
coverages, and ACMG, which handles claims managem@erospace Insurance Managers is one of onlgva dimilar
entities in the U.S. and has focused on develogingll-defined niche centering on transitional {sj@lder aircraft and small
airports and aviation-related businesses. Prodiffsteed by our General Aviation business unitudg the following:



e Aircraft. Aircraft insurance provides third-party bodily imuand property damage coverage and first-party hul
damage coverage against losses resulting fromwhership, maintenance or use of aircraft.

e Airport liability. Airport liability insurance provides coverage fdvirtd-party bodily injury and property damage
claims arising from accidents occurring on airgmemises or from their operations.

Our General Aviation business unit generates isinass through 197 aviation specialty brokers. s&hgpecialty brokers
submit to Aerospace Insurance Managers requestaviation insurance quotations received from tlaest in which we
operate and our General Aviation business unicieldy determines the risks fitting its targetmécfor which it will prepare a
quote. During 2010, the top ten independent sfigdimokers produced approximately 30%, and no ergkoduced more
than 6% of the total premium volume of our Genénaghtion business unit.

Our General Aviation business unit independentlyetlips, underwrites and prices each coverage writé&/e target pilots
who may lack experience in the type of aircraftytheve acquired or are transitioning between tygfeaircraft. We also
target pilots who may be over the age limits ofeotimsurers. We do not accept aircraft that aszl dsr hazardous purposes
such as crop dusting or heli-skiing. Liability lis1are controlled, with approximately 90% of theceaft written in 2010
bearing per-occurrence limits of $1,000,000 andpassenger limits of $100,000 or less. The avemagared aircraft hull
value for aircraft written in 2010 was approximgt$lL61,800. All general aviation policies produdsdour General Aviation
business unit are written through our insurancepaimy subsidiaries.

Excess & Umbrella business unitOur Excess & Umbrella business unit markets, undagsvand services small and middle
market commercial umbrella and excess liabilityunasice on both an admitted and non-admitted basifi b0 states. Limits
of liability offered are from $1,000,000 to $5,0000 in coverage in excess of the primary carrién'éts of liability. The
principal focus of the Excess & Umbrella businesg is transportation, specifically trucking forrdj specialty automobile
and non-fleet automobile coverage. The Excess &téita business unit also provides umbrella anggexdiability coverage
for small to midsize businesses in class categstiek as contracting, manufacturing, hospitality service.

The majority of insurance policies written by ourcEss & Umbrella business unit are on an annuaisb&owever,
exceptions are common in an attempt to have pdaftgctive dates coincide with those of the primargurance policies.
Policy premiums are due in full 30 days from theeiption date of the policy.

Our Excess & Umbrella business unit markets itslpets through 107 wholesale brokers covering akta@es. During 2010,
the top ten wholesale brokers accounted for 54%unfExcess & Umbrella business unit premium volumigh no single
wholesale broker accounting for more than 17%. im@u2010, commercial excess liability risks acceanfor 96% of the
premiums produced by our Excess & Umbrella busineds with the remaining 4% coming from commeraiatbrella risks.
The commercial insurance products offered by owekEg & Umbrella business unit include the following

 Commercial excess liability risks Liability insurance designed to provide an extger of protection for bodily
injury, personal and advertising injury, or propedtimage losses above the primary layer of comadesickomobile,
general liability and employers liability insuranc&€he excess insurance does not begin until thigsliof liability in
the primary layer have been exhausted. The exages provides not only higher limits, but cataptiiz protection
from large losses.

 Commercial umbrella risks. Liability insurance protecting businesses for hodinjury, personal and advertising
injury, or property damage claims in excess ofliinés of their primary commercial automobile, gesldiability and
employers liability policies, and for some claimsckeided by their primary policies (subject to a wetible).
Umbrella liability provides not only higher limitbut catastrophic protection for large losses.

Through June 30, 2009, our Excess & Umbrella bssinmit wrote policies under a fronting arrangemwittt a third party
pursuant to which we assumed 35% of the risk. BffecJuly 1, 2009, in states where we are admiteesl directly insure
policies written by our Excess & Umbrella businesst and reinsure a portion of the risk with thpdrty carriers. In states
where we are not admitted, our Excess & Umbrellsiress unit writes policies under a fronting areangnt pursuant to
which we assume all of the risk and then retrocegmrtion of the risk to third party reinsurers.e\Wresently reinsure or
retrocede 80% of the risk on policies written by Bucess & Umbrella business unit.

Personal Segment / Personal Lines Business Unit

The Personal Segment of our business presentlyistersolely of our Personal Lines business unitur ®ersonal Lines
business unit markets and services non-standastmedrautomobile policies and low value dwellingftemwners, renters and
motorcycle coverage in 28 states. We conduct Ihisiness under the name Hallmark Insurance Compidaifmark

Insurance Company provides management, policy &ichg administration services to HIC and includes bperations of
American Hallmark General Agency, Inc. and Hallm&tkims Services, Inc. Our non-standard persortanaabile insurance
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generally provides for the minimum limits of lialbjyl coverage mandated by state laws to drivers Vit it difficult to
purchase automobile insurance from standard cardera result of various factors, including driviegord, vehicle, age,
claims history, or limited financial resources.o@ucts offered by our Personal Lines businessinciiide the following:

e Personal automobilePersonal automobile insurance is the primary prodffered by our Personal Lines business
unit. Our policies typically provide coverage talividuals for bodily injury and property damagetta minimum
limits required by law, and for physical damagetoinsured’s own vehicle from collision and variaiker perils.

In addition, many states require policies to previor first party personal injury protection, freqily referred to as
no-fault coverage.

e Low value dwelling/homeownersLow value dwelling/homeowners insurance providegecage against insured’s
property being destroyed or damaged by variousspand coverage for liability exposuséthe insured.

e Renters. Renters insurance provides coverage for the caeha renter's home or apartment and for liahility
Renter’s policies are similar to homeowners insceaexcept they do not cover the structure.

e Motorcycle. Motorcycle insurance provides coverage similarhi® personal automobile products. A motorcycle
policy is generally utilized for vehicles that dotmualify for a personal automobile policy becatisy have fewer
than four wheels. Passenger liability may be idetl or excluded depending on customer choice arlatgy
requirements.

e Business auto.Business auto insurance provides coverage to lmssador liability to others for bodily injury and
property damage and for physical damage to vehictaa collision and various other perils. The Imgsis auto
coverage is offered by the Personal Lines busineigsas an alternative to a personal automobil&cpohted with
business use for one or more vehicles includedhemoblicy.

Our Personal Lines business unit markets its nandstrd personal automobile, motorcycle, business and property
policies through 5,571 independent agents operaiirits target geographic markets. Non-standatdraabile represented
88% of the premiums produced during 2010. Subfecettain criteria, our Personal Lines businesssegks to maximize the
number of agents appointed in each geographic iareader to more effectively penetrate its highlynpetitive markets.
However, our Personal Lines business unit peridigievaluates its independent agents and discoediribe appointment of
agents whose production history does not satisfaice standards. During 2010, the top ten independgency groups
produced approximately 12%, and no individual agegroup produced more than 2%, of the total premiuahume of our

Personal Lines business unit.

During 2010, personal automobile liability coveragecounted for approximately 85% and personal aobde physical

damage coverage accounted for the remaining 15&teofotal non-standard automobile premiums prodimedur Personal
Lines business unit. American Hallmark General i@e Inc. currently offers one-, two-, three-, se@d twelve-month
policies. Our typical non-standard personal aatioite customer is unable or unwilling to pay a follhalf year premium in
advance. Accordingly, we currently offer a diredt program where the premiums are directly bilkedthe insured on a
monthly basis. We charge installment fees for ggghment under the direct bill program.

Our Personal Lines business unit markets non-stdmrsonal automobile, low value/dwelling homeokgheenters, business
auto and motorcycle policies in 28 states direfilyHIC and AHIC. In Texas, our Personal Linesibass unit markets its
policies both through reinsurance arrangements withffiliated companies and directly for HIC, AHIGnd HCM. We
provide non-standard personal automobile coverageekas through a reinsurance arrangement withAdiérican County
Mutual Fire Insurance Company (“OACM”) pursuantwihich American Hallmark General Agency, Inc. holdsnanaging
general agency appointment from OACM to managestie and servicing of OACM policies. HIC reinsulé% of the
OACM policies produced by American Hallmark Genefglency, Inc. under these reinsurance arrangemebtsing the
third quarter of 2009, HCM began fronting busingssviously written through OACM.

Our Competitive Strengths
We believe that we enjoy the following competitsteengths:

e Specialized market knowledge and underwriting exjse. All of our business units possess extensive
knowledge of the specialty and niche markets incvlthey operate, which we believe allows them featifvely
structure and market their property/casualty inscegoroducts. Our Personal Lines business uniaiibsrough
understanding of the unique characteristics of nba-standard personal automobile market. Our Stdnda
Commercial business unit has significant underagitexperience in its target markets for standardroercial
property/casualty insurance products. In additaur,E&S Commercial business unit, General Aviatioisiness
unit, and Excess & Umbrella business unit have ldgesl specialized underwriting expertise, which ardes
their ability to profitably underwrite non-standgstbperty/casualty insurance coverages.

» Tailored market strategie€ach of our business units has developed its awtomized strategy for penetrating
the specialty or niche markets in which it operaté&hese strategies include distinctive produacstiring,



marketing, distribution, underwriting and serviciagproaches by each business unit. As a resularavable to
structure our property/casualty insurance prodtatserve the unique risk and coverage needs ofnsureds.
We believe these market-specific strategies enabl® provide policies tailored to the target cowo that are
appropriately priced and fit our risk profile.

» Superior agent and customer servicé/e believe performing the underwriting, billingystomer service and
claims management functions at the business uwél lallows us to provide superior service to botlr o
independent agents and insured customers. Theteasg interfaces and responsiveness of our asineits
enhance their relationships with the independeahtsywho sell our policies. We also believe oursistency in
offering our insurance products through hard anil sarkets helps to build and maintain the loyaifyour
independent agents. Our customized products, flexiyment plans and prompt claims processingiardasly
beneficial to our insureds.

« Market diversification. We believe operating in various specialty anch@eisegments of the property/casualty
insurance market diversifies both our revenues aundrisks. We also believe our business units gaiye
operate on different market cycles, producing ne@aeings stability than if we focused entirely aregroduct.
As a result of the pooling arrangement among thoeur insurance company subsidiaries, we are #ble
efficiently allocate our capital among these vasigpecialty and niche markets in response to madkitions
and expansion opportunities. We believe this ntadkeersification reduces our risk profile and ent@s our
profitability.

* Experienced management tean®ur senior corporate management has an averageepP06 years of insurance
experience. In addition, our business units hdakeng management teams, with an average of more 208a
years of insurance industry experience for the si@hdur business units and an average of morelthamars of
underwriting experience for our underwriters. Qunanagement has significant experience in all aspeftt
property/casualty insurance, including underwritimgaims management, actuarial analysis, reinseraamd
regulatory compliance. In addition, Hallmark’s menmanagement has a strong track record of acwquiri
businesses that expand our product offerings apdowe our profitability profile.

Our Strategy

We are striving to become a “Best in Class” spégiaisurance company offering products in specialtyl niche markets
through the following strategies:

» Focusing on underwriting discipline and operationaéfficiency. We seek to consistently generate an
underwriting profit on the business we write indand soft markets. Our business units have agtiack
record of underwriting discipline and operationtiiciency, which we seek to continue. We belieliattin soft
markets our competitors often offer policies atow lor negative underwriting profit in order to maiim or
increase their premium volume and market sharecohtrast, we seek to write business based omadfggbility
rather than focusing solely on premium productidra that end, we provide financial incentives tonmaf our
underwriters and independent agents based on untegvprofitability.

» Achieving organic growth in our existing businesgés. We believe we can achieve organic growth in our
existing business lines by consistently providingr insurance products through market cycles, expand
geographically, expanding our product offeringgpanding our agency relationships and further patiag our
existing customer base. We believe our extensiagket knowledge and strong agency relationshipgiposis
to compete effectively in our various specialty amidhe markets. We also believe there is a sicpuifi
opportunity to expand some of our existing busire®ss into new geographical areas and through agency
relationships while maintaining our underwritingscipline and operational efficiency. In additiove believe
there is an opportunity for some of our businesissuo further penetrate their existing customesdsawith
additional products offered by other business units

e Pursuing selected, opportunistic acquisitiondVe seek to opportunistically acquire insuranagmaoizations that
operate in specialty or niche property/casualtyuiasce markets that are complementary to our agisti
operations. We seek to acquire companies with respeed management teams, stable loss resultsteordys
track records of underwriting profitability and epgonal efficiency. Where appropriate, we inteadiltimately
retain profitable business produced by the acquimdpanies that would otherwise be retained byfiliadéd
insurers. Our management has significant experiéncevaluating potential acquisition targets, studog
transactions to ensure continued success and atiregacquired companies into our operational stirec

e Maintaining a strong balance sheetWe seek to maintain a strong balance sheet by gingl@onservative
investment, reinsurance and reserving practicest@mdeasure our performance based on long-termtgrow
book value per share.
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Distribution

We market our property/casualty insurance prodsotsly through independent general agents, retghts and specialty
brokers. Therefore, our relationships with indefesrt agents and brokers are critical to our abtbtydentify, attract and
retain profitable business. Each of our businests tnas developed its own tailored approach tabdishing and maintaining
its relationships with these independent distribaitaf our products. These strategies focus onigirmy excellent service to
our agents and brokers, maintaining a consisteggemce in our target niche and specialty marketsugiin hard and soft
market cycles and fairly compensating the agents laokers who market our products. Our businests whso regularly
evaluate independent general and retail agentsll@sehe underwriting profitability of the businedey produce and their
performance in relation to our objectives.

Except for the products of our General Aviationibhass unit and our Excess & Umbrella business timé,distribution of
property/casualty insurance products by our busisegments is geographically concentrated. Fotwbb/e months ended
December 31, 2010, five states accounted for ajpaigly 67% of the gross premiums retained by asuiance company
subsidiaries. The following table reflects the graphic distribution of our insured risks, as reerged by direct and assumed
premiums written by our business segments forwledve months ended December 31, 2010.

Direct and Assumed Premiums Written

Standard Specialty
Commercial  Commercial Personal Percent of
State Segment Segment Segment Total Total

(dollars in thousands)

Texas $ 24989 $ 95299 $ 22,722 $ 143,010 44.6%
Florida - 3,494 16,136 19,630 6.1%
New Mexico 9,267 701 7,973 17,941 5.6%
Oregon 15,024 891 1,481 17,396 5.4%
Louisiana - 14,787 1,185 15,972 5.0%
All other states 18,552 42,677 45,795 107,024 33.3%
Total gross premiums written..... $ 67,83 $ 157,84 $ 95,29: $ 320,97:

Percentof total........................ 21.1% 49.2% 29.7% 100.0%

Underwriting

The underwriting process employed by our businests involves securing an adequate level of undéngrinformation,
identifying and evaluating risk exposures and thaaing the risks we choose to accept. Each oftmsiness units offering
commercial, healthcare professionals or aviatiGuiance products employs its own underwriters witepth knowledge of
the specific niche and specialty markets targetethht business unit. We employ a disciplined undiéing approach that
seeks to provide policies appropriately tailoredht® specified risks and to adopt price structtines will be supported in the
applicable market. Our experienced commercial, theale professional and aviation underwriters haleyeloped
underwriting principles and processes appropriathé coverages offered by their respective businags.

We believe that managing the underwriting prochssugh our business units capitalizes on the kndgdeand expertise of
their personnel in specific markets and resultisatier underwriting decisions. All of our undeners have established limits
of underwriting authority based on their level aperience. We also provide financial incentivesnany of our underwriters
based on underwriting profitability.

To better diversify our revenue sources and mamagerisk, we seek to maintain an appropriate bssimaix among our
business units. At the beginning of each year, staldish a target net loss ratio for each busineds We then monitor the
actual net loss ratio on a monthly basis. If amg lof business fails to meet its target net lotis,rave seek input from our
underwriting, actuarial and claims management persbto develop a corrective action plan. Depemdin the particular
circumstances, that plan may involve tighteningamaditing guidelines, increasing rates, modifyingguct structure, re-
evaluating independent agency relationships owodistuing unprofitable coverages or classes of risk

An insurance company'’s underwriting performanceaslitionally measured by its statutory loss arskladjustment expense
ratio, its statutory expense ratio and its stajutmmbined ratio. The statutory loss and lossstdjant expense ratio, which is
calculated as the ratio of net losses and losssad@nt expenses (“LAE”) incurred to net premiumshed, helps to assess the
adequacy of the insurer’s rates, the proprietysotinderwriting guidelines and the performanceotiaims department. The
statutory expense ratio, which is calculated agdkie of underwriting and operating expenses topnemiums written, assists
in measuring the insurer’s cost of processing aadaging the business. The statutory combined, natiech is the sum of the
statutory loss and LAE ratio and the statutory esgeratio, is indicative of the overall profitabiliof an insurer's
underwriting activities, with a combined ratio ek than 100% indicating profitable underwritingulés.
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The following table shows, for the periods indichté) our gross premiums written (in thousandsyd &i) our underwriting
results as measured by the net statutory loss AfRdratio, the statutory expense ratio, and theutay combined ratio.

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Gross premiums written $ 320,973 $ 287,558 $ 243,849
Statutory loss & LAE ratio 75.0% 63.6% 63.4%
Statutory expense ratio 33.3% 32.2% 30.9%
Statutory combined ratio 108.3% 95.8% 94.3%

These statutory ratios do not reflect the defesfglolicy acquisition costs, investment income,mpitgm finance revenues, or
the elimination of inter-company transactions reggiiby U.S. generally accepted accounting prinsipl&AAP”).

The premium-to-surplus percentage measures thgorehip between net premiums written in a givemiqek (premiums

written, less returned premiums and reinsurancesctetd other carriers) to policyholders surplus (dihth assets less
liabilities), determined on the basis of statut@gcounting practices prescribed or permitted byrensce regulatory
authorities. State insurance department regulabgrect insurance companies to maintain a premiusutplus percentage of
not more than 300%. For the years ended Decenhe?®.0, 2009 and 2008, our consolidated premiusutplus ratios

were 154%, 150% and 170%, respectively.

Claims Management and Administration

We believe that effective claims management idcalfitto our success and that our claims managemetess is cost-
effective, delivers the appropriate level of claisexvice and produces superior claims results. €aims management
philosophy emphasizes the delivery of courteousmpt and effective claims handling and embracepomsiveness to
policyholders and agents. Our claims strategy $esuon thorough investigation, timely evaluation &air settlement of
covered claims while consistently maintaining ajpiate case reserves. We seek to compress the tiyode of claim
resolution in order to control both loss and cladiandling cost. We also strive to control legal enges by negotiating
competitive rates with defense counsel and vendstaplishing litigation budgets and monitoringadives.

Each of our business units maintains its own deelitataff of specialized claims personnel to marage administer claims
arising under policies produced through their respe operations. The claims process is managedigih a combination of
experienced claims managers, seasoned claims sgrsivtrained staff adjusters and independentsadgent or appraisal
services, when appropriate. All adjusters are Beenin those jurisdictions for which they handkgimis that require licensing.
Limits on settlement authority are establishedefach claims supervisor and staff adjuster basettheinlevel of experience.
Independent adjusters have no claim settlemenbétith Claim exposures are periodically and systécally reviewed by

claim supervisors and managers as a method oftg@ald loss control. Large loss exposures arevead at least quarterly
with senior management of the business unit andtored by Hallmark senior management.

Claims personnel receive in-house training and-egeired to attend various continuing educatiornrsesi pertaining to topics
such as best practices, fraud awareness, legaloement, legislative changes and litigation manag@mDepending on the
criteria of each business unit, our claims adjsstee assigned a variety of claims to enhance kineiwledge and ensure their
continued development in efficiently handling claimi\s of December 31, 2010, our business unitsahtrdal of 67 claims
managers, supervisors and adjusters with an avesgience of approximately 15 years.

Analysis of Losses and LAE

Our consolidated financial statements include amesed reserve for unpaid losses and LAE. Wared# our reserve for
unpaid losses and LAE by using case-basis evahsatod statistical projections, which include iefezes from both losses
paid and losses incurred. We also use recentritistaost data and periodic reviews of underwgtstandards and claims
management practices to modify the statisticalgmtipns. We give consideration to the impact @&tion in determining our

loss reserves, but do not discount reserve balances

The amount of reserves represents our estimateeafltimate cost of all unpaid losses and LAE inedr These estimates are
subject to the effect of trends in claim severityl drequency. We regularly review the estimates asjdst them as claims
experience develops and new information becomesviknoSuch adjustments are included in current djpers, including
increases and decreases, net of reinsurance, @stimeate of ultimate liabilities for insured ev&of prior years.

Changes in loss development patterns and claim gatmtan significantly affect the ability of insts¢o estimate reserves for

unpaid losses and related expenses. We seek tmwally improve our loss estimation process byiniafy our ability to
analyze loss development patterns, claim paymemisather information within a legal and regulat@gvironment that
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affects development of ultimate liabilities. Futurbanges in estimates of claim costs may advera#éct future period
operating results. However, such effects cannaebhsonably estimated currently.

Reconciliation of reserve for unpaid losses and LAE he following table provides a reconciliation afr beginning and
ending reserve balances on a net-of-reinsurands toaghe years ended December 31, 2010, 2002668, to the gross-of-
reinsurance amounts reported in our balance she@&scember 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.

As of and for Year Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008
(dollars in thousands)

Reserve for unpaid losses and LAE, net of

reinsurance recoverables, January 1 ............... $176,250 $150,025 $120,849
Provision for losses and LAE for claims occurring

in the current period ..........cccoooiiiieeccee e 193,354 151,999 146,059
Increase (decrease) in reserve for unpaid losses 9,190 1,620 (1,815)

and LAE for claims occurring in prior periods

Payments for losses and LAE, net of reinsurance:

Current period (91,424) (62,584) (64,610)

Prior periods (73,647) (64,810) (50,458)
Reserve for unpaid losses and LAE at December

31, net of reinsurance recoverable ............... 213,723 176,250 150,025
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses and

LAE at December 31 ......cccccvviveeeiniienennne 37,954 8,412 6,338
Reserve for unpaid losses and LAE at December

31, gross of reinsurance ..........c.ccccceeeeenne $251,677 $184,662 $156,363

The $9.2 million and $1.6 million unfavorable dey@inent and $1.8 million favorable development ipaccident years
recognized in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectivepresent normal changes in our loss reserve essmat@010 and 2009, the
aggregate loss reserve estimates for prior years wereased to reflect unfavorable loss developrmdren the available
information indicated a reasonable likelihood tthet ultimate losses would be more than the prevastisnates. In 2008, the
aggregate loss reserve estimates for prior yeare wecreased to reflect favorable loss developmdrman the available
information indicated a reasonable likelihood ttie ultimate losses would be less than the prevastisnates. Generally,
changes in reserves are caused by variations betaeeal experience and previous expectations gmdduced emphasis on
the Bornhuetter-Ferguson method due to the agirtheoficcident years. (See “ltem 7. ManagemenssuRision and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operatior@ritical Accounting Estimates and Judgments - Resefor unpaid losses
and loss adjustment expenses.”)

The $9.2 million increase in reserves for unpaidsés and LAE recognized in 2010 was attributable&5at million
unfavorable development on claims incurred in tB@2 accident year, $0.6 million unfavorable devaiept on claims
incurred in the 2008 accident year and $3.2 milliofavorable development on claims incurred in2867 and prior accident
years. Our Standard Commercial business unit, E&8&mercial business unit, Excess and Umbrella lessirunit and
Personal Lines business unit accounted for $4.6omjl$1.6 million, $0.1 million and $3.1 millionféhe increase in reserves
recognized during 2010, partially offset by a $tlion decrease in reserves for our General Agiatbusiness unit. The
increase in reserves for our Standard Commercisihbas unit was largely driven by unfavorable ctamfevelopment in the
2009 accident year due to late developing largpenty claims, including weather related claims.rtiker contributing to the
increase in reserves for our Standard Commercisinbas unit was unfavorable claims developmenh@2007 and prior
accident years driven by large loss developmergraperty claims coupled with modest increases imega liability. The
increase in reserves for our E&S Commercial busingst was primarily the result of unfavorable depenent due to modest
increases in 2008 hurricane claims and strengtiyeinirgeneral liability case reserves in the 200d@ prior accident years.
The increase in reserves for our Personal Linesess unit was primarily the result of unfavoratii@@ms development in the
2009 and 2008 accident years mostly due to geograpipansion and the settlement of bad faith claimos the 2002 and
2001 accident years.

The $1.6 million increase in reserves for unpaidsés and LAE recognized in 2009 was attributabl&2d million

unfavorable development on claims incurred in th@&accident year, $0.7 million favorable developtman claims incurred
in the 2007 accident year and $0.3 million unfabtealevelopment on claims incurred in the 2006 o accident years.
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Our E&S Commercial business unit and General Avrathusiness unit accounted for $4.1 million and3$@illion of the
increase in reserves recognized during 2009, figroéset by a $1.8 million and $1.0 million deese in reserves for our
Standard Commercial business unit and PersonakLlinsiness unit. The increase in reserves forE®&8 Commercial
business unit was largely driven by the developneena small number of commercial auto liabilityisia in which later
reporting of medical information resulted in incsed case reserves on claims with similar fact pedteThe decrease in
reserves for our Standard Commercial businesswanit primarily the result of favorable claims deyetent in the 2006
through 2008 accident years with respect to gen@ahility, partially offset by a commercial packadiability claim in
accident year 2009:he decrease in reserves for our Personal Lineésdrssunit was primarily the result of favorablails
development in accident years 2007 and 2008 asaweillloss recovery from the 2002 accident year.

The $1.8 million decrease in reserves for unpasdds and LAE recognized in 2008 was attributabf&0t@ million favorable
development on claims incurred in the 2007 accigeat, $0.9 million favorable development on clainsurred in the 2006
accident year and $0.2 million favorable developnmnclaims incurred in the 2005 and prior accidgdrs. Our Standard
Commercial business unit and Personal Lines busineg accounted for $2.4 million and $0.7 milliaespectively, of the
decrease in reserves recognized in 2008, partéibet by a $1.5 million increase in reserves inB&S Commercial business
unit. The decrease in reserves for our Standanthn@&rcial business unit was primarily the resultfaforable claims
development in the 2007 accident year with resfrethe commercial automobile physical damage amdneercial property
lines of business, offset somewhat by unfavoraleieetbpment in accident year 2005 with respect tmroercial package
liability coverage. The decrease in reserves forRersonal Lines business unit was primarily gt of favorable claims
development in accident year 2006. The increaseserves for our E&S Commercial business unit pvasarily the result of
unfavorable claims development in accident year8628nd 2007 attributable to a small number of lartipan normal
commercial automobile liability claims, partiallyffeet by favorable claims development on the gdnkahility line of
business in accident years 2005 through 2007.

Analysis of loss and LAE reserve developmerithe following table shows the development of owsslaeserves, net of
reinsurance, for years ended December 31, 2000dghra010. Section A of the table shows the es@théability for unpaid
losses and LAE, net of reinsurance, recorded ab#ifence sheet date for each of the indicated yeEnss liability represents
the estimated amount of losses and LAE for clainsirg in prior years that are unpaid at the batasiceet date, including
losses that have been incurred but not yet repddeds. Section B of the table shows the re-eséthamount of the
previously recorded liability, based on experieraseof the end of each succeeding year. The estimaincreased or
decreased as more information becomes known abheditéquency and severity of claims.

Cumulative Redundancy/Deficiency (Section C of thiele) represents the aggregate change in theassnover all prior

years. Thus, changes in ultimate development astignare included in operations over a number afsyaminimizing the
significance of such changes in any one year.
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A. Reserve for unpaid loss & LAE,
net of reinsurance recoverables

B. Net reserve re-estimated as of:
One year later
Two years later
Three years later
Four years later
Five years later
Six years later
Seven years later
Eight years later
Nine years later
Ten years later

C. Net cumulative
redundancy (deficiency)

D. Cumulative amount of claims
paid, net of reserve recoveries
through:

One year later

Two years later

Three years later

Four years later

Five years later

Six years later

Seven years later

Eight years later

Nine years later

Ten years later

Net reserve-December 31
Reinsurance recoverables
Gross reserve-December 31

Net re-estimated reserve

Re-estimated reinsurance recoverable

Gross re-estimated reserve

Gross cumulative redundancy (deficiency)

Reinsurance

ANALYSIS OF LOSS AND LAE DEVELOPMENT

As of and for Year Ended December 31

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
(dollars in thousands)
$ 7T4H 79198 8411$21197$ 17700 $ 25997 $ 72801 $ 1208498 150,025 $ 176,250 § 213,723
7974 8,096 8875 20,003 15300 24,820 66387 119,034 151,645 185440
7,863 8,620 8881 19,065 15473 24903 68490 118646 155155
7,173 8,856 8508 19698 13962 23144 68809 120,444
7,901 8,860 8446 18551 14166 23455 69,847
7,997 8,855 8478 18,769 13163 24425
7,999 8,884 8461 17,784 17,857
8,026 8,669 7,949 18521
8,014 8,855 7,950
8,007 8,855
8,007
(556)  (936) 461 2,676 (157) 1572 2,954 405 (5,130) (9,190)
5317 5,601 5845 12,217 8,073 16,721 30,061 50,458 64,810 73,647
7,070 7,905 7663 15814 12,004 22990 46,860 78,314 95,385
7,584 8,603 8228 18162 13113 24562 58322 93,286
7,810 8,798 8374 17997 13750 9,014 65,084
7,960 8,821 8417 18415 13102 28833
7970 8,853 8439 17,735 17,498
7,995 8,869 7,949 18,083
8,014 8,855 7,950
8,007 8,855
8,007
7451 7,919 8411 21,197 17,700 25997 72,801 120,849 150,025 176,250 213,723
14,847 12,170 9256 7,259 1,948 324 4,763 4,489 6,338 8412 37,954
22298 20,089 17667 28456 19,648 26321 77,564 125338 156,363 184,662 251,677
8,007 8,855 7950 18521 17857 24425 69847 120444 155155 185440
12,334 12,326 10,439 4,990 1,621 1,838 7,259 8,870 7,228 7,723
20341 21,181 18389 23511 19478 26263 77,106 129314 162,383 193163
$ 19% (1,092 (722)$ 49458 170 § 58 § 458 (3976)% (60208  (8,501)

We reinsure a portion of the risk we underwrit@ider to control our exposure to losses and tceptatur capital resources.
We cede to reinsurers a portion of these riskspaydpremiums based upon the risk and exposureegbdlicies subject to
such reinsurance. Ceded reinsurance involvestcrisliand is generally subject to aggregate los#td. Although the
reinsurer is liable to us to the extent of the samance ceded, we are ultimately liable as thectiresurer on all risks
reinsured. Reinsurance recoverables are repofted alowances for uncollectible amounts. We nonthe financial
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condition of reinsurers on an ongoing basis anéevewur reinsurance arrangements periodically. nRaiers are selected
based on their financial condition, business pcastiand the price of their product offerings. @insurance facilities are
subject to annual renewal. In order to mitigateddrrisk to reinsurance companies, most of ounstugiance recoverable
balance as of December 31, 2010 is with reinsuhatshave an A.M. Best rating of “A-" or better.

The following table presents our gross and net prers written and earned and reinsurance recovésiesach of the last
three years.

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Gross premiums written $ 320,973 $ 287,558 k. Yeolie)
Ceded premiums written (39,332) (25,818) (8,922)

Net premiums written $281,641 $261,740 $234,927
Gross premiums earned $ 314,743 $ 269,474 $ 244,656
Ceded premiums earned (36,472) (18,402) (8,336)

Net premiums earned $ 278,271 $ 251,072 6528
Reinsurance recoveries $ 22,172 $ 8,975 $ 11,994

We currently reinsure the following exposures osibeiss generated by our business units:

» Property catastropheOur property catastrophe reinsurance reducefirthecial impact a catastrophe could have on
our commercial and personal property insurancelin@atastrophes might include multiple claims palicyholders.
Catastrophes include hurricanes, windstorms, eaatkes, hailstorms, explosions, severe winter weahd fires.
Our property catastrophe reinsurance is excessssfileinsurance, which provides us reinsuranceragedor losses
in excess of an agreed-upon amount. We utilizastettphe models to assist in determining appraprigtention and
limits to purchase. The terms of our property s@tphe reinsurance are:

0 We retain the first $3.0 million of property catagthe losses; and

0 Our reinsurers reimburse us 100% for any loss aegex of our $3.0 million retention up to $30.0 ioiil for
each catastrophic occurrence, subject to an aggrégat of $54.0 million.

* Commercial property Our commercial property reinsurance is excedssd coverage intended to reduce the
financial impact a single-event or catastrophislosy have on our results. The terms of our cormiadeproperty
reinsurance are:

0 We retain the first $1.0 million of loss for eaatnemercial property risk;

o Our reinsurers reimburse us for the next $5.0 omillior each commercial property risk, and $10.0iomil
for all commercial property risk involved in anyenccurrence, in all cases subject to an aggréigaiteof
$30.0 million for all commercial property lossesoring during the treaty period; and

o Individual risk facultative reinsurance is purchéisen any commercial property with limits above $6.0
million.

e« Commercial casualty Our commercial casualty reinsurance is excedessf coverage intended to reduce the
financial impact a single-event loss may have anresults. The terms of our commercial casualitysigance are:

0 We retain the first $1.0 million of any commerdiability risk; and
o Our reinsurers reimburse us for the next $5.0 amlfior each commercial liability risk.

* Aviation. We purchase reinsurance specific to the aviaigks underwritten by our General Aviation busmesit.
This reinsurance provides aircraft hull and liapitoverage and airport liability coverage on a peturrence basis
on the following terms:

0 We retain the first $1.0 million of each aircraft/hor liability loss or airport liability loss; ah

o Our reinsurers reimburse us for the next $5.5 onilbf each combined aircraft hull and liability $osnd for
the next $4.0 million of each airport liability ks
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» Excess & Umbrella Currently, we purchase proportional reinsuranbere we retain 20% of each risk and cede the
remaining 80% to reinsurers. In states where wenat yet licensed to offer a non-admitted produt, utilize a
fronting arrangement pursuant to which we assumefahe risk and then retrocede a portion of thsit under the
same proportional reinsurance treaty. Through Bie?009, our Excess & Umbrella business unit evqmblicies
pursuant to a general agency agreement with afiliatafl carrier and we assumed 35% of the riskfithat carrier.

» E&S Commercial Currently, we purchase proportional reinsurameceur medical professional liability risks where
we retain 40% of each risk and cede the remain@®g & reinsurers. In states where we are notigehsed to offer
a non-admitted product, we utilize a fronting agament pursuant to which we assume all of the ais#t then
retrocede a portion of that risk under the sameqmttonal reinsurance treaty.

e Hallmark County Mutual HCM is used to front certain lines of businas®ur Specialty Commercial and Personal
Segments in Texas where we previously producectipslifor third party county mutual insurance conigsrand
reinsured 100% for a fronting fee. In addition, M@ used to front business produced by unaffidaterd parties.
HCM does not retain any business.

» Hallmark National Insurance CompanySimultaneous with the December 31, 2010 closiiithe acquisition of
HNIC by HIC, HNIC entered into reinsurance contsaetith an affiliate of the seller, SAPCI, pursuaotwhich
SAPCI will handle all claims and assume all ligi®@k arising under policies issued by HNIC priorctosing and a
portion of the liabilities during a transition pedi of up to six months following the closing.

Investment Portfolio

Our investment objective is to maximize currenid/ihile maintaining safety of capital together lwiufficient liquidity for
ongoing insurance operations. Our investment plistis composed of fixed-income and equity se@sit As of December
31, 2010, we had total invested assets of $432ltbbmilf market rates were to increase by 1%, fine value of our fixed-
income securities as of December 31, 2010 wouldedse by approximately $9.0 million. The followitadple shows the fair
values of various categories of fixed-income seiag; the percentage of the total fair value of iovested assets represented
by each category and the tax equivalent book yiekkd on fair value of each category of investsdtasas of December 31,
2010 and 2009.

As of December 31, 2010 As of December 31, 2009
Fair Percent of Fair Percent of
Value Total Yield Value Total Yield
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Category:
Corporate bonds $ 85,577 22.0% 6.1% $ 74,885 25.7% 6.2%
Collateralized corporate bank loans 108,313 27.9% 5.0% 24,664 8.4% 6.4%
Municipal bonds 153,913 39.6% 7.9% 184,793 63.3% 7.9%
US Treasury securities and
obligations of U.S. Government 39,803 10.3% 1.0% 6,836 2.4% 2.5%
Mortgage backed 793 0.2% 5.0% 698 0.2% 5.6%
Total.e i $ 388,39¢ 100.0% 6.0% $ 291,87t 100.0% 7.2%

The weighted average credit rating for our fixedeime portfolio, using ratings assigned by Standard Poor’s Rating

Services (a division of the McGraw-Hill Companiés;.), was BBB+ at December 31, 2010. The follgytable shows the

distribution of our fixed-income portfolio by Staamdi and Poor’s rating as a percentage of totahvilire as of December 31,
2010 and 2009:
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As of As of
December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009

Rating

"AAAT 11.5% 13.5%
CAAT 13.8% 13.3%
CA 18.0% 29.1%
"BBB"......iii e, 31.5% 19.4%
"BB". 19.6% 7.8%
B 3.3% 1.0%
"CCC" i, 0.0% 1.6%
"NR 2.3% 14.3%
Total......oovviiie 100.0% 100.0%

The following table shows the composition of owefi-income portfolio by remaining time to maturég of December 31,
2010 and 2009.

As of December 31, 2010 As of December 31, 2009
Percentage of Percentage of
Total Total
Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Remaining time to maturity:
Less thanone year...................... $ 34,778 9.0% $ 36,563 12.5%
Onetofive years.........cccoovvvvnnnnnn. 201,829 52.0% 138,179 47.4%
Fivetotenyears..........cccoovvvvnnnn. 111,519 28.7% 46,335 15.9%
More than ten years..................... 39,480 10.1% 70,101 24.0%
Mortgage-backed ........................ 793 0.2% 698 0.2%
Totaluw oo $ 388,39¢ 100.0% $ 291,87t 100.0%

Our investment strategy is to conservatively manageinvestment portfolio by investing primarily neadily marketable,
investment-grade fixed-income securities. As of@aber 31, 2010, 10.2% of our investment portfolaswnvested in equity
securities. Our investment portfolio is manageerimilly. We regularly review our portfolio for dees in value. For fixed
maturity investments that are considered other-tearporarily impaired and that we do not intendsédl and will not be
required to sell, we separate the amount of thaimpent into the amount that is credit related ditrioss component) and the
amount due to all other factors. The credit loemponent is recognized in earnings and is the reifiee between the
investment’s amortized cost basis and the presgoevof its expected future cash flows. The remgimlifference between
the investment's fair value and the present valulitore expected cash flows is recognized in ott@nprehensive income.
The following table details the net unrealized daétance by invested asset category as of Dece®ih@010.

Net Unrealized
Gain Balance

Category (in thousands)
Corporate bonds.................... $ 2,621
Collaterlized corporate bank loans...... 1,590
Municipal bonds.............c.coei v, 579
Equity securitieS..........coooiiiiii i, 11,573
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of

U.S. Government.........ccccoeviieiininenss 36
Mortgage-backed .................ocii, 43

$ 16,44

As part of our overall investment strategy, we atsintain an integrated cash management systeizingilon-line banking
services and daily overnight investment accountaa@imize investment earnings on all available cash

18



Technology

The majority of our technology systems are basegroducts licensed from insurance-specific techgwleendors that have
been substantially customized to meet the uniquaEsi®f our various business units. Our technoleggtems primarily

consist of integrated central processing computeisgries of server-based computer networks aridusacommunications
systems that allow our branch offices to shareesystsolutions and communicate to the home offica imely, secure and
consistent manner. We maintain backup facilitied systems through a contract with a leading pexvaf computer disaster
recovery services. Each business unit bears tbemation services expenses specific to its opematas well as a portion of
the corporate services expenses. Increases tovboehse and service fees are capped per annum.

We believe the implementation of our various tedbgy systems has increased our efficiency in thecgssing of our

business, resulting in lower operating costs. Addélly, our systems enable us to provide a higkllef service to our agents
and policyholders by processing our business irmely and efficient manner, communicating and siwrlata with our

agents and providing a variety of methods for thgnpent of premiums. We believe these systems hbseeimproved the

accumulation and analysis of information for oumagement.

Ratings

Many insurance buyers, agents and brokers useatimgs assigned by A.M. Best and other rating aigsno assist them in
assessing the financial strength and overall qualfitthe companies from which they are considepngchasing insurance.
A.M. Best has pooled its ratings of our AHIC, Hl&hd HSIC subsidiaries and assigned a financiahgtherating of “A-"
(Excellent) and an issuer credit rating of “a-"@ach of these individual insurance company sulbriédizand to the pool
formed by the three insurance company subsidiari@sM. Best has also assigned a financial strermgting of “A-"
(Excellent) and an issuer credit rating of “a-"HEM and HNIC. An “A-" rating is the fourth highesf 15 rating categories
used by A.M. Best. In evaluating an insurer’s ficial and operating performance, A.M. Best revidiws company’s
profitability, indebtedness and liquidity, as wal its book of business, the adequacy and soundifiétssreinsurance, the
quality and estimated fair value of its assets,atiequacy of its loss reserves, the adequacy etiffdus, its capital structure,
the experience and competence of its managemenitamdarket presence. A.M. Best’s ratings reflést apinion of an
insurer’s financial strength, operating performaand ability to meet its obligations to policyhals@nd are not an evaluation
directed at investors or recommendations to bulypsé&old an insurer’s stock.

Competition

The property/casualty insurance market, our primsoyrce of revenue, is highly competitive and, ekder regulatory
considerations, has very few barriers to entry. cokding to A.M. Best, there were 3,305 propertyedty insurance
companies and 2,091 property/casualty insurancapgr@perating in North America as of July 16, 2010ur Standard
Commercial business unit competes with a varietlafe national standard commercial lines carrseich as The Hartford,
Travelers, Cincinnati Financial Corporation anddrtly Mutual, as well as numerous smaller regionahganies. The primary
competition for our E&S Commercial business unitlides such carriers as Dallas National Insuranmeg@ny, Atlantic
Casualty Insurance Company, Colony Insurance Cowurlington Insurance Company, Markel, Traveléree Hartford,
Great West Casualty Company, Sentry Insurance @&t IQsurance Group. Our General Aviation busingsgs considers its
primary competitors to be Houston Casualty Corghodnix Aviation, W. Brown & Company, AlIG, Allianz \Aation
Managers and Starr Aviation. The primary compatitfor our Excess & Umbrella business unit includash carriers as
Lexington Insurance Company, First Mercury Insuea@ompany, Axis Insurance Company, Gemini Insur&@mapany and,
to a lesser extent, a number of national standaes Icarriers such as Travelers and Liberty MutA#though our Personal
Lines business unit competes with large nationsdiiers such as Allstate, State Farm and Progressva participant in the
non-standard personal automobile marketplace nspetition is most directly associated with numeroegional companies
and managing general agencies. Our competitofadacentities that have, or are affiliated withiges$ that have, greater
financial and other resources than we have.

Generally, we compete on price, customer serviogemages offered, claims handling, financial stghiagent commission
and support, customer recognition and geographierege. We compete with companies who use indepenagents,
captive agent networks, direct marketing channes @mbination thereof.

Insurance Regulation

AHIC and HCM are domiciled in Texas, HIC is domadlin Arizona, HSIC is domiciled in Oklahoma and IENs domiciled

in Ohio. Therefore, our insurance operations agulated by the Texas Department of InsuranceAttzmna Department of
Insurance, the Oklahoma Insurance Department amdtfio Department of Insurance, as well as theiegdge insurance
department of each state in which we issue polici®sir insurance company subsidiaries are requodide quarterly and
annual statements of their financial condition areg in accordance with statutory accounting prastiwith the insurance
departments of their respective states of domanild the applicable insurance department of eadb Btavhich they write
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business. The financial conditions of our insueaoempany subsidiaries, including the adequacyudiss, loss reserves and
investments, are subject to review by the insuralegartment of their respective states of domicile.

Periodic financial and market conduct examinationsThe insurance departments of the states of danfimi our insurance
company subsidiaries have broad authority to esfansurance laws and regulations through examimstiadministrative
orders, civil and criminal enforcement proceedirag®s] suspension or revocation of an insurer’s fagate of authority or an
agent’s license. The state insurance departmkatshtive jurisdiction over our insurance comparhsgliaries may conduct
on-site visits and examinations of the insuranampmanies' affairs, especially as to their financiahdition, ability to fulfill
their obligations to policyholders, market condwtaims practices and compliance with other laws @pplicable regulations.
Typically, these examinations are conducted evhrget to five years. In addition, if circumstanchstate, regulators are
authorized to conduct special or target examinatiohinsurance companies to address particularezascor issues. The
results of these examinations can give rise tolatgy orders requiring remedial, injunctive or @tltorrective action on the
part of the company that is the subject of the ération, assessment of fines or other penaltiegnagshat company. In
extreme cases, including actual or pending insaygthe insurance department may take over, oriappareceiver to take
over, the management or operations of an insuran@gent’s business or assets.

Guaranty funds. All insurance companies are subject to assessnienstate-administered funds that cover the caamd
expenses of insolvent or impaired insurers. The of the assessment is determined each year ligttieclaims on the fund
that year. Each insurer is assessed a pro rata lshaed on its direct premiums written in thatiestd®ayments to the fund may
be recovered by the insurer through deductions ftspremium taxes over a specified period of years

Transactions between insurance companies and ttadfiliates. Hallmark is also regulated as an insurance holdorgpany
by the Texas Department of Insurance, the Arizoepddtment of Insurance, the Oklahoma Insurance Dapat and the
Onhio Insurance Department. Financial transactioetsveen Hallmark or any of its affiliates and onsurance company
subsidiaries are subject to regulation. Transastimetween our insurance company subsidiariestaiddffiliates generally
must be disclosed to state regulators, and priguladory approval generally is required before amgterial or extraordinary
transaction may be consummated or any managemesd¢ragnt, services agreement, expense sharing amamg or other
contract providing for the rendering of servicesaoregular, systematic basis is implemented. S&gjelators may refuse to
approve or may delay approval of such a transactiich may impact our ability to innovate or ogerafficiently.

Dividends. Dividends and distributions to Hallmark by ourursnce company subsidiaries are restricted by rikerance
regulations of the respective state in which easliriance company subsidiary is domiciled. As g@nty/casualty insurance
company domiciled in the state of Texas, AHIC mafy@ay dividends from unassigned surplus funds.addition, AHIC
must obtain the approval of the Texas Departmenhsfirance before the payment of extraordinarydaints, which are
defined as dividends or distributions of cash dreotproperty the fair market value of which comblireith the fair market
value of each other dividend or distribution mauléhie preceding 12 months exceeds the greatet )o$tgtutory net income as
of the prior December $or (2) 10% of statutory policyholders’ surplus afsthe prior December 31. HIC, domiciled in
Arizona, may pay dividends out of that part of égilable surplus funds that is derived from realimet profits on its
business. Without prior written approval from tAeizona Department of Insurance, HIC may not payraotdinary
dividends, which are defined as dividends or distions of cash or other property the fair marlaug of which combined
with the fair market value of each other dividenddistribution made in the preceding 12 months eslsethe lesser of:
(1) 10% of statutory policyholders’ surplus astod prior December 31 or (2) net investment incomefahe prior December
31. HSIC, domiciled in Oklahoma, may only pay diemds out of that part of its available surplusdiithat is derived from
realized net profits on its business. Without prisitten approval from the Oklahoma Insurance Depant, HSIC may not
pay extraordinary dividends, which are defined i@&ldnds or distributions of cash or other propéhy fair market value of
which combined with the fair market value of eatheo dividend or distribution made in the precedli2gmonths exceeds the
greater of: (1) 10% of statutory policyholders’ gus as of the prior December 31 or (2) statuteyincome as of the prior
December 31, not including realized capital gairtNIC, domiciled in Ohio, may only pay dividendstaf that part of its
available surplus funds that is derived from earserplus to shareholders. Without prior writterpegval from the Ohio
Department of Insurance, HNIC may not pay extrawdi dividends, which are defined as dividendsistributions of cash
or other property the fair market value of whichmimned with the fair market value of each otheridbwnd or distribution
made in the preceding 12 months exceeds the grefatér) 10% of statutory policyholders’ surplus@sthe prior December
31 or (2) statutory net income as of the prior Dalger 31. As a county mutual, dividends from HCM g@ayable to
policyholders.

Risk-based capital requirementsThe National Association of Insurance Commissismequires property/casualty insurers to
file a risk-based capital calculation accordingatepecified formula. The purpose of the formuléwisfold: (1) to assess the
adequacy of an insurer’'s statutory capital and learppased upon a variety of factors such as peaterigks related to
investment portfolio, ceded reinsurance and produgt and (2) to assist state regulators undeRRBE for Insurers Model
Act by providing thresholds at which a state conmmiser is authorized and expected to take regyladotion. As of
December 31, 2010, the adjusted capital underishebased capital calculation of each of our ineaeacompany subsidiaries
substantially exceeded the minimum requirements.
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Required licensing. American Hallmark Insurance Services, Americanlriiak General Agency, Inc., Hallmark Claims
Services, Inc., Aerospace Insurance Managers, TE&\M, ACMG and HXS are each subject to and in coamgié with the
licensing requirements of the department of insceain each state in which they produce businedsesd licenses govern,
among other things, the types of insurance covetaggency and claims services and products thahayeoffer consumers in
these states. Such licenses typically are issudd ajter we file an appropriate application andisfa prescribed criteria.
Generally, each state requires one officer to raairdn agent license. Claims adjusters employeastare also subject to the
licensing requirements of each state in which #@yduct business. Each employed claim adjusteereftolds or has applied
for the required licenses. Our premium financesgliries are subject to licensing, financial reéjmor and certain financial
requirements imposed by the Texas Department afrdmee, as well as regulations promulgated by teea3 Office of
Consumer Credit Commissioner.

Regulation of insurance rates and approval of pgliforms The insurance laws of most states in which olsigliaries
operate require insurance companies to file inagaate schedules and insurance policy forms foeweand approval. State
insurance regulators have broad discretion in pmigivhether our rates are adequate, not excessigtenah unfairly
discriminatory and whether our policy forms complith law. The speed at which we can change owsrdepends, in part,
on the method by which the applicable state’s gataws are administered. Generally, state ins@wargulators have the
authority to disapprove our rates or request chaiilgeur rates.

Restrictions on cancellation, non-renewal or withalval. Many states have laws and regulations that limitiresurance
company’s ability to exit a market. For examplertain states limit an automobile insurance comjzaapility to cancel or
not renew policies. Some states prohibit an inmeacompany from withdrawing from one or more linédusiness in the
state, except pursuant to a plan approved by thee $hsurance department. In some states, thiBeapip significant
reductions in the amount of insurance written, jnst to a complete withdrawal. State insuranceadepents may disapprove
a plan that may lead to market disruption.

Investment restrictions We are subject to state laws and regulationsréwatire diversification of our investment portti
and that limit the amount of investments in cerztegories. Failure to comply with these laws aaglilations would cause
non-conforming investments to be treated as nonitetinassets for purposes of measuring statutorplisi and, in some
instances, would require divestiture.

Trade practices The manner in which we conduct the business sdiramnce is regulated by state statutes in an effort
prohibit practices that constitute unfair methofi€@mpetition or unfair or deceptive acts or preesi. Prohibited practices
include disseminating false information or advémts defamation; boycotting, coercion and intimidat false statements or
entries; unfair discrimination; rebating; impropes-ins with lenders and the extension of crediilufe to maintain proper
records; failure to maintain proper complaint hamgllprocedures; and making false statements inextion with insurance
applications for the purpose of obtaining a feenrossion or other benefit.

Unfair claims practices. Generally, insurance companies, adjusting conggaand individual claims adjusters are prohibited
by state statutes from engaging in unfair claimectices on a flagrant basis or with such frequenacindicate a general
business practice. Examples of unfair claims prastinclude:

. misrepresenting pertinent facts or insurance pgiioyisions relating to coverages at issue;

. failing to acknowledge and act reasonably prompihpn communications with respect to claims arising
under insurance policies;

. failing to adopt and implement reasonable stand@dshe prompt investigation and settlement oirok
arising under insurance policies;

. failing to affirm or deny coverage of claims witherreasonable time after proof of loss statemeans been
completed;

. attempting to settle a claim for less than the amdéw which a reasonable person would have belisueth
person was entitled;

. attempting to settle claims on the basis of aniegfbn that was altered without notice to, or kiexlge and
consent of, the insured,;

. compelling insureds to institute suits to recouaoants due under policies by offering substanti@gs than
the amounts ultimately recovered in suits broughthem;

. refusing to pay claims without conducting a reabtménvestigation;

. making claim payments to an insured without indicathe coverage under which each payment is being
made;

. delaying the investigation or payment of claimséguiring an insured, claimant or the physiciaritiier to

submit a preliminary claim report and then requrithe subsequent submission of formal proof of loss
forms, both of which submissions contain substiptihe same information;

. failing, in the case of claim denials or offerscoimpromise or settlement, to promptly provide soeable
and accurate explanation of the basis for suclrstiand
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. not attempting in good faith to effectuate pronfply and equitable settlements of claims in whiietbility
has become reasonably clear.

Employees

As of December 31, 2010, we employed 351 peopla dul-time basis. None of our employees are regméed by labor
unions. We consider our employee relations toduelg

Available Information

The Company’s executive offices are located at Wiéin Street, Suite 1000 Fort Worth, Texas 76102e Tompany’s
mailing address is 777 Main Street, Suite 1000 Mddrth, Texas 76102. Its telephone number is (848}1600. The
Company’s website address is www.hallmarkgrp.comne Tompany files annual, quarterly and current mspgroxy
statements and other information and documentsthtfSEC, which are made available to read and abflye SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washingto@, P0549. You may obtain information on the operabf the Public
Reference Room by contacting the SEC at 1-800-SEZD-0Reports filed with the SEC are also made akkl at
www.sec.gov. The Company makes available free afgghon its website its annual report on Form 10uwgrterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendsnemthose reports filed with or furnished to BEC pursuant to
Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange #ct934 as soon as reasonably practical aftereittednically files them
with or furnishes them to the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Our success depends on our ability to price accuraly the risks we underwrite.

Our results of operations and financial conditi@pend on our ability to underwrite and set premnates accurately for a
wide variety of risks. Adequate rates are necessaggenerate premiums sufficient to pay losses $estlement expenses and
underwriting expenses and to earn a profit. Togpoier products accurately, we must collect and gnig@nalyze a substantial
amount of data; develop, test and apply approppaténg techniques; closely monitor and timelyaguize changes in trends;
and project both severity and frequency of lossiis ireasonable accuracy. Our ability to undertdiesé efforts successfully,
and as a result price our products accuratelybgest to a number of risks and uncertainties, som&hich are outside our
control, including:

. the availability of sufficient reliable data andrability to properly analyze available data;
. the uncertainties that inherently characterizevestes and assumptions;

. our selection and application of appropriate pgdechniques; and

. changes in applicable legal liability standards enthe civil litigation system generally.

Consequently, we could underprice risks, which wadversely affect our profit margins, or we coolerprice risks, which
could reduce our sales volume and competitiveriessther case, our profitability could be matdyi@nd adversely affected.

Our results may fluctuate as a result of cyclicalltanges in the property/casualty insurance industry.

Our revenue is primarily attributable to properégualty insurance, which as an industry is cyclicahature and has
historically been characterized by soft markettofeéd by hard markets. A soft market is a peribdetatively high levels of
price competition, less restrictive underwritingrelards and generally low premium rates. A harcketas a period of capital
shortages resulting in lack of insurance availghilielatively low levels of competition, more setige underwriting of risks
and relatively high premium rates. If we find itcessary to reduce premiums or limit premium inceeatue to competitive
pressures on pricing in a softening market, we mgerience a reduction in our premiums written andur profit margins
and revenues, which could adversely affect oumfirel results.

Estimating reserves is inherently uncertain. If ouloss reserves are not adequate, it will have améavorable impact on
our results.

We maintain loss reserves to cover our estimatichate liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustinexpenses for reported
and unreported claims incurred as of the end o @@counting period. Reserves represent managesresttmates of what
the ultimate settlement and administration of ckimill cost and are not reviewed by an independeniary. These estimates,
which generally involve actuarial projections, dased on management’s assessment of facts andnstances then known,
as well as estimates of future trends in claim sgvand frequency, judicial theories of liabilitand other factors. These
variables are affected by both internal and extezmants, such as changes in claims handling puresdinflation, judicial

trends and legislative changes. Many of these facte not quantifiable. Additionally, there mayasignificant lag between
the occurrence of an event and the time it is tegoto us. The inherent uncertainties of estimatesgrves are greater for
certain types of liabilities, particularly those which the various considerations affecting theetyd claim are subject to
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change and in which long periods of time may eldpfere a definitive determination of liability isade. Reserve estimates
are continually refined in a regular and ongoingcess as experience develops and further claimsepmted and settled.
Adjustments to reserves are reflected in the reflthe periods in which such estimates are cldinger example, a 1%
change in December 31, 2010 unpaid losses and Lé#dahave produced a $2.5 million change to pretapnings. Our
gross loss and LAE reserves totaled $251.7 milabibecember 31, 2010. Our loss and LAE reservespheeinsurance
recoverable on unpaid loss and LAE, were $213.%anikt that date. Because setting reserves igémtlg uncertain, there
can be no assurance that the current reservepraile adequate.

Our failure to maintain favorable financial strength ratings could negatively impact our ability to canpete successfully.

Third-party rating agencies assess and rate tiglpaying ability of insurers based upon critesablished by the agencies.
AHIC, HIC, and HSIC have entered into a poolingaagement, pursuant to which AHIC retains 46.0%hefret premiums
written by any of them, HIC retains 34.1% of thé peemiums written by any of them and HSIC retal®8s9% of the net
premiums written by any of them. A.M. Best Compdf.M. Best"), a nationally recognized insuranaedistry rating
service and publisher, has pooled its ratings e$é¢hthree insurance company subsidiaries and asisa@ffinancial strength
rating of “A—" (Excellent) and an issuer creditingt of “a-" to each of these individual insuraneempany subsidiaries and to
the pool formed by these three insurance compahgidiaries. Also, A.M. Best has assigned HCM andi®i a financial
strength rating of “A-" (Excellent) and an issueedit rating of “a-".

These financial strength ratings are used by pbtitders, insurers, reinsurers and insurance anduedince intermediaries as
an important means of assessing the financial gineand quality of insurers. These ratings areewatiuations directed to
potential purchasers of our common stock and aresemmmendations to buy, sell or hold our commntorks Our ratings are
subject to change at any time and could be revikeghward or revoked at the sole discretion of théng agencies. We
believe that the ratings assigned by A.M. Bestardmportant factor in marketing our products. @bility to retain our
existing business and to attract new business imirsurance operations depends largely on thesegsatOur failure to
maintain our ratings, or any other adverse devetojnwith respect to our ratings, could cause ourecti and future
independent agents and insureds to choose to ttatfsgir business with more highly rated competitdf A.M. Best
downgrades our ratings or publicly indicates thatmatings are under review, it is likely that wewld not be able to compete
as effectively with our competitors, and our ahilib sell insurance policies could decline. If theatppens, our sales and
earnings would decrease. For example, many ofgancies and insureds have guidelines that regsite have an A.M.
Best financial strength rating of “A-" (Excellenty higher. A reduction of our A.M. Best rating b&l6A-" would prevent us
from issuing policies to insureds or potential iregls with such ratings requirements. Because terated reinsurers will use
our A.M. Best ratings as a factor in deciding wleetko transact business with us, the failure of imsurance company
subsidiaries to maintain their current ratings dalissuade a lender or reinsurance company frordumdimg business with us
or might increase our interest or reinsurance cobtsaaddition, a ratings downgrade by A.M. Besibhe"A-" would require
us to post collateral in support of our obligatiamger certain of our reinsurance agreements porgoavhich we assume
business.

The loss of key executives could disrupt our busiss.

Our success will depend in part upon the continsgxgtice of certain key executives. Our succeskalsb depend on our
ability to attract and retain additional executivaasd personnel. We do not have employment agretsnveith our Chief

Executive Officer or any of our executive officefidie loss of key personnel, or our inability tortécand retain additional
qualified personnel, could cause disruption in business and could prevent us from fully implememtour business
strategies, which could materially and adverselgafour business, growth and profitability.

Our industry is very competitive, which may unfavorably impact our results of operations.

The property/casualty insurance market, our primsoyrce of revenue, is highly competitive and, ekder regulatory

considerations, has very few barriers to entry. cokding to A.M. Best, there were 3,305 propertyedty insurance
companies and 2,091 property/casualty insurancapgr@perating in North America as of July 16, 2010ur Standard
Commercial business unit competes with a varietlafe national standard commercial lines carrseich as The Hartford,
Travelers, Cincinnati Financial Corporation anddrtly Mutual, as well as numerous smaller regionahganies. The primary
competition for our E&S Commercial business unitlides such carriers as Dallas National Insuranmeg@any, Atlantic

Casualty Insurance Company, Colony Insurance Cowurlington Insurance Company, Markel, Travel@rse Hartford,

Great West Casualty Company, Sentry Insurance @&t I@surance Group. Our General Aviation businggsconsiders its
primary competitors to be Houston Casualty Corghodnix Aviation, W. Brown & Company, AlIG, Allianz \Aation

Managers and Starr Aviation. The primary compatitfor our Excess & Umbrella business unit includash carriers as
Lexington Insurance Company, First Mercury Insuea@ompany, Axis Insurance Company, Gemini Insur&@mapany and,
to a lesser extent, a number of national standa&s Icarriers such as Travelers and Liberty MutAithough our Personal
Lines business unit competes with large nationsiiiiers such as Allstate, State Farm and Progressiva participant in the
non-standard personal automobile marketplace itspedition is most directly associated with numercegional companies
and managing general agencies. Our competitofadacentities that have, or are affiliated withiges that have, greater
financial and other resources than we have. Intiatidicompetitors may attempt to increase markateshy lowering rates. In
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that case, we could experience reductions in odiemwriting margins, or sales of our insurance pediccould decline as
customers purchase lower-priced products from ouanpetitors. Losing business to competitors offesigilar products at
lower prices, or having other competitive advansageuld adversely affect our results of operations

Our results may be unfavorably impacted if we are nable to obtain adequate reinsurance.

As part of our overall risk and capacity managem&nategy, we purchase reinsurance for signifianbunts of risk,
especially catastrophe risks that we and our imaga&ompany subsidiaries underwrite. Our catase@id non-catastrophe
reinsurance facilities are generally subject toumhmenewal. We may be unable to maintain our ctireinsurance facilities
or to obtain other reinsurance facilities in adequamounts and at favorable rates. The amount)asi#y and cost of
reinsurance are subject to prevailing market caomt beyond our control, and may affect our abititywrite additional
premiums as well as our profitability. If we areable to obtain adequate reinsurance protectiontferrisks we have
underwritten, we will either be exposed to gredtsises from these risks or we will reduce the lesfebusiness that we
underwrite, which will reduce our revenue.

If the companies that provide our reinsurance do nbpay our claims in a timely manner, we could incursevere losses.

We purchase reinsurance by transferring, or cegiiadg,of the risk we have assumed to a reinsuraoggany in exchange for
part of the premium we receive in connection wité tisk. Although reinsurance makes the reinsuabid to us to the extent
the risk is transferred or ceded to the reinsuteipes not relieve us of our liability to our potholders. Accordingly, we bear
credit risk with respect to our reinsurers. We adrassure that our reinsurers will pay all of ceinsurance claims, or that
they will pay our claims on a timely basis. At Dedger 31, 2010, we had a total of $65.0 million disefrom reinsurers,
including $39.5 million of recoverables from lossesl $25.5 million in ceded unearned premiums. [tgest amount due us
from a single reinsurer as of December 31, 2010%24s7 million reinsurance and premium recoverétden SAPCI arising
in connection with the acquisition of HNIC on Ded®en 31, 2010. If any of our reinsurers are unablerwilling to pay
amounts they owe us in a timely fashion, we coulffes a significant loss or a shortage of liquidityhich would have a
material adverse effect on our business and resitiperations.

Catastrophic losses are unpredictable and may advsely affect our results of operations, liquidity ad financial
condition.

Property/casualty insurance companies are suljediatms arising out of catastrophes that may rasegnificant effect on
their results of operations, liquidity and finaricizondition. Catastrophes can be caused by varewents, including
hurricanes, windstorms, earthquakes, hail stormglosions, severe winter weather and fires, and malide man-made
events, such as terrorist attacks. The incidemeguéncy, and severity of catastrophes are inHgrenpredictable. The extent
of losses from a catastrophe is a function of lblo¢htotal amount of insured exposure in the arbscid by the event and the
severity of the event. Claims from catastrophicréseould reduce our net income, cause substaaiiatility in our financial
results for any fiscal quarter or year or otherwaskversely affect our financial condition, liquidior results of operations.
Catastrophes may also negatively affect our ahitityrite new business. Increases in the valuegmadjraphic concentration
of insured property and the effects of inflationultbincrease the severity of claims from catastioghients in the future.

Catastrophe models may not accurately predict futue losses.

Along with other insurers in the industry, we used®ls developed by third-party vendors in asseseungexposure to

catastrophe losses that assume various conditindspeobability scenarios. However, these modelsndb necessarily

accurately predict future losses or accurately nreal®sses currently incurred. Catastrophe moddigsh have been evolving
since the early 1990s, use historical informatidnowa various catastrophes and detailed informatibout our in-force

business. While we use this information in conmectvith our pricing and risk management activitiggre are limitations

with respect to their usefulness in predicting éssén any reporting period. Examples of these é&itiins are significant
variations in estimates between models and modafetanaterial increases and decreases in moddisrdsie to changes and
refinements of the underlying data elements andnagsons. Such limitations lead to questionabledjmtére capability and

post-event measurements that have not been wedlrstiodd or proven to be sufficiently reliable. mddion, the models are
not necessarily reflective of company or state-gjgagolicy language, demand surge for labor andemials or loss settlement
expenses, all of which are subject to wide varatiy catastrophe. Because the occurrence and seuvécatastrophes are
inherently unpredictable and may vary significarfthm year to year, historical results of operagionmay not be indicative of
future results of operations.

We are subject to comprehensive regulation, and owesults may be unfavorably impacted by these regations.

We are subject to comprehensive governmental réganland supervision. Most insurance regulatiomsdesigned to protect
the interests of policyholders rather than of tleelsholders and other investors of the insuranecepamies. These regulations,
generally administered by the department of instgan each state in which we do business, relat@mong other things:

. approval of policy forms and rates;
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. standards of solvency, including risk-based capitaasurements, which are a measure developed by the
National Association of Insurance Commissioners asdd by the state insurance regulators to identify

insurance companies that potentially are inadefjuetpitalized;

. licensing of insurers and their agents;

. restrictions on the nature, quality and concerdmatif investments;

. restrictions on the ability of insurance compangsidiaries to pay dividends;

. restrictions on transactions between insurance aogpubsidiaries and their affiliates;

. requiring certain methods of accounting;

. periodic examinations of operations and finances;

. the use of non-public consumer information andteelgrivacy issues;

. the use of credit history in underwriting and rgtin

. limitations on the ability to charge policy fees;

. the acquisition or disposition of an insurance camypor of any company controlling an insurance camyp

. involuntary assignments of high-risk policies, paApation in reinsurance facilities and underwgtin
associations, assessments and other governmeatgesh

. restrictions on the cancellation or non-renewalpoficies and, in certain jurisdictions, withdrawfabm
writing certain lines of business;

. prescribing the form and content of records offiicial condition to be filed;

. requiring reserves for unearned premium, losseo#ret purposes; and

. with respect to premium finance business, the fd€ruth-in-Lending Act and similar state statutés.

states where specific statutes have not been ehauremium finance is generally subject to stataytaws
that are applicable to consumer loans.

State insurance departments also conduct periodimi@ations of the affairs of insurance companied eequire filing of
annual and other reports relating to the finanodaldition of insurance companies, holding compasyés and other matters.
Our business depends on compliance with appliciEMes and regulations and our ability to maintairidvdicenses and
approvals for our operations. Regulatory autharitigay deny or revoke licenses for various reasionkjding violations of
regulations. Changes in the level of regulationttef insurance industry or changes in laws or reguis themselves or
interpretations by regulatory authorities could énav material adverse affect on our operationsaddition, we could face
individual, group and class-action lawsuits by poticyholders and others for alleged violationsceftain state laws and
regulations. Each of these regulatory risks coaleehan adverse effect on our profitability.

State statutes limit the aggregate amount of dividels that our subsidiaries may pay Hallmark, therebylimiting its
funds to pay expenses and dividends.

Hallmark is a holding company and a legal entityasate and distinct from its subsidiaries. As &ling company without

significant operations of its own, Hallmark’s pripal sources of funds are dividends and other ssuaf funds from its

subsidiaries. State insurance laws limit the gbdit Hallmark’s insurance company subsidiaries 49 dividends and require
our insurance company subsidiaries to maintain iBpdcminimum levels of statutory capital and suipl The aggregate
maximum amount of dividends permitted by law toplagd by an insurance company does not necessafilyedan insurance
company’s actual ability to pay dividends. The attability to pay dividends may be further constel by business and
regulatory considerations, such as the impact widdnds on surplus, by our competitive position drydthe amount of

premiums that we can write. Without regulatory appt, the aggregate maximum amount of dividends ¢bald be paid to

Hallmark in 2011 by our insurance company subsielais $16.3 million. State insurance regulatorgehlaroad discretion to
limit the payment of dividends by insurance comparand Hallmark’s right to participate in any dimition of assets of one
of our insurance company subsidiaries is subjeqirtor claims of policyholders and creditors excéptthe extent that its
rights, if any, as a creditor are recognized. Cqueatly, Hallmark’s ability to pay debts, expensesl cash dividends to our
stockholders may be limited.

Our insurance company subsidiaries are subject to mimum capital and surplus requirements. Failure tomeet these
requirements could subject us to regulatory action.

Our insurance company subsidiaries are subjectiniormam capital and surplus requirements imposeceutige laws of their
respective states of domicile and each state irclwiiiey issue policies. Any failure by one of onsurance company
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subsidiaries to meet minimum capital and surplugirements imposed by applicable state law willjscibit to corrective
action, which may include requiring adoption of @amprehensive financial plan, revocation of its tise to sell insurance
products or placing the subsidiary under stateleggry control. Any new minimum capital and surpheguirements adopted
in the future may require us to increase the chpitd surplus of our insurance company subsidiaviésch we may not be
able to do.

We are subject to assessments and other surchargesm state guaranty funds, mandatory reinsurance arangements
and state insurance facilities, which may reduce aprofitability.

Virtually all states require insurers licensed toldisiness therein to bear a portion of the unfdralgigations of impaired or
insolvent insurance companies. These obligatioaduarded by assessments, which are levied by giyaaasociations within

the state, up to prescribed limits, on all memimsuiers in the state on the basis of the prop@t@share of the premiums
written by member insurers in the lines of busin@sswhich the impaired, insolvent or failed insuremas engaged.

Accordingly, the assessments levied on us by thtestin which we are licensed to write insurance inarease as we
increase our premiums written. In addition, as ad#ion to the ability to conduct business in cigrtatates, insurance
companies are required to participate in mandateigsurance funds. The effect of these assessnamtsmandatory

reinsurance arrangements, or changes in them, cedlgte our profitability in any given period amlt our ability to grow our

business.

We monitor developments with respect to variousestacilities, such as the Texas FAIR Plan and Thgas Windstorm
Insurance Association. The impact of any cataseogtperience on these facilities could result & ficilities recognizing a
financial deficit or a financial deficit greaterati the level currently estimated. They may, in turawve the ability to assess
participating insurers when financial deficits occadversely affecting our results of operationshild/these facilities are
generally designed so that the ultimate cost is\éday policyholders, the exposure to assessmerntshenavailability of
recoupments or premium rate increases from thasktiés may not offset each other in our finangtdtements. Moreover,
even if they do offset each other, they may nosaifeach other in financial statements for the sfisnal period due to the
ultimate timing of the assessments and recoupnmrsemium rate increases, as well as the pogsilofipolicies not being
renewed in subsequent years.

Adverse securities market conditions can have a sigicant and negative impact on our investment porfolio.

Our results of operations depend in part on théopmance of our invested assets. As of Decembe310, 90% of our
investment portfolio was invested in fixed-incomecurities. Certain risks are inherent in connectigth fixed-income
securities, including loss upon default and prioltility in reaction to changes in interest rag®sl general market factors. In
general, the fair value of a portfolio of fixed-omoe securities increases or decreases inversetycliinges in the market
interest rates, while net investment income redlizem future investments in fixed-income secusitincreases or decreases
along with interest rates. In addition, 12% of éiwed-income securities have call or prepaymernitoms. This subjects us to
reinvestment risk should interest rates fall arsdiéss call their securities. Furthermore, actealimvestment income and/or
cash flows from investments that carry prepaymiskt such as mortgage-backed and other asset-baekedties, may differ
from those anticipated at the time of investmenaassult of interest rate fluctuations. An invesht has prepayment risk
when there is a risk that cash flows from the reparyt of principal might occur earlier than anti¢gzhbecause of declining
interest rates or later than anticipated becausesify interest rates. The fair value of our @xecome securities as of
December 31, 2010 was $388.4 million. If markeeriest rates were to increase 1%, the fair valueunffixed-income
securities would decrease by approximately $9.0ianilas of December 31, 2010. The calculated chandair value was
determined using duration modeling assuming nogyments.

In addition to the general risks described aboltepagh 75% of our portfolio is investment-gradar éixed-income securities
are nonetheless subject to credit risk. If anyhefissuers of our fixed-income securities suffearficial setbacks, the ratings
on the fixed-income securities could fall (with@current fall in market value) and, in a worstecasenario, the issuer could
default on its obligations. Hallmark has no expesu its investment portfolio to sub-prime mortgagand $0.8 million total
exposure in mortgage-backed securities. Futuregdsaim the fair value of our available-for-salewséies will be reflected in
other comprehensive income. Similar treatmentas available for liabilities. Therefore, interestte fluctuations could
adversely affect our stockholders’ equity, totalnpoehensive income and/or cash flows.

We rely on independent agents and specialty broker® market our products and their failure to do sowould have a
material adverse effect on our results of operatios

We market and distribute our insurance programsusikely through independent insurance agents aedialty insurance
brokers. As a result, our business depends in laageon the marketing efforts of these agentskao#lers and on our ability
to offer insurance products and services that rireetequirements of the agents, the brokers ariddbstomers. However,
these agents and brokers are not obligated tasglfomote our products and many sell or promotapmiitors’ insurance
products in addition to our products. Some of campetitors have higher financial strength ratirgfer a larger variety of
products, set lower prices for insurance coveragloa offer higher commissions than we do. Theefae may not be able
to continue to attract and retain independent agantl brokers to sell our insurance products. falere or inability of
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independent agents and brokers to market our insarproducts successfully could have a materiaédvimpact on our
business, financial condition and results of openat

We may experience difficulty in integrating acquisiions into our operations.

The successful integration of any newly acquiresiresses into our operations will require, amomgeiothings, the retention
and assimilation of their key management, salesadiner personnel; the coordination of their linésnsurance products and
services; the adaptation of their technology, imfation systems and other processes; and the iteantid transition of their
customers. Unexpected difficulties in integratiaugy acquisition could result in increased expersas the diversion of
management time and resources. If we do not ssittlgsintegrate any acquired business into ourragens, we may not
realize the anticipated benefits of the acquisjtwhich could have a material adverse impact onfimancial condition and
results of operations. Further, any potential agitjans may require significant capital outlays aifdwe issue equity or
convertible debt securities to pay for an acquisitithe issuance may be dilutive to our existingldtolders.

Our geographic concentration ties our performance @ the business, economic and regulatory conditionsf certain
states.

The following states accounted for 67% of our grasidten premiums for 2010: Texas (45%), Florid&6)6 New Mexico
(6%), Oregon (5%) and Louisiana (5%). Our revenard profitability are subject to the prevailing wégory, legal,
economic, political, demographic, competitive, vireitand other conditions in the principal statesvirich we do business.
Changes in any of these conditions could makes# Btractive for us to do business in such statelswould have a more
pronounced effect on us compared to companiesatieatore geographically diversified. In additiony @xposure to severe
losses from localized natural perils, such as wormiss or hailstorms, is increased in those areasrevive have written
significant numbers of property/casualty insurapckcies.

The exclusions and limitations in our policies mayot be enforceable.

Many of the policies we issue include exclusionsotiter conditions that define and limit coveragéjoli exclusions and
conditions are designed to manage our exposurertaia types of risks and expanding theories odlléigbility. In addition,
many of our policies limit the period during whiahpolicyholder may bring a claim under the polisfhich period in many
cases is shorter than the statutory period undartwthese claims can be brought by our policyhad@rhile these exclusions
and limitations help us assess and control ourdag®sure, it is possible that a court or regulatarthority could nullify or
void an exclusion or limitation, or legislation ddie enacted modifying or barring the use of theesdusions and limitations.
This could result in higher than anticipated loss@sl LAE by extending coverage beyond our undeivgiintent or
increasing the number or size of claims, which ddwdve a material adverse effect on our operaénglts. In some instances,
these changes may not become apparent until someedfter we have issued the insurance policiesateffected by the
changes. As a result, the full extent of liabilityder our insurance contracts may not be knowmtony years after a policy is
issued.

We rely on our information technology and telecommauications systems and the failure or disruption othese systems
could disrupt our operations and adversely affect or results of operations.

Our business is highly dependent upon the sucdeasfill uninterrupted functioning of our informatiaechnology and
telecommunications systems. We rely on these sgstemrocess new and renewal business, provideroestservice, make
claims payments and facilitate collections and e#iations, as well as to perform actuarial and otealytical functions
necessary for pricing and product development. €stems could fail of their own accord or mightdisrupted by factors
such as natural disasters, power disruptions ayesyrcomputer hackers or terrorist attacks. Faituréisruption of these
systems for any reason could interrupt our businedsadversely affect our results of operations.

Global climate change may have an adverse effect our financial statements.

Although uncertainty remains as to the nature dfatieof greenhouse gas emissions, we could sidéses if global climate
change results in an increase in the frequencysamdrity of natural disasters. As with traditiomaltural disasters, claims
arising from these incidents could increase ouioeype to losses and have a material adverse impagtir business, results
of operations, and/or financial condition.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable

Item 2. Properties.

Our corporate headquarters and Standard Comménesihess unit are located at 777 Main Street, SW080, Fort Worth,
Texas. The suite is located in a high-rise officglding and contains 27,808 square feet of spa€he rent is currently

$34,644 per month pursuant to a lease which expias 30, 2011. On February 28, 2011, an amendimehé office lease

27



agreement was executed which extends the termeoliettse for an additional period of 132 months cemeing on July 1,
2011. After a twelve month rent abatement peribd,initial rent will be $46,347 per month. Our porate headquarters also
occupies ten offices in an executive suite locatettie same building for $10,200 per month undkyage that expires March
31, 2011.

Our E&S Commercial business unit is presently ledaat 7550 IH-10 West, San Antonio, Texas. Thessdd premises
consist of a 16,599 square foot office suite an@l 8uare feet of storage space. The rent is diyr881,749 per month
pursuant to a lease that expires November 30, 2020.E&S Commercial business unit also maintairemell office in
Chicago lllinois, the fixed rent on which is curtlgr$3,845 under a lease that expires March 31120ur E&S Commercial
business unit also maintains a small branch offideubbock, Texas. Rent on this branch office igrently $1,000 per month
under a lease that expires April 30, 2012.

Our General Aviation business unit is located @&8bAddison Road, Suite 250, Addison, Texas. Tlite &ilocated in a low-
rise office building and contains 8,219 square fdetpace. The rent is currently $9,931 per mgnifsuant to a lease that
expires May 31, 2018. Our General Aviation bussnasit also maintains a branch office in Glend@lalifornia. Rent on the
1,196 square foot suite is currently $2,452 pertmpursuant to a lease which expires July 31, 2012.

Our Excess & Umbrella business unit is located%sbuth Finley Avenue, Basking Ridge, New Jersélye suite is located
in a low-rise office building and contains 2,28%arg feet of space. The rent is currently $3,7r2month pursuant to a lease
that expires April 30, 2013.

Our Personal Lines business unit is located at 8506crest, Suite 100, Plano, Texas. The sulteaed in a one story office
building and contains 23,941 square feet of spaiee rent is currently $28,330 per month pursuara fease that expires
January 31, 2016.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

In December 2010, TGA was informed by the Texas @ooiier of Public Accounts that a surplus lines &udit covering the
period January 1, 2007 through December 31, 20G9cmaplete. TGA frequently acts as a managing rgén@derwriter
(“MGU") authorized to underwrite policies on behaf Republic Vanguard Insurance Company and Hakntpecialty
Insurance Company, both Texas eligible surplusslingurance carriers. In its role as the MGU, T@Werwrites policies on
behalf of these carriers while other agencies &xtat Texas generally referred to as “producinghgajedeliver the policies to
the insureds and collect all premiums due fromitareds. During the period under audit, the pecottyiagents also collected
the surplus lines premium taxes due on the polit@s the insureds, held them in trust, and tinrelyitted those taxes to the
Comptroller. We believe this system for collectiagd paying the required surplus lines premium gasemplies in all
respects with the Texas Insurance Code and otlgeatéons, which clearly require that the same yparho delivers the
policies and collects the premiums will also cdllpeemium taxes, hold premium taxes in trust, aag premium taxes to the
Comptroller. It also complies with long standimgliistry practice. The Comptroller asserts that TiGKkable for the surplus
lines premium taxes related to policy transactiand premiums collected from surplus lines insuruaiing the audit period
and that TGA therefore owes $4.5 million in premitemes, as well as $0.9 million in penalties angriest for the audit
period.

We disagree with the Comptroller and intend to vogrsly fight their assertion that TGA is liable fitve surplus lines premium
taxes. At this stage, we cannot predict the coofsany proceedings, the timing of any rulings ¢ev significant events
relating to such surplus lines tax audit. Giveasth limitations and the inherent difficulty of profing the outcome of
regulatory disputes, we are presently unable teomegbly estimate the possible loss or legal cbstisare likely to arise out of
the surplus lines tax audit or any future procegslirelating to this matter.

We are engaged in various legal proceedings thatrautine in nature and incidental to our businedéone of these
proceedings, either individually or in the aggregadre believed, in our opinion, to have a mateatlerse effect on our
consolidated financial position or our results pémations

Item 4. (Removed and reserved.)
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PART Il

Iltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Relaed Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty
Securities.

Market for Common Stock

Our common stock is currently traded on the Nad@dkpal Market under the symbol “HALL.” The follong table shows
the high and low sales prices of our common stacthe Nasdaq Global Market for each quarter siaceidry 1, 2009.

Period High Sale Low Sale

Year Ended December 31, 2010:

First qUarter..........coouveei et $ 945 $ 7.36
Second qUarter.......c.ceeveviiie i e 11.98 8.86
Third qUarter..........coooiiii e 11.05 8.00
Fourth quarter............cooee i 9.64 8.40
Year Ended December 31, 2009:

First qUarter..........coouvviei et $ 951 ¢ 598
Second qUArer........cocevve i e 7.49 6.45
Third qUarter.......c..oooiiiii e 8.45 6.55
Fourth quarter............cooee i 8.75 6.93
Holders

As of March 1, 2011, there were 1,877 shareholdirsecord of our common stock.

Dividends

Hallmark has never paid dividends on its commortkstoOur board of directors intends to continues tholicy for the
foreseeable future in order to retain earningslforelopment of our business.

Hallmark is a holding company and a legal entityasate and distinct from its subsidiaries. As llimg company, Hallmark
is dependent on dividend payments and managemesitffem its subsidiaries to pay dividends and matker payments.
State insurance laws limit the ability of our irsoce company subsidiaries to pay dividends to HakmAs a
property/casualty insurance company domiciled endtate of Texas, AHIC is limited in the paymentividends to Hallmark
in any 12-month period, without the prior writteonsent of the Texas Department of Insurance, tgteater of statutory net
income for the prior calendar year or 10% of statupolicyholders’ surplus as of the prior year eBividends may only be
paid from unassigned surplus funds. HIC, domicifedrizona, is limited in the payment of dividentisthe lesser of 10% of
prior year policyholders surplus or prior year'st mevestment income, without prior written approedm the Arizona
Department of Insurance. HSIC, domiciled in Oklalgms limited in the payment of dividends to theager of 10% of prior
year policyholders’ surplus or prior year's statytmet income, not including realized capital gainéthout prior written
approval from the Oklahoma Insurance DepartmentlGiMomiciled in Ohio, is limited to the greater fi% of statutory
policyholders’ surplus as of the prior Decembero8ktatutory net income as of the prior Decembenathout prior written
approval from the Ohio Insurance Department. &ewnty mutual, dividends from HCM are payable ttigybiolders.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth information regamlishares of our common stock authorized for issmiam@er our equity
compensation plans as of December 31, 2010.

Number of securities

Number of securities remaining available
to be issued upon Weighted-average for futssednce
exercise of outstanding exercise price of uredgrity compensation
options, warrants and outstanding options, ng[axcluding securities
Plan Category rights warrants and rights reflected in coluf@a)j
@ (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holdérs 1,627,500 $9.66 392,501
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders - - -
Total 1,627,500 $9.66 392,501

1 Includes shares of our common stock authorizedsfarance under our 2005 Long Term Incentive Rlanwell as shares

of our common stock issuable upon exercise of aptmutstanding under our 1994 Non-Employee DireStock Option
Plan, which terminated in accordance with its tenmz004.

Issuer Repurchases

We did not repurchase any shares of our commotk skaing the fourth quarter of 2010.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative 5-yetal return attained by shareholders on Hallmack'simon stock
relative to the cumulative total returns of the NJ¥8) Composite index, the NASDAQ Insurance indexd #re S&P
Property & Casualty Insurance index. The graphksdhbe performance of a $100 investment in our comstock and in
each index (with the reinvestment of all dividenfilen December 31, 2005 through December 31, 2010

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Hallmark Financial Services, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index,
The S&P Property & Casualty Insurance Index And The Nasdaq Insurance Index
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*$100 invested on 12/31/05 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

Copyright© 2011 S&P, a division of The McGraw -Hill Companies Inc. All rights reserved.

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

Not applicable to smaller reporting company.
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Iltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion should be read togethéh wur consolidated financial statements and theesidhereto.
This discussion contains forward-looking statement®lease see “Risks Associated with Forward-Logkin
Statements in this Form 10-K” for a discussion ofng of the uncertainties, risks and assumptionsda®d with
these statements.

Overview

Hallmark is an insurance holding company whichotigh its subsidiaries, engages in the sale of ptypasualty
insurance products to businesses and individuals. BDsiness involves marketing, distributing, umdé@mg and
servicing our insurance products, as well as piogidther insurance related services. We pursuebosmess
activities through subsidiaries whose operatioesaaganized into business units and are suppostedibinsurance
carrier subsidiaries.

Our insurance activities are organized by busineds into the following reportable segments:

e Standard Commercial Segment. The Standard Commercial Segment includes thedatdn lines
commercial property/casualty insurance products aedvices handled by our Standard Commercial
business unit, that is comprised of our Americalirhkrk Insurance Services and ECM subsidiaries.

e Specialty Commercial SegmeniThe Specialty Commercial Segment includes thegxand surplus lines
commercial property/casualty and medical profesditiability insurance products and services hatdig
our E&S Commercial business unit, the general snainsurance products and services handled by our
General Aviation business unit and the commerciakss liability and umbrella products handled by ou
Excess & Umbrella business unit. Our E&S Comnarbusiness unit is comprised of our TGA, PAAC
and TGARSI subsidiaries. Our General Aviation bass unit is comprised of our Aerospace Insurance
Managers, ASRI and ACMG subsidiaries. Our Excesdr@brella business unit is compromised of our
HXS and HDS subsidiaries. The Excess & Umbrelldariass unit was acquired August 29, 2008.

* Personal Segment. The Personal Segment includes the non-standarsbmed automobile, low value
dwelling/homeowners, renters, motorcycle and bussirgito insurance products and services handledrby
Personal Lines business unit, that is comprisedroérican Hallmark General Agency, Inc. and Hallmark
Claims Services, Inc., both of which do businesslaltmark Insurance Company.

The retained premium produced by these reportaddgnents is supported by the following insurance pamy
subsidiaries:

* American Hallmark Insurance Company of Texapresently retains a portion of the risks on the
commercial property/casualty policies marketed inithe Standard Commercial Segment, retains agorti
of the risks on personal policies marketed withia Personal Segment and retains a portion of ke on
the commercial, medical professional liability amdation property/casualty policies marketed withe
Specialty Commercial Segment.

e Hallmark Specialty Insurance Companyresently retains a portion of the risks on thenegmrcial
property/casualty and medical professional liapiliolicies marketed within the Specialty Commercial
Segment.

e Hallmark Insurance Companypresently retains a portion of the risks on bdik personal policies
marketed within the Personal Segment and the comahand aviation property/casualty products marttet
within the Specialty Commercial Segment.

* Hallmark National Insurance Companywas acquired on December 31, 2010. Simultaneotis tée
closing of the acquisition, HNIC entered into reirence contracts with an affiliate of the selleAPEI,
pursuant to which SAPCI will handle all claims asmgsume all liabilities arising under policies igbuny
HNIC prior to the closing and a portion of the ligkes during a transition period of up to six ntba
following the closing. Commencing January 1, 20HNIC retains a portion of the risks on the persona
policies marketed within the Personal Segment.
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e Hallmark County Mutual Insurance Companycontrol and management was acquired effective HJne
2009 through the acquisition of all of the issued &autstanding shares of CYR Insurance Management
Company (“CYR"). CYR has as its primary asset anagement agreement with HCM which provides for
CYR to have management and control of HCM. HCMised to front certain lines of business in our
Specialty Commercial and Personal Segments in Tekese we previously produced policies for third
party county mutual insurance companies and reést00% for a fronting fee. HCM does not retaig an
business.

AHIC, HIC, and HSIC have entered into a poolingaagement pursuant to which AHIC retains 46.0%heftbtal net
premiums written by any of them, HIC retains 34.GP6ur total net premiums written by any of thend &SIC retains
19.9% of our total net premiums written by anyhah. Neither HCM nor HNIC is a party to the interpany pooling
arrangement.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The significant accounting policies requiring ostimates and judgments are discussed below. Ssirhages and
judgments are based on historical experience, @saiglaws and regulations, observance of induséyds and
information received from third parties. While tastimates and judgments associated with the aiplic of these
accounting policies may be affected by differerguasptions or conditions, we believe the estimatesjadgments
associated with the reported consolidated finansialement amounts are appropriate in the circurosta For
additional discussion of our accounting policiesg dlote 1 to the audited consolidated financiaestants included
in this report.

Valuation of investments.We complete a detailed analysis each quarter ®sasshether any decline in the fair
value of any investment below cost is deemed difeen-temporary. All securities with an unrealizedd are
reviewed. We recognize an impairment loss whemaastment’s value declines below cost, adjustedéaretion,
amortization and previous other-than-temporary immpants and it is determined that the decline isepthan-
temporary.

Equity Investments Some of the factors considered in evaluatingtimdrea decline in fair value for an
equity investment is other-than-temporary includg:our ability and intent to retain the investmémt a period of
time sufficient to allow for an anticipated recoyén value; (2) the recoverability of cost; (3) tlemgth of time and
extent to which the fair value has been less thast; @nd (4) the financial condition and near-temd long-term
prospects for the issuer, including the relevaniugtry conditions and trends, and implications atfng agency
actions and offering prices. When it is determitieat an equity investment is other-than-temporanipaired, the
security is written down to fair value, and the amibof the impairment is included in earnings asealized
investment loss. The fair value then becomes theauest basis of the investment, and any subseqeeaveries in
fair value are recognized at disposition. We reca realized loss when impairment is deemed totber-than-
temporary even if a decision to sell an equity stweent has not been made. When we decide to sethporarily
impaired available-for-sale equity investment arel do not expect the fair value of the equity inwesit to fully
recover prior to the expected time of sale, theegtment is deemed to be other-than-temporarily iragan the
period in which the decision to sell is made.

Debt Investments We assess whether we intend to sell, or itasentikely than not that we will be required
to sell, a fixed maturity investment before recgvef its amortized cost basis less any currentgoecredit losses.
For fixed maturity investments that are considestiter-than-temporarily impaired and that we dointénd to sell
and will not be required to sell, we separate tinewunt of the impairment into the amount that iddreelated (credit
loss component) and the amount due to all othe@oifac The credit loss component is recognizedaimiags and is
the difference between the investment’s amortizest basis and the present value of its expectenefutash flows.
The remaining difference between the investmemtisvalue and the present value of future expectsth flows is
recognized in other comprehensive income

Fair values of financial instrumentsASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a condistamework for measuring
fair value and expands disclosure requirements tafau value measurements. ASC 820, among otherg#hi
requires us to maximize the use of observable snpatl minimize the use of unobservable inputs wheasuring
fair value. In addition, ASC 820 precludes the aéblock discounts when measuring the fair valuénsfruments
traded in an active market, which were previouglgli?d to large holdings of publicly traded equsgcurities.

Effective January 1, 2008, we determine the falueaf our financial instruments based on the ¥aiue hierarchy
established in ASC 820. In accordance with ASC, 820utilize the following fair value hierarchy:

e Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for idesitassets;
e Level 2: inputs to the valuation methodology in@uguoted prices for similar assets and liabilities
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in active markets, inputs of identical assets &sslactive markets, and inputs that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or iméctly, for substantially the full term of the instnent;
and

« Level 3: inputs to the valuation methodology that anobservable for the asset or liability.
This hierarchy requires the use of observable mat¥& when available.

Under ASC 820, we determine fair value based orptlee that would be received for an asset or paiglansfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between margetticipants on the measurement date. It is olicyoto maximize
the use of observable inputs and minimize the fismobservable inputs when developing fair valuasueements,
in accordance with the fair value hierarchy desatiabove. Fair value measurements for assetsadilities where
there exists limited or no observable market datacalculated based upon our pricing policy, thenemic and
competitive environment, the characteristics ofdhset or liability and other factors as appropriathese estimated
fair values may not be realized upon actual salenarediate settlement of the asset or liability.

Where quoted prices are available on active examifgy identical instruments, investment securigies classified
within Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy. Leveirivestment securities include common and prefestedk.

Level 2 investment securities include corporatedsoollateralized corporate bank loans, munidjmedds, and U.S.
Treasury securities for which quoted prices areavailable on active exchanges for identical insgnts. We use a
third party pricing service to determine fair vaduer each Level 2 investment security in all asdasses. Since
quoted prices in active markets for identical assa&e not available, these prices are determined) wbservable
market information such as quotes from less activarkets and/or quoted prices of securities withilaim
characteristics, among other things. We have readethe processes used by the pricing service areldetermined
that they result in fair values consistent with tequirements of ASC 820 for Level 2 investmermtsities.

In cases where there is limited activity or lessigparency around inputs to the valuation, investreecurities are
classified within Level 3 of the valuation hieraychLevel 3 investments are valued based on thedweslable data
in order to approximate fair value. This data rbayinternally developed and consider risk premitinas a market
participant would require. Investment securitigassified within Level 3 include other less liquidvestment
securities.

Deferred policy acquisition costs. Policy acquisition costs (mainly commission, umeiiing and marketing
expenses) that vary with and are primarily reldtedhe production of new and renewal business aferadd and
charged to operations over periods in which thateel premiums are earned. Ceding commissions ffeamsurers,
which include expense allowances, are deferred rasdgnized over the period premiums are earnedtHfer
underlying policies reinsured.

The method followed in computing deferred policguaisition costs limits the amount of such defertedts to their
estimated realizable value. A premium deficiengists if the sum of expected claim costs and clagjustment
expenses, unamortized acquisition costs, and nma@int® costs exceeds related unearned premiumsxaedted
investment income on those unearned premiums, mpwed on a product line basis. We routinely evalube
realizability of deferred policy acquisition costét December 31, 2010 and 2009, there was no pmandeficiency
related to deferred policy acquisition costs.

Goodwill. Our consolidated balance sheet as of DecembeR@) includes goodwill of acquired businesses of
$43.6 million that is assigned to our businesssuagt follows: Standard Commercial business u.1 million;
E&S Commercial business unit - $18.8 million; Gextefviation business unit - $9.7 million; Persorahes
business unit - $5.3 million; and Excess & Umbréllsiness unit - $7.7 million. This amount has bexorded as a
result of prior business acquisitions accounted doder the purchase method of accounting. Under B-AS
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 35Mhtangibles- Goodwill and Other”, (“ASC 350”) gdwill is
tested for impairment annually. We completed ost &nnual test for impairment during the fourth rteraof 2010
and determined that there was no impairment.

A significant amount of judgment is required in foeming goodwill impairment tests. Such tests in@westimating
the fair value of our reporting units. As requiteg ASC 350, we compare the estimated fair valueazh reporting
unit with its carrying amount, including goodwillnder ASC 350, fair value refers to the amountvitrich the
entire reporting unit may be bought or sold.

The determination of fair value was based on migltimluation approaches including an income appraaitizing
discounted cash flows and a market approach uigizibservable key ratios of peer companies. Theatian
methodologies utilized are subject to key judgmanis assumptions. Estimates of fair value arerertily uncertain
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and represent management’s reasonable expectagarding future developments. These estimates thad
judgments and assumptions upon which the estinsate®ased will, in all likelihood, differ in somespects from
actual future results. Declines in estimated Yailue could result in goodwill impairments in fuguperiods which
could materially adversely affect our results oégtions or financial position.

The income approach to determining fair value camgbuhe projections of the cash flows that the répg unit is
expected to generate converted into a present \eguivalent through discounting. Significant asptiomns in the
income approach model include income projectioriscadint rates and terminal growth values. The rimeo
projections include modest premium growth rate20d1 based on our budgets in our business unitshwieiflect
the current competitive pricing environment. Bedgirgnin 2012, our premium growth assumptions refeecgturn to
a more favorable pricing environment. The incomaqmtions also include loss and LAE assumptionscivinéflect
recent historical trends and the movement towardsoee favorable pricing environment beginning ill20 The
income projections also include assumptions foreagp growth and investment yields which are basedudgets
and business plans for each of our business Uritsdiscount rate was based on a risk free rate pheta adjusted
equity risk premium and specific company risk pn@mi The assumptions were based on historical e,
expectations of future performance, expected martmtlitions and other factors requiring judgmerd astimates.
While we believe the assumptions used in these lmadere reasonable, the inherent uncertainty idiptiag future
performance and market conditions may change awerand influence the outcome of future testing.

The market approach to determining fair value zéili observable key metrics of similar peer comanigch as
price to earnings ratios for current year earnigs forecasted 2011 earnings. Additionally, tireaicapitalization
of earnings method was utilized.

The fair values of each of our business units ieexcess of their respective carrying values,udilg goodwill, as
a result of our last annual step one test for inmpant during the fourth quarter 2010. However%adecline in the
fair value of our Standard Commercial business, anit% decline in the fair value of our E&S Comnigrbusiness
unit, a 9% decline in the fair value of our Perddrines business unit, a 2% decline in the failueabf our General
Aviation business unit, or a 7% decline in the faiftue of our Excess & Umbrella business unit wchége caused
the carrying value of the respective businesstontite in excess of its fair value, resulting in tiezd to perform the
second step of impairment testing prescribed by A50, which could have resulted in an impairmeniotw
goodwiill.

The market capitalization of Hallmark’s common &td@as been below book value during 2010. We censidir
market capitalization in assessing the reasonasdeokthe fair values estimated for our busine$ss im connection
with our goodwill impairment testing. We believeetcurrent market displacement caused by globah&ial market
conditions, including the credit crisis, as wellths limited daily trading volume of Hallmark shareas resulted in a
decrease in our market capitalization that is m@resentative of a long-term decrease in valuee Vdluation
analysis discussed above supports our view thatwgidias not impaired at December 31, 2010.

While we believe the estimates and assumptions usatbtermining the fair value of our business sinitere
reasonable, actual results could vary materiallfy.our actual results are not consistent with ostineates and
assumptions used to calculate fair value, we mayegired to perform the second step of impairmtesting
prescribed by ASC 350 in future periods and impairtrof goodwill could result. We cannot predictuie events
that might impact the fair value of our businesgsuand goodwill impairment. Such events includet are not
limited to, increase@ompetition in insurance markets and global economic changes.

Deferred tax assets.We file a consolidated federal income tax retuieferred federal income taxes reflect the
future tax consequences of differences betweertathdases of assets and liabilities and their fir@reporting
amounts at each year end. Deferred taxes aremizeagusing the liability method, whereby tax rades applied to
cumulative temporary differences based on whentewd they are expected to affect the tax returnfeiDed tax
assets and liabilities are adjusted for tax ranghs. A valuation allowance is provided againstdeferred tax
assets to the extent that we do not believe itasentikely than not that future taxable income Vbi# adequate to
realize these future tax benefits.

Reserves for unpaid losses and LAEReserves for unpaid losses and LAE are establiftveclaims that have
already been incurred by the policyholder but whigh have not yet paid. Unpaid losses and LAE ssrethe
estimated ultimate net cost of all reported andeparted losses incurred through each balance staet The
reserves for unpaid losses and LAE are estimatety usdividual case-basis valuations and statistazalyses.
These reserves are revised periodically and arecuto the effects of trends in loss severity &eduency. (See
“Item 1. Business — Analysis of Losses and LAE” &#halysis of Loss and LAE Reserve Development.”)

Although considerable variability is inherent inchuestimates, we believe that our reserves for idnpases and
LAE are adequate. Due to the inherent uncertamgstimating unpaid losses and LAE, the actuahnaite amounts
may differ from the recorded amounts. A small paetage change could result in a material effecteported
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earnings. For example, a 1% change in Decembe2@®1) reserves for unpaid losses and LAE would Ipawduced
a $2.5 million change to pretax earnings. Therests are continually reviewed and adjusted asrexqe develops
or new information becomes known. Such adjustmamsncluded in current operations.

An actuarial range of ultimate unpaid losses ané lig\developed independent of management’s bdgetagstand is
only used to assess the reasonableness of thatésti There is no exclusive method for determirimig range, and
judgment enters into the process. The primary aietugechnique utilized is a loss development asialyn which

ultimate losses are projected based upon histodieaélopment patterns. The primary assumptioredyidg this

loss development analysis is that the historicaletimment patterns will be a reasonable predicfothe future

development of losses for accident years whichlese mature. An alternate actuarial technique, knew the
Bornhuetter-Ferguson method, combines an analy$is® development patterns with an initial estienatt expected
losses or loss ratios. This approach is most usefuecent accident years. In addition to assunthe stability of
loss development patterns, this technique is hga@pendent on the accuracy of the initial estintdtexpected
losses or loss ratios. Consequently, the Bornbu&rguson method is primarily used to confirmnbsults derived
from the loss development analysis.

The range of unpaid losses and LAE estimated byaourary as of December 31, 2010 was $198.3 mitbhap261.0
million. Our best estimate of unpaid losses andElas of December 31, 2010 is $251.7 million. Carried reserve
for unpaid losses and LAE as of December 31, 281€omprised of $132.2 million in case reserves &ht9.5
million in incurred but not reported reserves. skiting this estimate of unpaid losses and LAE haee assumed,
among other things, that current trends in losgueacy and severity will continue and that the agéh analysis was
empirically valid. We have established a bestneste of unpaid losses and LAE, which is approxitya$22.0
million higher than the midpoint or 96.4% of thegyhiend of the actuarial range at December 31, 281€bmpared
to $12.5 million above the midpoint or 94.2% of thigh end of the actuarial range at December 30920We
expect our best estimate to move within the acilaasnge from year to year due to changes in oeraijns and
changes within the marketplace. Due to the inttemapertainty in reserve estimates, there can bassarance that
the actual losses ultimately experienced will fitthin the actuarial range. However, because efltteadth of the
actuarial range, we believe that it is reasonakbly that actual losses will fall within such rang

Our reserve requirements are also interrelated pvitduct pricing and profitability. We must prioar products at a
level sufficient to fund our policyholder benefdsd still remain profitable. Because claim expsn&present the
single largest category of our expenses, inacoesdni the assumptions used to estimate the amdwsnich benefits
can result in our failing to price our products agpiately and to generate sufficient premiums todf our
operations.

Recognition of profit sharing commissionsProfit sharing commission is calculated and recgd when the loss
ratio, as determined by a qualified actuary, degdtom contractual targets. We receive a pronai@ommission
as policies are produced as an advance againsatdredetermination of the profit sharing commissiactually

earned. The profit sharing commission is an edéntlaat varies with the estimated loss ratio andeigsitive to

changes in that estimate.

The following table details the profit sharing comsion revenue sensitivity of the Standard Comna¢®égment to
the actual ultimate loss ratio for each effectivmtq share treaty at 5.0% above and below the muestimate,
which we believe is a reasonably likely range afargce ($ in thousands).

Treaty Effective Dates

7/1/01 7/1/02 7/1/03 7/1/04
Provisional loss ratio 60.0% 59.0% 59.0% 64.2%
Estimated ultimate loss ratio recorded at
December 31, 2010 63.5% 64.5% 67.0% 59.4%
Effect of actual 5.0% above estimated loss ratio
at December 31, 2010 - - - ($2,793)
Effect of actual 5.0% below estimated loss ratio
at December 31, 2010 $1,850 $3,055 $3,360 $2,793

The following table details the profit sharing comsion revenue sensitivity of the Specialty Comriadi8egment
for each effective quota share treaty at 5.0% alzond below the current estimate, which we belis\gereasonably
likely range of variance ($ in thousands).
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Treaty Effective Dates

1/1/06 1/1/07 1/1/08
Provisional loss ratio 65.0% 65.0% 65.0%
Estimated ultimate loss ratio recorded at
December 31, 2010 57.8% 61.5% 58.6%
Effect of actual 5.0% above estimated loss ratio
at December 31, 2010 ($3,096) ($1,635) ($1,618)
Effect of actual 5.0% below estimated loss ratio
at December 31, 2010 $2,360 $2,351 $1,503

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years ended December 31, 2010 and Decembh@089

Management overviewDuring fiscal 2010, our total revenues were $30illion, representing an approximately
7% increase over the $287.0 million in total reventor fiscal 2009. The increase in revenue ferybar ended
December 31, 2010 was primarily attributable taéased production in our Personal Segment duedgrgghic
expansion, increased retention of business in qeci8@lty Commercial Segment and gains realized on o
investment portfolio. These increases in revenueepartially offset by reduced earned premium in $tandard
Commercial Segment due to the deterioration ofgér@eral economic environment in our major markats lawer
commission and fees in our Specialty Commercialn8ad due primarily to the shift from a third padggency
structure to an insurance underwriting structure.

We reported net income attributable to Hallmar$®f3 million for the year ended December 31, 2@bypared to
$24.6 million for the year ended December 31, 20@n a diluted per share basis, net income atatidatto

Hallmark was $0.36 for fiscal 2010 as comparedid $ for fiscal 2009. The decrease in net incéonghe year
ended December 31, 2010 was primarily due to iseaurrent accident year loss and LAE mostly ahise
increased volatility of large losses, greater thaticipated Personal Segment expansion into Flaitthweather
related losses. Unfavorable prior year loss dgrakmt of $9.2 million for the year ended Decembkr2010 as
compared to $1.6 million for the same period du20§9 also contributed to the decrease in net iecoRartially
offsetting the increased loss and LAE was the Bsgein revenue discussed above, as well as lowenatipg

expenses due to lower production related expensesriStandard Commercial Segment and Specialtyn@aial

Segment and lower general and administrative é¢nstsir Standard Commercial SegmenOur effective income
tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2010 W&¥d as compared to the 25.9% effective incomease for

the same period during 2009. The decrease in fieetige tax rate was primarily due to an increasethe

proportion of tax exempt income relative to tote¢{ax income and the recognition of tax benefgted to the
disposal of certain securities.
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Segment information. The following is additional business segment iinfation for the years ended December 31,
2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2010

Standard Specialty
Commercial Commercial Personal

Segment Segment Segment Corporate Consolidated
Produced premium (1) $ 67,844 $ 151,721 $ 95292 $ - $ 314,857
Gross premiums written 67,832 157,849 95,292 - 320,973
Ceded premiums written (4,260) (34,876) (196) - (39,332)
Net premiums written 63,572 122,973 95,096 - 281,641
Change in unearned premiums 1,999 1,125 (6,494) - (3,370)
Net premiums earned 65,571 124,098 88,602 - 278,271
Total revenues 69,670 131,076 96,741 9,573 307,060
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 51,468 78,911 72,165 - 202,544
Pre-tax income (loss), net of non-controlling interest (2,316) 13,315 (705) (2,135) 8,159
Net loss ratio (2) 78.5% 63.6% 81.4% 72.8%
Net expense ratio (2) 30.7% 29.7% 22.4% 29.6%
Net combined ratio (2) 109.2% 93.3% 103.8% 102.4%

Year Ended December 31, 2009

Standard Specialty
Commercial Commercial Personal

Segment Segment Segment Corporate Consolidated
Produced premium (1) $ 72,512  $ 144230 $ 71,708 $ - $ 288,450
Gross premiums written 72,512 143,338 71,708 - 287,558
Ceded premiums written (4,430) (21,388) - - (25,818)
Net premiums written 68,082 121,950 71,708 - 261,740
Change in unearned premiums 3,208 (9,680) (4,196) - (10,668)
Net premiums earned 71,290 112,270 67,512 - 251,072
Total revenues 76,496 131,504 73,785 5,254 287,039
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 44,372 65,453 43,794 - 153,619
Pre-tax income (loss), net of non-controlling interest 9,266 20,883 11,000 (7,944) 33,205
Net loss ratio (2) 62.2% 58.3% 64.9% 61.2%
Net expense ratio (2) 31.3% 30.1% 21.6% 30.5%
Net combined ratio (2) 93.5% 88.4% 86.5% 91.7%

1 Produced premium is a non-GAAP measurement tlatagement uses to track total premium produced usyoperations. Produced premium excludes
unaffiliated third party premium fronted on our HC3dbsidiary. We believe this is a useful tool éisers of our financial statements to measure emjm
production whether retained by our insurance comgaisidiaries or assumed by third party insuraacgers who pay us commission revenue.

2 The net loss ratio is calculated as ireditosses and LAE divided by net premiums earngéch éetermined in accordance with GAAP. The npeese ratio is
calculated for our business units that retain 1aff%roduced premium as total operating expenseshimnit offset by agency fee income, divided ey n
premiums earned, each determined in accordanceG#ithP. For the business units that do not ret@@% of the produced premium, the net expense igtio
calculated as underwriting expenses of the inserammpany subsidiaries for the unit offset by agefee income, divided by net premiums earned, each
determined in accordance with GAAP. Net combiraibris calculated as the sum of the net loss eatibthe net expense ratio.
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Standard Commercial Segmentsross premiums written for the Standard Comme®@eament were $67.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2010, which wag #84llion, or approximately 6%, less than the $7&hBlion
reported for the same period in 2009. Net premiwrigen were $63.6 million for the year ended Daber 31,
2010 as compared to $68.1 million reported for shene period in 2009. The decrease in premium velams
predominately due to the deterioration of the galneconomic environment, particularly in the constion industry,
reducing the available insured exposures.

Total revenue for the Standard Commercial Segme®68.7 million for the year ended December 31, ®20ds
$6.8 million less than the $76.5 million reportadidg the year ended December 31, 2009. This %fedse in total
revenue was primarily due to decreased net premiensed of $5.7 million and lower net investmerntome of
$0.5 million during 2010. Further contributing ttis decrease in revenue were profit sharing adieists of $0.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2010 aspaoed to $0.3 million for the year ended Decemler2809.
The profit sharing commission adjustments relateddverse loss development on prior accident years.

Our Standard Commercial Segment reported pre-sx ¢d $2.3 million for the year ended DecemberZ1,0 as
compared to pre-tax income of $9.3 million for #eme period of 2009. Higher loss and LAE of $7illian,
primarily as a result of increased volatility ofde property losses, weather related losses aravargble prior year
development, and decreased revenue were the pridnaers of the pre-tax loss for the year endeddbawer 31,
2010. Partially offsetting the decline in pre-t@sults were lower operating expenses of $2.3 millioven by lower
general and administrative costs due to benefitsegafrom cost saving measures and lower produatiated
expenses.

The net loss ratio for the year ended DecembeRB310 was 78.5% as compared to the 62.2% reportettidocsame
period of 2009. The gross loss ratio before reiusce was 82.6% for the year ended December 31, 2610
compared to 62.1% for the same period the prior.yeBhe higher gross and net loss ratio for ther yeaded
December 31, 2010 was impacted by an increased ewafibarge property losses, including weathertegldosses.
Further contributing to the higher gross and nes I@tio for the year ended December 31, 2010 wasillion of
unfavorable prior year development as comparedlt8 illion of favorable prior year development the same
period during the prior year. The Standard Commaéisegment reported net expense ratios of 30.7%3ar8% for
the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, raspgct

Specialty Commercial Segment. The $131.1 million of total revenue for the yemded December 31, 2010 was
$0.4 million lower than the $131.5 million reportéat 2009. This decrease in revenue was primaoiygrised of
lower commission and fee income of $13.1 milliom@rily related to the shift from a third party agg structure to
an insurance underwriting structure. Decreased&ieaharges of $0.3 million further contributedhis decrease in
revenue. This decrease in revenue was partialgebffy increased net premiums earned of $11.8omitlis a result
of the increased retention of business in our E&Bn@ercial business unit and increased earned pnermuour
Excess & Umbrella business unit. Net investmentiine also increased $1.2 million.

Pre-tax income for the Specialty Commercial Segroé#t.3.3 million was $7.6 million lower than th2®9 million
reported in 2009. The decrease in pre-tax incongepsianarily due to decreased revenue discusseceadroy higher
loss and LAE expenses of $13.5 million. Increaaptbrtization of intangible assets of $0.5 milli@lated to our
acquisition of CYR on June 5, 2009 further contrdnlito the decrease in pre-tax income. The decilieagee-tax
income was partially offset by lower operating exgess of $6.8 million. The decrease in operatingeaze was the
combined result of (i) lower production related empes of $7.1 million due primarily to lower comsiig expense
and fronting fees in our E&S Commercial businesgt as we began direct writing and retaining 100%tlué
business during 2009, and to increased quota slediag commissions in our Excess & Umbrella busingst due
to increased ceded premiums, (ii) lower salary mtated expenses of $0.2 million, partially offbgt(iii) increased
other operating expenses of $0.5 million, primadlye to increased professional fees. The Spedzdtymercial
Segment reported a net loss ratio of 63.6% for 284 @ompared to 58.3% for 2009. The gross lo$s bafore
reinsurance was 61.9% for the year ended Decenthe2(®@0 as compared to 57.8% for the same periegrior
year. The higher gross and net loss ratio was détegaby increased volatility in large general ligpi commercial
automobile and aircraft hull losses in the curr@ettident year. The gross loss results for the yeaded December
31, 2010 and 2009 included $1.5 million and $4.4ioni of unfavorable prior year development, redpety. The
Specialty Commercial Segment reported a net expeatieeof 29.7% for 2010 as compared to 30.1% IR

Personal Segment.Net premium written for our Personal Segmenteased $23.4 million during the year ended
December 31, 2010 to $95.1 million compared to Biillion in the year ended December 31, 2009. ihbesase
in premium was due mostly to continued geograpkjgaasion.

Total revenue for the Personal Segment increasegt81$96.7 million for the year ended DecemberZ1,0 from
$73.8 million the prior year. Higher earned premiof $21.1 million was the primary reason for therease in
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revenue for the period. Increased finance chaofi®d.5 million and net investment income of $0.®ian further
contributed to this increase in revenue.

Our Personal Segment reported pre-tax loss of #fllibn for the year ended December 31, 2010 aspaoed to
pre-tax income of $11.0 million for the same peradd®009. The increased revenue, as discussed atvageoffset
by increased losses and LAE of $28.4 million andréased operating expenses of $6.2 million due lynost
production related expenses attributable to theeased earned premium.

The Personal Segment reported a net loss ratidl @98 for the year ended December 31, 2010 as caupar
64.9% for the prior year. The increase in thelos$ ratio was due largely to higher than anti@dagrowth in
Florida. During 2010, Florida accounted for 14.3%4he earned premium for our Personal Segment agpared to
4.7% for the same period during 2009. The net lag® for Florida was 132.2% for 2010, which e@sato
approximately 848 basis points of the 81.4% nes$ laio reported for the year ended December 310.20he
Personal Segment recognized $3.1 million of unfabler prior accident year development during ther yraled
December 31, 2010 as compared to favorable pricident year development of $1.0 million during tfear ended
December 31, 2009. The Personal Segment repometl @xpense ratio of 22.4% for the year ended ibbee 31,
2010 as compared to 21.6% for the prior year.

Corporate. Total revenue for corporate increased by $4.8anifor the year ended December 31, 2010 as cosdpar
to the prior year. Recognized gains of $8.4 million our investment portfolio during 2010 as coregato
recognized gains of $3.0 million on our investmgaittfolio during the same period in 2009 were pdistioffset by
lower net investment income of $1.1 million printardue to increased allocated capital to our bussinenits to
support the growth in production in our Persona Specialty Commercial Segments.

Corporate pre-tax loss was $2.1 million for theryeaded December 31, 2010 as compared to $7.Dmiltir the

prior year. The decrease in pre-tax loss was mdsi to the increased revenue discussed aboviewed operating
expenses of $1.3 million for the year ended DecerBhe2010 as compared to the prior year. The dipgraxpense
reduction for the year ended December 31, 2010 gammrily from lower professional fees of $0.8 liih, lower

expense related to stock options granted to emptogiad directors of $0.2 million and lower salamg ather related
expenses of $0.3 million. Further contributingthe lower pre-tax loss for the year ended Decerflier2010 as
compared to the same period during 2009 was desdemmortization of intangible assets of $0.2 millio

Comparison of Years ended December 31, 2009 anceber 31, 2008

Management overview.During fiscal 2009, our total revenues were $28iillion, representing an approximate
7% increase over the $268.7 million in total revendor fiscal 2008. This increase in revenue wasarily
attributable to increased earned premium due toe&sed retention of business in our Specialty Coriade
Segment, the acquisition of our Excess & Umbrellesitbess unit in the third quarter of 2008 and iaseel
production by our Personal Segment. Further cautirig to this increase in revenue was recognizedsgan our
investment portfolio of $3.0 million for fiscal ye@009 as compared to recognized losses of $11l@mnior fiscal
year 2008. Increased revenue was partially offgaeduced earned premium in our Standard Commeseagment
due to the deterioration of the general economigrenment in our major markets and by lower cominissand fee
income in our Specialty Commercial Segment due griignto increased retention of premium.

We reported net income of $24.6 million for the yeaded December 31, 2009, compared to $12.9 mifbo the
year ended December 31, 2008. On a diluted pee s¥&sis, net income was $1.19 for fiscal 2009cespared to
$0.62 for fiscal 2008. The increase in net incomaes primarily attributable to increased revenwsEdssed above
offset by increased loss and LAE due mostly toéased net premiums written in both the Specialtyn@ercial
Segment and Personal Segment, as discussed alsowe]las unfavorable prior year development ob$illion
for fiscal year 2009 as compared to favorable dgwekent of $1.8 million during 2008.
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Segment information. The following is additional business segment iinfation for the years ended December 31,

2009 and 2008 (in thousands):

Produced premium (1)

Gross premiums written

Ceded premiums written

Net premiums written

Change in unearned premiums
Net premiums earned

Total revenues
Losses and loss adjustment expenses

Pre-tax income (loss), net of non-controlling et

Net loss ratio (2)
Net expense ratio (2)
Net combined ratio (2)

Produced premium (1)

Gross premiums written

Ceded premiums written

Net premiums written

Change in unearned premiums
Net premiums earned

Total revenues
Losses and loss adjustment expenses
Pre-tax income (loss)

Net loss ratio (2)
Net expense ratio (2)
Net combined ratio (2)

1 Produced premium is a non-GAAP measurement tlatagement uses to track total premium produced usyoperations.

Year Ended December 31, 2009

Standard Specialty
Commercial Commercial Personal
Segment Segment Segment Corporate Consolidated
$ 72,512 $ 144,230 $ 71,708 - $ 288,450
72,512 143,338 71,708 - 287,558
(4,430) (21,388) - - (25,818)
68,082 121,950 71,708 - 261,740
3,208 (9,680) (4,196) - (10,668)
71,290 112,270 67,512 - 251,072
76,496 131,504 73,785 5,254 287,039
44,372 65,453 43,794 - 153,619
9,266 20,883 11,000 (7,944) 33,205
62.2% 58.3% 64.9% 61.2%
31.3% 30.1% 21.6% 30.5%
93.5% 88.4% 86.5% 91.7%

Year Ended December 31, 2008

Standard Specialty
Commercial Commercial Personal
Segment Segment Segment Corporate Consolidated
$ 80,193 $ 146,054 $ 60,834 - $ 287,081
80,190 102,825 60,834 - 243,849
(4,829) (4,093) - - (8,922)
75,361 98,732 60,834 - 234,927
4,434 (1,226) (1,815) - 1,393
79,795 97,506 59,019 - 236,320
84,075 127,882 64,475 (7,742) 268,690
49,270 55,933 39,042 1) 144,244
9,683 21,328 8,989 (18,926) 21,074
61.7% 57.4% 66.2% 61.0%
30.8% 30.7% 22.0% 30.6%
92.5% 88.1% 88.2% 91.6%

Produced premium excludes

unaffiliated third party premium fronted on our HC3dbsidiary. We believe this is a useful tool éisers of our financial statements to measure emjm
production whether retained by our insurance comsaibsidiaries or assumed by third party insuraacgers who pay us commission revenue.

2 The net loss ratio is calculated as ireifosses and LAE divided by net premiums eareadh determined in accordance with GAAP. The rpéese ratio is
calculated for our business units that retain 1aff%roduced premium as total operating expenseshfmnit offset by agency fee income, divided ey n
premiums earned, each determined in accordanceG#ithP. For the business units that do not ret@@% of the produced premium, the net expense igtio
calculated as underwriting expenses of the insg@r@wmpany subsidiaries for the unit offset by ageflee income, divided by net premiums earned, each
determined in accordance with GAAP. Net combira@ris calculated as the sum of the net loss eat@the net expense ratio.
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Standard Commercial SegmentGross premiums written for the Standard Comme@&ment were $72.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2009, which was Sifllion, or approximately 10%, less than the £8fhillion
reported for the same period in 2008. Net premiwritten were $68.1 million for the year ended Daber 31,
2009 as compared to $75.4 million reported for shene period in 2008. The decrease in premium velums
predominately due to the deterioration of the gelheconomic environment, particularly in the constion industry,
reducing the available insured exposures.

Total revenue for the Standard Commercial Segme®#76.5 million for the year ended December 31, 20@&s
$7.6 million less than the $84.1 million reportadidg the year ended December 31, 2008. This appedely 9%
decrease in total revenue was primarily due to ebsmd net premiums earned of $8.5 million and lomedr
investment income of $0.6 million during 2009. Lewprocessing and services fees of $0.1 milliorth&mr
contributed to this decrease in revenue. Thesesdses in revenue were partially offset by profitrsig commission
adjustments of $0.3 million recognized for the yemded December 31, 2009 as compared to profiinghar
commission adjustments of $1.9 million recognized the year ended December 31, 2008. The proéitisy
commission adjustments related to adverse losdaj@went on prior accident years.

Pre-tax income for our Standard Commercial Segnoér$9.3 million for the year ended December 31, 200
decreased $0.4 million, or approximately 4%, fréva $9.7 million reported for the same period of20Decreased
revenue as discussed above was the primary reasdhef decrease in pre-tax income, offset by lou@sses and
LAE of $4.9 million and lower operating expense$2f3 million primarily due to lower production a¢éd expenses
during 2009 as a result of lower produced premium.

The net loss ratio for the year ended DecembeR309 was 62.2% as compared to the 61.7% reportetidssame
period of 2008. The gross loss ratio before reisce was 62.1% for the year ended December 31, 3609
compared to 67.4% for the same period the prior.y@&e gross loss results for the year ended Dbeeiil, 2009
and 2008 included $1.8 million and $2.4 millionfaforable prior year development, respectively. Ghess loss
results for fiscal 2008 also included $10.9 milliofi hurricane related losses ($4.4 million net efnsurance
recoveries). The Standard Commercial Segment tegoiet expense ratios of 31.3% and 30.8% for éaesyended
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Specialty Commercial Segment. The $131.5 million of total revenue for the yesaded December 31, 2009 was
$3.6 million higher than the $127.9 million repartr 2008. This increase in revenue was largely uincreased
net premiums earned of $14.8 million as a resulthefincreased retention of business and the atiqni®f the
Excess & Umbrella business unit during the thirérter of 2008. Increased net investment incoméribated an
additional $0.7 million to the increase in reverioefiscal 2009. These increases were partiallgetfby (a) lower
commission income of $8.6 million due primarily bocreased retention of premium, (b) lower profitashg
commission income of $3.0 million due to higherergton of premium in the more recent treaty periadsvell as
adverse loss development on the earlier treatpgeriand (c) reduced finance charges of $0.3 millio

Pre-tax income for the Specialty Commercial Segmés20.9 million was $0.4 million lower than th22%3 million
reported in 2008. Increased revenue, discussedeaheas offset by increased losses and LAE of $9lbom
Increased revenue was complemented by lower exparisks.5 million. These lower operating expernfeediscal
2009 were primarily the combined result of (a) a2$dillion premium receivable write-off due to tdefault of a
producer in our E&S Commercial business unit duthmgthird quarter of 2008, lower production rethéxpenses of
$4.1 million due to lower produced premium, and dowperating expenses of $2.0 million in our GehAkaation
business unit and E&S Commercial business unitighigroffset by (b) increased operating expense$1o4 million
and increased amortization of intangible asset®00of million, in both cases related to the acgoisibf our Excess
& Umbrella business unit effective August 29, 2008.

The Specialty Commercial Segment reported a nstriat®o of 58.3% for 2009 as compared to 57.4%2668. The
gross loss ratio before reinsurance was 57.8%hiiyear ended December 31, 2009 as compared t&58r5the
same period the prior year. The gross loss refuitthe years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008dedt $4.4
million and $1.2 million of unfavorable prior yedevelopment, respectively. The gross loss resoitiscal 2008
also included $3.5 million of hurricane relatedses ($1.6 million net of reinsurance recoveries)e Bpecialty
Commercial Segment reported a net expense ra80.&Po for 2009 as compared to 30.7% for 2008.

Personal Segment.Net premium written for our Personal Segmenteased $10.9 million during the year ended
December 31, 2009 to $71.7 million compared to &6fillion in the year ended December 31, 2008. ifkhesase
in premium was due mostly to continued geograpkj@aasion.

Total revenue for the Personal Segment increaspbamately 14% to $73.8 million for the year end2elcember
31, 2009 from $64.5 million the prior year. Higtearned premium of $8.5 million was the primarysmafor the
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increase in revenue for the period. Increasedhfieacharges of $0.9 million and net investment imemf $0.1
million further contributed to this increase in eewe, offset by lower third party commission reveraf $0.2
million.

Pre-tax income for the Personal Segment was $1lli@mfor the year ended December 31, 2009 as @yeghto
$9.0 million the prior year. The increased reveragediscussed above, was offset by increasedsl@sse LAE of
$4.8 million and increased operating expenses & ##llion due mostly to production related expenadributable
to the increased earned premium. The Personal Gdggraported a net loss ratio of 64.9% for the yeraded
December 31, 2009 as compared to 66.2% for the pe@r. The decline in the net loss ragigrimarily aresult of
the maturing of the new business impact associatddgeographic expansion. The Personal Segmeogrézed
$1.0 million of favorable prior accident year dey@hent during the year ended December 31, 2008rapared to
favorable prior accident year development of $0ilian during the year ended December 31, 2008e Phrsonal
Segment reported a net expense ratio of 21.6%héoye¢ar ended December 31, 2009 as compared t#d@rCthe
prior year.

Corporate. Total revenue for corporate increased by $13.0iomifor the year ended December 31, 2009 as
compared to the prior year. Recognized gains d $dllion on our investment portfolio during 2088 compared

to recognized losses of $11.3 million on our inkeett portfolio during the same period in 2008 weaetially offset

by decreased investment income of $1.3 million grity due to lower yields.

Corporate pre-tax loss was $7.9 million for theryeaded December 31, 2009 as compared to $18.@mftr the
prior year. The decreased loss was mostly duleetintreased revenues discussed above partiaigtdffy increased
non-cash operating expenses of $0.6 million relatedstock option grants and higher periodic pensiosts,
increased other compensation expense of $0.4 miliod increased other operating expenses of $0l@mof
which $0.3 million related to a proxy contest. aliidition, increased intangible amortization of $@illion related to
our acquisition of CYR during the second quarte2@®9 further offset the increased revenue.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources and Uses of Funds

Our sources of funds are from insurance-relatecdadip@s, financing activities and investing actest Major

sources of funds from operations include premiumitected (net of policy cancellations and premiucesied),

commissions and processing and service fees. hWdding company, Hallmark is dependent on dividpagiments
and management fees from its subsidiaries to meetating expenses and debt obligations. As of Deeeril,

2010, Hallmark had $11.0 million in unrestrictedslcand invested assets. Unrestricted cash andtéavassets of
our non-insurance subsidiaries were $5.1 millionocAsDecember 31, 2010. As of that date, our inscea
subsidiaries held $44.4 million of cash and cashivedents as well as $388.4 million in debt sedesitwith an

average modified duration of 2.5 years. Accordingle do not anticipate selling long-term debtriastents to meet
any liquidity needs.

AHIC, domiciled in Texas, is limited in the paymaeuit dividends to their stockholders in any 12-mop#riod,
without the prior written consent of the Texas Dépant of Insurance, to the greater of statutotyimsome for the
prior calendar year or 10% of statutory policyhodeurplus as of the prior year end. Dividends/raaly be paid
from unassigned surplus funds. HIC, domiciled inzAna, is limited in the payment of dividends te tlesser of
10% of prior year policyholders’ surplus or pricgay's net investment income, without prior writeggproval from
the Arizona Department of Insurance. HSIC, domitile Oklahoma, is limited in the payment of dividerto the
greater of 10% of prior year policyholders’ surparsprior year’s statutory net income, not inclugirealized capital
gains, without prior written approval from the Okéama Insurance Department. HNIC, domiciled in Ofgdimited
in the payment of dividends to the greater of 1(%tatutory policyholders’ surplus as of the prisecember 31 or
statutory net income as of the prior December 3hawit prior written approval from the Ohio Insurarigepartment.
During 2011, the aggregate ordinary dividend capatfi these subsidiaries is $20.0 million, of whigh6.3 million
is available to Hallmark. As a county mutual, desidls from HCM are payable to policyholderblone of our
insurance company subsidiaries paid a dividenchduhie years ended December 31, 2010 or 2009.

The state insurance departments also regulatecimatransactions between our insurance subsidiaara their
affiliated companies. Applicable regulations requiipproval of management fees, expense sharingactsrand
similar transactions. American Hallmark GenerakAgy, Inc. paid $5.6 million, $5.6 million and $fllion in

management fees to Hallmark during 2010, 2009 &8 2respectively. HIC paid $1.2 million in managmnt fees
to American Hallmark General Agency, Inc. duringleaf 2010, 2009 and 2008. AHIC paid $4.4 milli¢4.5
million and $3.3 million in management fees to Aman Hallmark General Agency, Inc. during 2010, 2@hd
2008, respectively. HSIC paid $60,000 in managéfess to TGA during each of 2010, 2009, and 2008.

43



Statutory capital and surplus is calculated asustiat assets less statutory liabilities. The wasigtate insurance
departments that regulate our insurance compargidiakies require us to maintain a minimum statutapital and
surplus. As of December 31, 2010, our insurancepemy subsidiaries reported statutory capital anglss of
$182.5 million, substantially greater than the minim requirements for each state. Each of our &ma company
subsidiaries is also required to satisfy certasi-biased capital requirements. (See, “Item 1.&ass — Insurance
Regulation — Risk-based Capital Requirements.”s oA December 31, 2010, the adjusted capital utfteerisk-
based capital calculation of each of our insuranompany subsidiaries substantially exceeded theimmim
requirements. Our total statutory premium-to-suspbercentage for the years ended December 31, #1009
was 154% and 150%, respectively.

Comparison of December 31, 2010 to December 319200

On a consolidated basis, our cash and investmextijding restricted cash and investments, at Dbeer®1, 2010
were $493.0 million compared to $439.9 million adember 31, 2009. Increases in fair value of ouestment
portfolio for the period and cash from operatint\aiies were the primary reasons for this increase

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2010 andeDdzer 31, 2009

Net cash provided by our consolidated operatintyities was $36.4 million for the year ended Decem81, 2010
compared to $61.7 million for the year ended Decam®i, 2009. The decrease in operating cash flogvpsianarily
due to higher paid losses and lower collected cedirmmissions, partially offset by increased caddgremiums.

Cash used by investing activities during the yeateel December 31, 2010 was $88.0 million as condperé2.0
million for the prior year. Contributing to thedrease in cash used in investing activities wamenease of $116.3
million in purchases of debt and equity securitee$6.1 million decrease in cash flow from restictash accounts
and a $0.5 million increase in purchases of prgpand equipment. These increases in cash usedvagting
activities were partially offset by a $22.3 milliancrease in maturities, sales and redemptionsneéstment
securities and a $14.6 million increase in paymértacquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash reedi During 2010,
the payments for acquisitions of subsidiaries teglufrom a net cash inflow of $7.4 for which corsation of $14.0
million did not settle until January 2011 for theqaisition of HNIC. During 2009, the payments faqgaisitions of
subsidiaries resulted from the combined impact oetcash payment of $3.9 million, net of cash aeql for the
acquisition of a management agreement controlli@gtHand a $3.3 million payment of contingent consitien to
the sellers of the subsidiaries comprising our EZdBnmercial business unit.

Cash used in financing activities during the yeadezl December 31, 2010 was $0.1 million as comptrekb.6
million for the same period of 2009. The cash udadng 2009 was primarily for repayment of a npsyable by
our premium finance operation and for the repuretidighe Company’s common stock.

Credit Facilities

Our First Restated Credit Agreement with The Fidational Bank dated January 27, 2006 was most tigcen
amended effective May 27, 2010 to extend the tefrthe facility until May 27, 2012, provide for thepayment of
all amounts outstanding at termination on or befgpel 30, 2015, reduce the revolving commitmen®&0 million
from $25.0 million and eliminate the sub-facilitgrfpremium finance operations. This amendment &urtievised
various affirmative and negative covenants and gedrthe interest rate, at our election, to eithergrime rate or
LIBOR plus 2.5%. We pay an annual average fee 26%. of the average daily unused balance of thetdiadlity.
We pay letter of credit fees at the rate of 1.0086 gnnum. Our obligations under the revolving ttréatility are
secured by a security interest in the capital stfcéll of our subsidiaries, guarantees of all of seubsidiaries and
the pledge of all of our non-insurance companytass&he revolving credit facility contains covetathat, among
other things, require us to maintain certain finahand operating ratios and restrict certain thstions, transactions
and organizational changes. As of December 310,20& were in compliance with or had obtained wa\af all of
our covenants. As of December 31, 2010, we ha8i i$illion outstanding under this facility.

Subordinated Debt Securities

On June 21, 2005, we entered into a trust prefeseedrities transaction pursuant to which we issk&@l9 million

aggregate principal amount of subordinated dehirgexs due in 2035. To effect the transaction,farened Trust |

as a Delaware statutory trust. Trust | issued @30illion of preferred securities to investors @9 million of

common securities to us. Trust | used the procdeals these issuances to purchase the subordindabd

securities. Our Trust | subordinated debt se@agitiear an initial interest rate of 7.725% untiheJd5, 2015, at
which time interest will adjust quarterly to thedh-month LIBOR rate plus 3.25 percentage poiftsist | pays
dividends on its preferred securities at the saate rUnder the terms of our Trust | subordinatebit decurities, we
pay interest only each quarter and the principalth&f note at maturity. The subordinated debt $gesirare

uncollateralized and do not require maintenancenmimum financial covenants. As of December 31, ®0the

balance of our Trust | subordinated debt was $80ligon.
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On August 23, 2007, we entered into a trust prefesecurities transaction pursuant to which weeids$25.8
million aggregate principal amount of subordinatietht securities due in 2037. To effect the tratisacwe formed
Trust Il as a Delaware statutory trust. Trustsdued $25.0 million of preferred securities to stees and $0.8
million of common securities to us. Trust Il usth@ proceeds from these issuances to purchaseautioedinated
debt securities. Our Trust Il subordinated delousges bear an initial interest rate of 8.28%iluSeptember 15,
2017, at which time interest will adjust quartedythe three-month LIBOR rate plus 2.90 percentagjats. Trust Il
pays dividends on its preferred securities at thmes rate. Under the terms of our Trust Il subaidid debt
securities, we pay interest only each quarter dmd drincipal of the note at maturity. The suboatiéa debt
securities are uncollateralized and do not reguiaintenance of minimum financial covenants. As et&@mber 31,
2010, the balance of our Trust Il subordinated dedst $25.8 million.

Long-Term Contractual Obligations

Set forth below is a summary of long-term contrattbligations as of December 31, 2010. Amoungsasent
estimates of gross undiscounted amounts payabletiove. In addition, certain unpaid losses and L&E ceded to
others under reinsurance contracts and are, thergroverable. Such potential recoverables atregflected in the
table.

Estimated Payments by Period (in thousands)

Total 2011 2012-2013 2014-2015 After 2015

Notes payable $ 2,800% - % 980 $ 1,820 $ -
Subordinated debt securities 56,702 - - - 56,702
Interest on notes payable 268 79 134 55 -
Interest on subordinated debt securities 112,065 4,387 8,775 8,775 90,128
Unpaid losses and loss

adjustment expenses (1) 251,677 108,952 90,628 34,456 17,641
Operating leases 7,676 1,194 2,018 1,936 2,528
Purchase obligations 525 122 237 166 -

(1) The payout pattern for unpaid losses and dokigsstment expenses is based upon historical paypatterns and
does not represent actual contractual obligatioftse timing and amount ultimately paid will likelsary from these
estimates.

Based on 2011 budgeted and year-to-date cash fifmrnnation, we believe that we have sufficient lijty to meet
our projected insurance obligations, operationgle@ses and capital expenditure requirements fornthe 12
months.

Effects of Inflation

We do not believe that inflation has a materiaéefffon our results of operations, except for thiecefthat inflation
may have on interest rates and claim costs. Tieetefof inflation are considered in pricing antireating reserves
for unpaid losses and LAE. The actual effectsnfiition on results of operations are not knowrniluwiaims are
ultimately settled. In addition to general prio#ation, we are exposed to the upward trend irjubeial awards for
damages. We attempt to mitigate the effects ddfioh in the pricing of policies and establishimgerves for losses
and LAE.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk.

We believe that interest rate risk, credit risk andity risk are the types of market risk to whieh are principally
exposed.

Interest rate risk. Our investment portfolio consists largely of istrment-grade, fixed-income securities, all of
which are classified as available-for-sale. Accogd), the primary market risk exposure to thesaisges is interest
rate risk. In general, the fair value of a portfobf fixed-income securities increases or decreasassely with
changes in market interest rates, while net investnincome realized from future investments in dbiecome
securities increases or decreases along with Biteedes. The fair value of our fixed-income se@sias of
December 31, 2010 was $388.4 million. The effectiveation of our portfolio as of December 31, 201#s 2.5
years. Should interest rates increase 1.0%, oedfiRcome investment portfolio would be expectedi¢gline in
market value by 2.3%, or $9.0 million, representing effective duration multiplied by the changemarket interest
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rates. Conversely, a 1.0% decline in interest ratmsd be expected to result in a 2.3%, or $9.0ioni] increase in
the fair value of our fixed-income investment polits.

Credit risk . An additional exposure to our fixed-income se@siportfolio is credit risk. We attempt to manage

credit risk by investing primarily in investmentagie securities and limiting our exposure to a singsuer. As of
December 31, 2010, our fixed-income investmentsevirerthe following: U.S. Treasury bonds — 10.3%;niipal

bonds — 39.6%; collateralized corporate bank I6a@8.9%; corporate bonds — 22.0%; and asset-backe#%. As
of December 31, 2010, 74.8% of our fixed-incomeusiéies were rated investment-grade by nationadigognized
statistical rating organizations.

We are also subject to credit risk with respecteiosurers to whom we have ceded underwriting idthough a
reinsurer is liable for losses to the extent of¢bheerage it assumes, we remain obligated to olicybolders in the
event that the reinsurers do not meet their obtigatunder the reinsurance agreements. In ordmitigate credit
risk to reinsurance companies, most of our reimsgarecoverable balance as of December 31, 20Mitls
reinsurers that have an A.M. Best rating of “A-"lmatter.

Equity price risk. Investments in equity securities that are subjecequity price risk made up 10.2% of our
portfolio as of December 31, 2010. The carryingueal of equity securities are based on quoted mariegs as of
the balance sheet date. Market prices are subjediuttuation and, consequently, the amount redlize the
subsequent sale of an investment may significattfgr from the reported fair value. Fluctuationtire market price
of a security may result from perceived changethéunderlying economic characteristics of thedssthe relative
price of alternative investments and general madatditions. Furthermore, amounts realized in thke ©f a
particular security may be affected by the relatjuantity of the security being sold.

The fair value of our equity securities as of Debem31, 2010 was $44.0 million. The fair value of @quity
securities would increase or decrease by $13.2omidissuming a hypothetical 30% increase or deergamarket
prices as of the balance sheet date. This woulck@se or decrease stockholders’ equity by 3.6%. SEhected
hypothetical change does not reflect what shoulddrsidered the best or worse case scenario.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat

The following consolidated financial statementshef Company ands subsidiaries are filed as part of this re|

Descriptiot Page Numbg
Repors of Independent Registered Public Accounting Is F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 210 and 2019 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Operaticor the Years Ende F-5

December 31, 210, 2009 and 208

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity @athprehensive Incor (LosS' F-6
for the Years Ended December 311G, 20(9 and 2018

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the s Ende: F-8
December 31, 210, 2009 and 208

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-9

Financial Statement Schedt F-46
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Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountis on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The principal executive officer and principal fircdal officer of Hallmark have evaluated our disciges controls and
procedures and have concluded that, as of the ktie @eriod covered by this report, such disclestontrols and
procedures were effective in ensuring that inforomatequired to be disclosed by us in the repdréd e file or
submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 193#inely recorded, processed, summarized and repoftke
principal executive officer and principal financificer also concluded that such disclosure cdstand procedures
were effective in ensuring that information reqdite be disclosed by us in the reports that wedilsubmit under
such Act is accumulated and communicated to ouragmment, including our principal executive officand
principal financial officer, as appropriate, toca¥l timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaicitaining adequate “internal control over finaheceporting,”
as such phrase is defined in Exchange Act Rule1B58- Under the supervision and with the partitipn of
management, including our Chief Executive Officed &hief Accounting Officer, an evaluation of tHéeetiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting sveonducted based upon the framework in Internaitréb
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSping Organizations of the Treadway Commissi&ased
upon that evaluation, management has concludeathmahternal control over financial reporting wefective as of
December 31, 2010. We acquired Hallmark Nationagutance Company on December 31, 2010. Because this
acquisition was completed in the fourth quarter,hege excluded Hallmark National Insurance Compaom the
assessment of internal control over financial répgras permitted by interpretative guidance frive $ecurities and
Exchange Commission for newly acquired busineddalimark National Insurance Company represents Sadeh
4.3% of our total and net assets, respectivelyestenber 31, 2010. Except as described above, llaeeebeen no
changes in our internal controls over financialomipg during the most recent fiscal quarter thaveh materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeaf, our internal control over financial reporting

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered pulaccounting firm that audited the consolidatedriicial

statements of the Company as of December 31, 28d0ded in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, hasiéssan
attestation report on the Company’s internal cdrax@r financial reporting as of December 31, 2048€.described
in Managements Report on Internal Control over i@ Reporting above, management has excludedridei
National Insurance Company from its assessmenttefrial control over financial reporting becauseas acquired
on December 31, 2010. Hallmark National Insuranom@any was also excluded from the Ernst & Young laluiit

of internal control over financial reporting. Theangt & Young LLP attestation report, which expressn

unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the @amy’s internal control over financial reporting a$

December 31, 2010, is included in this Item undertieading “Attestation Report of Independent Reggsl Public
Accounting Firm.”
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Attestation Report of Independent Registered Publidccounting Firm
Report of Ernst & Young LLP

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of HatkfFinancial Services, Inc. and subsidiaries:

We have audited Hallmark Financial Services, Imzl aubsidiaries (the Company’s) internal contradrofinancial
reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on @aitsiablished in Internal Control-Integrated Fraorwvissued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of theaiway Commission (the COSO criteria). The Comjsany
management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting and ftr assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over finahcéporting included in the accompanying ManagerseReport on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Ourpessibility is to express an opinion on the Compsngternal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedwl of the Public Company Accounting Oversight ifloa
(United States). Those standards require that wwe phd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financiaporting was maintained in all material respecis. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control ofreancial reporting, assessing the risk that aemalt weakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and tipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabsessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considess@ssary in the circumstances. We believe thataodit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableasgsuregarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the pegption of financial statements for external pugsosm accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. Anpany’s internal control over financial reportingcludes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to thenteaance of records that, in reasonable detaiyrataly and fairly

reflect the transactions and dispositions of theets of the company; (2) provide reasonable asserdinat

transactions are recorded as necessary to pergpamtion of financial statements in accordancé g#nerally

accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeiordgcordance
with authorizations of management and directorshef company; and (3) provide reasonable assuragarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asition, use or disposition of the company’s as$ieds could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtyver financial reporting may not prevent or @tt@isstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesés future periods are subject to the risk thatrads may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, bithbadegree of compliance with the policies orcgdures may
deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Annual Report omi=10-K, management’s assessment of and conclasidhe
effectiveness of internal control over financiapoeting did not include the internal controls ofliHaark National
Insurance Company, which was acquired on Decemter2810 and is included in the December 31, 2010
consolidated financial statements of the Compamlycamstituted 5.0% and 4.3% of total and net assetpectively,

as of December 31, 2010. Our audit of internatr@drover financial reporting of the Company aldd dot include

an evaluation of the internal control over finahc&porting of Hallmark National Insurance Company.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all malerespects, effective internal control over fioal reporting as
of December 31, 2010, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bioguwnited

States), the consolidated balance sheet of Hallfgwdncial Services, Inc. as of December 31, 2@hd, the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdlégrsty and comprehensive income (loss), and ¢asts for the

year ended December 31, 2010 of Hallmark Finar®galices, Inc. and subsidiaries and our repogdisatarch 14,
2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Fort Worth, Texas
March 14, 2011
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PART IlI

Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporée Governance.
The information required by Item 10 is incorporabsdreference from the Registrant’s definitive pretatement

to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cominispursuant to Regulation 14A not later than d&{s after the
end of the fiscal year covered by this report.

Iltem 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by Item 11 is incorporabsdreference from the Registrant’s definitive pretatement
to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cominispursuant to Regulation 14A not later than d&{s after the
end of the fiscal year covered by this report.

ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficialOwners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

The information required by Item 12 is incorporabsdreference from the Registrant’s definitive pretatement
to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cominispursuant to Regulation 14A not later than d&{s after the
end of the fiscal year covered by this report.

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transdons, and Director Independence.

The information required by Item 13 is incorporabsdreference from the Registrant’s definitive pretatement
to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cominispursuant to Regulation 14A not later than d&{s after the
end of the fiscal year covered by this report.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The information required by Item 14 is incorporabsdreference from the Registrant's definitive pretatement

to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cominispursuant to Regulation 14A not later than d@{s after the
end of the fiscal year covered by this report.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(8)(1) Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statementgesahereto and related information are included
in Item 8 of this report:

Reports of Independent Registered Public AccogrEirms

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2042009

Consolidated Statements of Operations for thes’Eaded December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity @ndhprehensive Income (Loss) for the Years
Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for thesYEaded December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(@)(2) Financial Statement Schedules
The following financial statement schedules acduded in this report:
Schedule Il — Condensed Financial Information efjiRtrant (Parent Company Only)
Schedule 11l — Supplemental Insurance Information
Schedule IV — Reinsurance
Schedule VI — Supplemental Information Concerritngperty-Casualty Insurance Operations

(@)(3) Exhibit Index

The following exhibits are either filed with thigport or incorporated by reference:

Exhibit Description
Number
31 RestatecArticles of Incorporation of the registrant (incorpted by reference to Exhibi.1 to

Amendment No. 1 to the registrant's Registratioat&hent on Form S-1 [Registi@ti No
333-136414] filed September 8, 20).

3.2 Amended anRedated B-Laws of the registra (incorporated by reference to Exhib.1 to
the registrant’ Current Report on Fornm-K filed October 1, 20C).

4.1 Specimen certificate focommon stock, $0.18 par value, of the registrai(incorforated b
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 1 to thgistrant’s Registration Statememnt
Form S-1 [Registration No. 33-136414] filed September 8, 20).

4.2 Indenture dated June 21, 2005, bein Hallmark Financial Services, Inc. and JPMol
Chase Bank, National Association (incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit 4.1 to the registra
Current Report on Formr-K filed June 27, 200&

4.3 Amended and Restated Declaration of Tmfs Hallmark Statutory Trust | dated as
June 21, 2005, among Hallmark Financial Servites, as sponsor, Chase Bank U
National Association, as Delaware trustee, arPMorgan Chase Bank, Natic
Association, as institutional trustee,nda Mark Schwarz and Mark Morrison,
administrators (incorporated by reference to Exhib? to the registrant’'s Current Report
Form &K filed June 27, 200%

4.4 Form of Junior Subordinated DeSecurity Due 203Eincluded in Exhibit .2 above).
4.5 Form d Capital Security Certificateincluded in Exhibit .3 abovs).
4.6 First Restated Credit Agreement dated JanuaryQ06, between Hallmark FinanciServices

Inc. and The Frost National Bank (incorporated &igrence to Exhibit 4.1 tthe registrant’
Current Report on Formr-K filed February 2, 200€
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4.€

4.1(
4.11

4.1z

4.1:

4.14

1C1

102

103

104

105

10.€

10.7*

108*

Form of Registration Rights Agreement dated Jan@ary2006, between Hallmark Finan
Services, Inc. and Newcastle Special Opportunitynd-u, Ltd. and Newcastle Spec
Opportunity Fund II, L.P(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to thgistrant’s Curre
Report on Form-K filed February 2, 200€

Indenture dated as of August 23, 2007, betweenmdalk Financial Services, Inc. and -
Bank of New York Trus€ompany, National Association (incorporated by refiee to Exhib
4.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on ForK filed August 24, 2007

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of Halln&tatutory Trust Il dated as of Aug
23, 2007, amng Hallmark Financial Services, Inc., as sponddre Bank of New Yor
(Delaware), as Delaware trustee, and The Bank of Nerk Trust Company, Natior
Association, as institutional trustee, and Mark\8atz and Mark Morrison, as administra
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to thgisgant’s Current Report on Formk3filed
August 24, 2007

Form of Junior Subordinated Debt Security Due 2083luded in Exhibit 4.8 abowve
Form of Capital Security Certificatincluded inExhibit 4.9 abov).

Fifth Amendment to First Restated Credit AgreenanbngHallmark Financial Services, It
and its subsidiaries and The Frost National Bartedl&ebruary 20, 2008 (incorporatec
reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the registrant’'s CatrBeport on Form & filed February 2t
2008).

Sixth Amendment to First Restated Credit AgreenaambngHallmark Financial Services, It
and its subsidiaries and The Frost National Banledidanuary 21, 2010 (incorporatec
reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the registrant’s CotrReport on Form & filed January 2!
2010).

Seventh Amendment to First Restated Credit Agre¢merong Hallmark Financial Servic
Inc. and its subsidiaries and The Frost NationahlBdated May 27, 2010 (@orporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Caotfeeport on Form-K filed June 17, 201(

Office Lease for650( Pinecrest, Plano, Tey, dated July 22, 200, betweenHallmark
Financial Services, Inc. and Legacy Tech IV Asgesial imited Partnershifincorporated b
reference to Exhib99.1to the registrant'Current Repo on Form8-K filed July 29, 200).

Lease Agreement for 777 Main Street, Fort Worthxabe dated June 12, 2003 betw
Hallmark Financial Servicesnc. and Crescent Real Estate Funding I, L.P. (poated b
reference to Exhibit 10(a) to the registrant’s Qerdy Report on Form 1QSB for the quart:
ended June 30, 2003).

Office Lease by and between SAOP Northwest Ceht&r, and TGA lisurance Manage
Inc. dated January 29, 2010 (incorporated by raefereto Exhibit 10.1 to the registrar
Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 2, 2010).

Office Lease by and between Minol Center, L.P. &miospace Insurance Managers,
dated August 9, 2010 (incorporated by referenc&xhbibit 99.1 to the registrant’s Curr
Report on Form-K filed August 7, 2010)

Office Lease by and between Civic Opera, L.P. a@ATinsurance Managers, Inc. de
December 27, 2010 (incormded by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registsa@urren
Report on Form 8-K filed January 4, 2011).

First Amendment to Office Lease between MS Cresd@né SPV, LLC and Hallma
Financial Services, Inc., dated February 28, 20ido(porated ¥ reference to Exhibit 10.1
the registrant’s Current Report on For-K filed March 1, 2011

1994 Nor-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (incorporatgddference to Exhibit 10(g)
the registrant’s Annual Report on Form-KSB for the ficcal year ended December 31, 19

First Amendment to Hallmark Financial Services,.|6094 NorEmployee Director Stor
Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhilfi(hh) to the registrant’s Annual Report
Form 1(-KSB for the fiscal ye: ended December 31, 20C
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109* Second Amendment to Hallmark Financial Services, 1994 No-Employee Director Stor
Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhilfi¢e) to the registrant’s Quarterly Repor
Form 1(-QSB for the quarter endedptember 30, 2001

1010* Form of Indemnification Agreement between HallmB&ikancial Services, Inc. and its offic
and directors, adopted July 19, 2002 (incorpordigdreference to Exhibit 10(c) to f
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form-QSBfor the quarter ended September 30, 2(

1011* Hallmark Financial Services, Inc. 2005 Long Terrodntive Plan (incorporated by refere
to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’'s Current RepmrtForm K filed June 3, 2005

10.12* Form of Incentie Stock Option Grant Agreement (incorporated bgnerfce to Exhibit 10.2
the registrant’s Current Report on For-K filed June 3, 2005

10.13* Form of Nor-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated bference to Exhibit 10.3
the registrnt’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed June 3, 2005

1C.14 Guarantee Agreement dated as of June 21, 2005abm&tk Financial Services, Inc. for
benefit of the holders of trust preferred secusiti@corporated by reference to Exhibit 10.
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filemd 27, 2005).

1015 Guarantee Agreement dated as of August 23, 200'Habynark Financial Services, Inc.
the benefit of the holders of trust preferred siiesr (incorporated by reference to Baihil0.]
to the registrant’s Current Report on For-K filed August 24, 2007

1016 Quota Share Reinsurance Treaty Attaching Janua2@@6 by and among American Hallm
Insurance Company, Phoenix Indemnity Insurance G@omp(n/k/a Hallmark Insurae
Company) and Gulf States Insurance Company (n/kllntdrk Specialty Insurance Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to tbgistrant’s Registration Statemert Forn
S-1 [Registration No. 3:-136414] filed August 8, 20().

1017 Amencment No. 1 to Quota Share Reinsurance Treaty AtigcBanuary 1, 2006 by a
among American Hallmark Insurance Company, Phokrdgmnity Insurance Comparig/k/e
Hallmark Insurance Company) a@llf States Insurance Company (n/k/a Hallmark Sygy
Insurance Company) (incorporated by reference tdildix 10.26 to the registrant’
Registration Statemeon Forn S-1 [Registration No. 33-136414] filed August 8, 20().

1018 Amendment No. 2 to Quota Share Reinsurance Tredétiyclling January 1, 2006 tanc
among American Hallmark Insurance Company, Phokrdgmnity Insurance Comparig/k/e
Hallmark Insurance Company) a@llf States Insurance Company (n/k/a Hallmark Sygy
Insurance Company) (incorporated by reference tdildix 10.27 to the registrd’s
Registration Statemeon Forn S-1 [Registration No. 33-136414] filed August 8, 20().

1019 Amendment No. 3 to Quota Share Reinsurance Trettgteng January 1, 2006 by and am
American Hallmark Insurance Company, Phoenix Indgminsurance Companyn/k/e
Hallmark Insurance Company) a@llf States Insurance Company (n/k/a Hallmark Sygy
Insurance Company(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to thgistrant’s Annus
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended Dewen31, 2006).

102C Purchase Agreement dated August 29, 2008 by ansh@Hallmark Financial Services, It
and Jeffrey L. Heath (incorporated by referenceExtibit 10.1to the registrants Curre
Report on Form-K filed September 4, 200.

1021 Stock Purchase Agreement dated February 13, 20089ebkat American Hallmark Insurar
Company and T.B.A. Insurance Group, Ltd. (incorpedaby reference to the registra
Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 18, 2009)

10.22 Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 9, 2b&@veen Hallmark Insurance Company
State Auto Financial Corporation (incorporated éference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registra
Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 9, 2010).

18+ Letter regarding Change in Accounting Princ.

21+ List of subsidiaries of the registre
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23 (a)+ Consent olndependent Registered Public Accounting F
23 (b)+ Consent olndependent Registered Public Accounting F
31(a)4 Certification ofprincipa executiveofficer required by Rle 13&-14(a) or Rule 15-14(b)
31(b)+ Certification ofprincipa financialofficer required by Rule 1-14(a) or Rule 15-14(b)
32(a)4 Certification ofprincipa executiveofficer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 13!
32(b)+ Certification ofprincipa financialofficer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 13!

*Management contract or compensatory plan or arraagt

+Filed herewitk
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements Section 13 or 15(d) of thSecuritiesExchange Ac of 193¢, the registranhas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf byutidersigned, thereunto duly authori

HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.

(Registrant
Date March14, 2(11 By: /s/ Mark J. Morrion
Mark J. Morrison, ChieExecutive Officer and
Presider
Date March14, 2(11 By: /s/ Jeffrey R. Passmc

Jeffrey R. Passmore, Chief Accounting Off and Senio
Vice Presider

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secis Exchange Ac of 193¢ this report has been signed below by
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indic

Date March 14, 2011 [s/ Mark J. Morriso
Mark J. Morrison, ChieExecutive Officer and
Presider (Principal Executive Office

Date March 14, 2011 [sl Jeffrey R. Passmc
Jeffrey R. Passmore, Chief Accounting Off and Senio
Vice President (Principal Financial Officer andreipal
Accounting Officer

Date March 14, 2011 /sl Mark E. Schwa
Mark E. SchwarzExecutive Chairme

Date March 14, 2011 [s/ James H. Grav
James H. Graves, Direc

Date March 14, 2011 /s/ Jim W. Henders¢
Jim W. Henderson, Direct

Date March 14, 2011 s/ Scott T. Berli
Scott T. Berlin, Directc

Date March 14, 2011 /s/ George R. Mans
George R. Manser, Direc
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Exhibit 18

Letter Regarding Change in Accounting Principle

Mr. Jeff Passmore

Chief Accounting Officer
Hallmark Financial Services, Inc.
777 Main Street, Suite 1000
Fort Worth, Texas 76102

Dear Mr. Passmore:

Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial $tatets of Hallmark Financial Services, Inc. and &lihges (“the
Company”) included in its Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2010, describes a change in teeotithe
Company’s annual goodwill impairment test requineader Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 339@tangibles — Goodwill and Other, from the laaydf the
fiscal fourth quarter to the first day of the fisdaurth quarter. There are no authoritative ciéeior determining
which date is preferable based on the particulasunistances; however, we conclude that such chenge an
acceptable alternative which, based on your busijdgment to make this change and for the statadons, is
preferable in your circumstances.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Fort Worth, Texas
February 28, 2011
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Exhibit 21

Subsidiaries of Hallmark Financial Services, Inc.

Name of Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Incorporation
American Hallmark Insurance Company of Texas* aex

Hallmark Finance Corporation* Texas

ACO Holdings, Inc.* Texas

Hallmark Claims Service, Inc. Texas

(d/b/a Hallmark Insurance Company)

American Hallmark General Agency, Inc. Texas
(d/b/a Hallmark Insurance Company)

Hallmark Underwriters, Inc.* Texas
American Hallmark Agencies, Inc.* Texas
Allrisk Insurance Agency, Inc.* Texas
Hallmark Insurance Company* Arizona
American Hallmark Insurance Services, Inc.* Texas
Effective Claims Management, Inc.* Texas
TGA Insurance Managers, Inc.* Texas
Hallmark Specialty Insurance Company* Oklahoma
Pan American Acceptance Corporation* Texas
TGA Special Risk, Inc.* Texas
Aerospace Holdings, LLC* Texas
Aerospace Flight, Inc.* Texas
Aerospace Insurance Managers, Inc.* Texas
Aerospace Claims Management Group, Inc.* Texas
Aerospace Special Risk, Inc.* Texas
Heath XS, LLC* 80% New Jersey
Hardscrabble Data Solutions, LLC* 80% New Jgrse
Citon Agency, Inc* 49% Florida
CYR Insurance Management Company* Texas
Hallmark County Mutual Insurance Company* Texas

(controlled through a management agreement)
Hallmark National Insurance Company* Ohio
* Conducts business under its corporate name.
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Exhibit 23(a)

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors
Hallmark Financial Services, Inc.:
We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-41220fpeng to Hallmark Financial Services, Inc. 2005
Long Term Incentive Plan;

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-14000€ppeng to the Hallmark Financial Services, In891
Key Employee Stock Option Plan, Hallmark Finan8atvices, Inc. 1994 Key Employee Long Term
Incentive Plan and Hallmark Financial Services, 894 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan;

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-16005@ppeng to Hallmark Financial Services, Inc. 2005
Long Term Incentive Plan; and

(4) Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement atadad Prospectus (Form S-3 No. 333-171696)
pertaining to the registration of 3,274,830 shafesommon stock;

of our reports dated March 14, 2011, with respethe consolidated financial statements and sdbedi Hallmark
Financial Services, Inc. and subsidiaries and tleetiveness of internal control over financial ogfing of Hallmark
Financial Services, Inc. and subsidiaries incluidethis Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year edd@®ecember
31, 2010.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Fort Worth, Texas
March 14, 2011
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Exhibit 23(b)

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
Hallmark Financial Services, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inréggstration statements on Form S-8 (File Nos.-8B320, 333-
140000 and 333-160050) and Form S-3 (File No. 38B596) of Hallmark Financial Services, Inc. andsidiaries
(the Company) of our report dated March 25, 20&{ting to the consolidated balance sheet of Hakrrénancial
Services, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December28@9, and the related consolidated statements efatipns,
stockholders' equity and comprehensive income )l@s® cash flows for each of the years in the year period
ended December 31, 2009 and all financial staterseneédules, which appears in this Form 10-K of ddatk
Financial Services, Inc.

The aforementioned report, with respect to the cliststed financial statements of the Company, eefer the
change, in 2009, in the Company’s method of evadgaither-than-temporary impairments of debt sei@sridue to
the adoption of new accounting requirements isduedhe Financial Accounting Standards Board, agmfl 1,

2009.

/sl KPMG LLP
KPMG LLP
Dallas, Texas
March 14, 2011
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Exhibit 31(a)

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Mark J. Morrison, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-KH#lImark Financial Services, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not cor@ajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omitaie
a material fact necessary to make the statemente,nira light of the circumstances under which satdiements
were made, not misleading with respect to the pec@vered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this repo
fairly present in all material respects the finahciondition, results of operations and cash flofvthe Registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate
controls and procedures [as defined in Exchange Rudes 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)] and internal cordxer
financial reporting [as defined in Exchange Act&ul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)] for the Company andehav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedwescaused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervisiomnsure that material information relating to thegRtrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is madevkm to us by others within those entities, particiyl during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financigbarting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our sug&m, to provide reasonable assurance regardegeiiability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahatatements for external purposes in accordantle génerally
accepted accounting principles;

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the RegistratiSslosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiverfsthe disclosure controls and procedures, ahefend of the
period covered by this report based on such evahjand

d) disclosed in this report any change in the Regji$'s internal control over financial reportintgat
occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fisparter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarterttie case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, aeasonably likely to materially affect, the Regasit's internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer anchave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
internal control over financial reporting, to thed®strant’s auditors and the audit committee ofRkgistrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivafenttions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weas®s in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably §k& adversely affect the Registrant’s ability &cord, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelvmanagement or other employees who have a
significant role in the Registrant’s internal cantover financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2011

/s/ Mark J. Morrison
Mark J. Morrison, Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31(b)

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Jeffrey R. Passmore, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-Kafimark Financial Services, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comjnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde
a material fact necessary to make the statemendg,nva light of the circumstances under which ssitEiements
were made, not misleading with respect to the pec@vered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this refho
fairly present in all material respects the finahciondition, results of operations and cash floivhe Registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte
controls and procedures [as defined in Exchange RAdes 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)] and internal coraver
financial reporting [as defined in Exchange Act&ul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)] for the Company andehav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedurescaused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervisioensure that material information relating to thegRtrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is madevkm to us by others within those entities, particiyl during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financighomting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our sug&m, to provide reasonable assurance regardmgetiability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahattements for external purposes in accordante génerally
accepted accounting principles;

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrati§slosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiverafsthe disclosure controls and procedures, ah@fend of the
period covered by this report based on such evahjand

d) disclosed in this report any change in the Reggi$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat
occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fisgalrter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quartetthe case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, oreasonably likely to materially affect, the Regasit's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer anchave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluafion
internal control over financial reporting, to thedistrant's auditors and the audit committee of Reyistrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the egjeimt functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material wealses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably §k& adversely affect the Registrant’s ability &rord, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a
significant role in the Registrant’s internal cantover financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2011

/sl Jeffrey R. Passmore
Jeffrey R. Passmore, Chief Accounting Office
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Exhibit 32(a)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350

I, Mark J. Morrison, Chief Executive Officef Hallmark Financial Services, Inc. (the "Compgnereby
certify that the accompanying annual report on FoéaK for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2@H@| filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateohdthe "Report"), fully complies with the requiremts of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amended. | further certify thatitifermation contained in
the Report fairly presents, in all material respgettte financial condition and results of operagiohthe Company.

Date: March 14, 2011

/s/ Mark J. Morrison
Mark J. Morrison,
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 32(b)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350

I, Jeffrey R. Passmore, Chief Accountingi€ff of Hallmark Financial Services, Inc. (the "Gmany"), hereby
certify that the accompanying annual report on FbéaK for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2@H@| filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateohdthe "Report"), fully complies with the requiremts of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangech 1934, as amended. | further certify thatitifermation contained in
the Report fairly presents, in all material respgettte financial condition and results of operagiohthe Company.

Date: March 14, 2011

/sl Jeffrey R. Passmore
Jeffrey R. Passmore,
Chief Accounting Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Hallmark Financial Services, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of Hallmark Financial Services, Inc. ans&liaries
(the Company) as of December 31, 2010, and theetktaonsolidated statements of operations, stodkinslequity
and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flowshe year ended December 31, 2010. Our auslit imcluded
the financial statement schedules as of DecembeP@0 and for the year then ended listed in tliexrat Item
15(a)(2). These consolidated financial statemeand schedules are the responsibility of the Comigany
management. Our responsibility is to express ania@p on these consolidated financial statementssohedules
based on our audit.

We conducted our audib accordance with the auditing standards of thelieWCompany Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards requitevibgplan and perform the audit to obtain reasanalssurance
about whether the financial statements are frematerial misstatement. An audit includes examinmg a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and diseesa the financial statements. An audit alsduites assessing
the accounting principles used and significantnestés made by management, as well as evaluatingvisll
financial statement presentation. We believe dhataudit provides a reasonable basis for our opini

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteeneferred to above present fairly, in all materespects, the
consolidated financial position of Hallmark Finaalcservices, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decembgp@310, and
the results of their operations and their cash $ldar the year ended December 31, 2010, in confgrmith
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Alis@ur opinion, the related financial statemesitegiules, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidatedrftial statements taken as a whole, present fairlgll material
respects, the information set forth therein.

We have also audited in accordance with the Stasdarthe Public Company Oversight Board (Uniteate&), the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting of December 31, 2010, based on criteria estadli in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by @mmmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tvead
Commission and our report dated March 14, 2011esgad an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Fort Worth, Texas
March 14, 2011



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Hallmark Financial Services, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of Hallmark Financial Services, Inc. anusgliaries

(the Company) as of December 31, 2009, and theetktaonsolidated statements of operations, stodkinslequity

and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flowsach of the years in the two-year period endedember 31,
2009. In connection with our audits of the cordatiéd financial statements, we also have auditeditfancial
statement schedules Il to IV as of December 31928@d for each of the years in the two-year pesgaded
December 31, 2009. These consolidated financiatestents and financial statement schedules are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Ouspoasibility is to express an opinion on these olidated
financial statements and financial statement sdeschased on our audits.

We conducted our audita accordance with the auditing standards of thieliPWompany Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards requittevibgplan and perform the audit to obtain reasanalskurance
about whether the financial statements are frematerial misstatement. An audit includes examinmg a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and diseesa the financial statements. An audit alsduites assessing
the accounting principles used and significantnestés made by management, as well as evaluatingvirall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataudits provide a reasonable basis for our opini

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteeneferred to above present fairly, in all materespects, the
consolidated financial position of Hallmark Finaalcservices, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decembg309, and
the results of their operations and their cash $léov each of the years in the two-year period dridecember 31,
2009, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted@mmting principles. Also, in our opinion, the fteld financial
statement schedules, when considered in relatidhetidasic consolidated financial statements tasa whole,
present fairly, in all material respects, the infiation set forth therein.

As described in note 1 to the consolidated findnsiatements, in 2009 the Company changed its rdetifo
evaluating other-than-temporary impairments of daduturities due to the adoption of new accountagmirements
issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Boasdyf April 1, 2009.

/sl KPMG LLP
KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 25, 2010



HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2010 and 2009
($ in thousands

ASSETS
Investments:

Debt securities, available-for-sale, at fainea{cost; $383,530 in 2010 and $287,108 in 2009)
Equity securities, available-for-sale, at fatue (cost; $32,469 in 2010 and $27,251 in 2009)

Total investments

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Ceded unearned premiums
Premiums receivable

Accounts receivable
Receivable for securities
Reinsurance recoverable
Deferred policy acquisition costs
Goodwill

Intangible assets, net

Federal income tax recoverable
Prepaid expenses

Other assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Liabilities:
Note payable
Subordinated debt securities
Reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustmeensges
Unearned premiums
Unearned revenue
Reinsurance balances payable
Accrued agent profit sharing
Accrued ceding commission payable
Pension liability
Payable for securities
Payable for acquisition
Deferred federal income taxes, net
Federal income tax payable
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses

Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)
Redeemable non-controlling interest

Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $.18 par value, authorized 33,38shares in 2010 and 2009;

issued 20,872,831 shares in 2010 and 2009

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Treasury stock (748,662 shares in 2010 and 787482009), at cost

Total stockholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the consolidated financial statements
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2010

88,39
044

432,441

60,519
5,277
25,504
47,337
7,051
2,215
39,505
21,679
43,564
30,241
4,093
1,987
15,207

5_736,620

$ 2,800
56,702
251,677
140,965
116
3,122
1,301
4,231
2,833
2,493
14,000
3,471

15,786

499,497

1,360

3,757
121,815
105,816

9,63’
(5,262)

235,763

$ 736,620

2009
$ 291,876
35,801

327,677

112,270
5,458
12,997
46,635
3,377
10,008
20,792
41,080
28,873
923
18,779

8 628,869

¢ 2,800
56,702
184,662
125,089
191
3,281
1,790
8,600
2,628
19

942
1,266
13,258

401,228

1,124

3,757
121,016
98,482
8,589
(5,327)

226,517

$ 628,869



HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 200

(% in thousands, except per share amounts)

C1e 2009 208
Gross premiums written $ 320,973 $ 287,558 $ 243,849
Ceded premiums written (39,332) (25,818) (8,922)
Net premiums writte 281,641 261,74( 234,92
Change in unearned premiums (3,370) (10,668) 1,393
Net premiums earn 278,21 251,07: 23€,32(
Investment income, net of expenses 14,849 14,947 16,049
Net realized ains (losses) 8,402 3,032 (11,261)
Finance charges 7,054 5,874 5,174
Commission and fees (1,575) 12,011 22,280
Other income 59 103 128
Total revenues 307,060 287,039 268,690
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 202,544 153,619 144,244
Operating expenses 87,989 92,233 96,096
Interest expense 4,598 4,602 4,745
Amortization of intangible assets 3,665 3,328 2,481
Total expenses 298,796 253,782 247,566
Income before tax 8,264 33,257 21,124
Income tax expense 825 8,630 8,175
Net income 743¢ 24,627 12,94¢
Less: Net income attributable to non-controllintehest 105 52 50
Net incomeattributable to Hallmark Financial Services, Inc. $7,334 $ 24,575 $ 12,899
Net incom per shar attributable t
Hallmark Financial Services, Ircommor stockholders
Basic $ 0.36 $ 1.1¢ $ 0.62
Diluted $ 0.26 $ 1.1¢ $ 0.62

The accompanying notes are an integral part
of the consolidated financial statements
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HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND  COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Balance at December 31, 2007

Amortization of fair value of stock options granted
Stock options exercis

Amortization of redeemable non-controlling interest

Comprehensive los
Net income

Other comprehensive loss:
Change in net actuarial loss
Net unrealized holding losses arising duringqzer
Reclassification adjustment for losses incluittedet income
Net unrealized losses on securities

Total other comprehensive loss before tax

Tax effect on other comprehensive loss

Other comprehensive loss after tax

Comprehensive loss

Balance at December 31, 2008

Cumulative effect of adjustments resulting from atitm
of change in accounting principle, net of tax (nbfe

Acquisition of treasury shar

Amortization of fair value of stock options granted
Stock options exercis

Accretion of redeemable non-controlling inte

Comprehensive inconr
Net incom

Other comprehensive income:
Change in net actuarial loss
Net unrealized holding gains arising during peri
Reclassification adjustment for losses incluittenet income
Net unrealized gains on securities

Total other comprehensive income hefore tax

Tax effect on other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income after tax

Comprehensive income

Balance at December 31, 2(

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 200

(Inthousands)
Number Additional Accumulated Other Number  Total Comeresive
of Par Paid-n  Retained  Comprehensive  Treasury  of  Stodehs!  Income
Shares Value  Capital Eamings  Income (Loss)  Stock  Shares  Equity Loss
20776 § 3,740 $ 118459 § 59,343 § (1844)8 (1) 8§ 179621
1,368 1,368
66 1 20€ 21¢
(107) (107)
12,899 12,899 $ 12,899
(3,380) (3,380) (3,380)
(15,605) (15,605) (15,605)
(1,083) (1,083) (1,083)
(16,688) (16,688) (16,688)
(20,068) (20,068) (20,068)
5,480 5,480 5,480
(14,588) (14,588) (14,588)
$ (1,689)
20842 $ 3751 § 119928 § 72,242 $ (164328  (77) 8§ 179412
1,665 (1,665)
(5250  75C (5,250
1,334 1,334
31 6 10¢ 118
(355, (355,
24,51 2457 $ 2451
2,321 - - 2,321 2,321
42,299 42,299 42,299
(3,571) (3,571) (3,571)
38,728 38,728 38,728
41,055 41,055 41,055
(14,369) (14,369) (14,369)
26,686 26,686 26,686
$ 51,261
2087: § 3,751 $ 121,01t § 9848, $ 858 $ (5327  75¢ $ 226,51



HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (Continued)
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 200

Balance at December 31, 2009
Amortization of fair value of stock options granted
Stock options exercised

Accretion of redeemable non-controlling inte

Comprehensive incor
Net incom

Other comprehensive income:

Change in net actuarial loss

Net unrealized holding gains arising during peri
Reclassification adjustment for gains includedét income
Net unrealized gains on securities

Total other comprehensive income before tax
Tax effect on other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income after tax

Comprehensive incor

Balance at December 31, 2(

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the consolidated financial statements
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(In thousands)
Accumlated
Number Additional Other Number Total Comprehensive
of Par Paid-In Retained ~ Comprehensive ~ Treasury ~ of  Stoclkhs! Income
Shares  Value Capital  Earnings  Income (Loss)  Stock  Shares  Equity (Loss)
20,873 $ 3,757 $ 121,016 $ 98,482 $ 8589 $ (5,327) 758 $ 226,517
1114 1,114
(40) 65 9) 25
(275) (275)
7,33¢ 733§ 7,33¢
(309) (309) (309)
10,324 10,324 10,324
(8,402) (8,402) (8,402)
1,922 1,922 1,922
1,613 1,613 1,613
(565) (565) (565)
1,048 1,048 1,048
$ 8,382
20870 § 3,751 $ 12181 $ 10581t $ 9631 $ (5262 74 § 23576



HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 200
(% in thousands)

2010 2009 20(8
Cash flows from operatinactivities
Net incomt $ 743¢ $ 24,62; $ 12,94¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash praviole operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expe 4,751 4,10¢ 3,219
Deferredfedera income taes (1,019 (1,539 (912
Realized(gains) losse on investmen (8,402) (3,039 11,26:
Change irceded unearn(premium: (2,860 (6,83%) (407)
Change in premiums receiva (702) (2,629 1,99
Change in accounts receive (3,674 1,21¢ 68¢€
Change in deferred policy acquisition c (887) (1,26¢) 23:
Change in unpaid losses and loss adjustment exg 49,94 19,73t 31,02t
Change in unearned premit 6,229 18,08¢ (80€)
Change in unearned revel (75) (1,84¢) (912)
Change in accrued agent profit sha (489) (361) (6939)
Change in reinsurance recover: (12,424) 6,77¢ (3,266)
Change in reinsurance balar payablt (160) 3,281 -
Change in current federal income recoverablepayable (5,359) 1,96: (1,560)
Change in accrued ceding commission pay (4,369 (5) (3,499
Change in all other liabilitie 2,89:¢ (5,789 977
Change in all other ass 5,525 5,20¢ (1,589
Net cash provided by operating activities 36,360 61,698 48,712
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of property and equipn (1,775 (1,263) (1,119
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash rece 7,40¢ (7,24¢) (14,799
Net transfers (into)/fro restricted cas (2,196 3,93( 8,01C
Purchases cnvestmer securitie (226,24¢) (109,959 (704,24)
Maturities, sales and redemptions of investment rébes 134821 112,54t 586,03«
Net cash used in investing activities (87,992) (1,999 (126,121)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Net borrowings (repaymes) of note payabl - (1,419 10&
Distribution to no--controlling interes (144) (20) -
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock or 25 11¢& 21¢
Purchase of treasury she - (5,250 -
Repayment of borrowin - - (10,000)
Net cash used in financing activities (119) (6,572 (9,676)
Increase(decreasein cash and cash equivale (51,757) 53,13¢ (87,085
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 112,270 59,134 146,219
Cast and cash equivalents at end of $ 60,51¢ $ 112,27( $ 59,13«

Supplemental cash flow informatic

Interest paid $ (4,594) $ (4,640 $ (4,759)
Income taxes paid $ (7,202) % (8,202 $ (10,649)
Supplemental schedule of non-cash activities:
Change in receivable for securities related tostwent disposals that sett
after the balance sheet date $ (2,215) $ 983 $ 26,364

Change in payable for securities related to investrpurchases that settled
after the balance sheet date $ 2,474 $ (3,589 $ (87,795)

The accompanying notes are an integral part
of the consolidated financial statements
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HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008

Accounting Policies

General

Hallmark Financial Services, Inc. (“Hallmark” anthgether with subsidiaries, “we,” “us” or “our”) ian insurance
holding company engaged in the sale of propertyaégsinsurance products to businesses and indigduOur business
involves marketing, distributing, underwriting aselrvicing our insurance products, as well as pingidther insurance
related services.

We pursue our business activities through subsédiavhose operations are organized into five bgsinaits that are
supported by our insurance company subsidiariag. Standard Commercial business unit (formerly km@s our AHIS
Operating Unit) handles commercial insurance prtslaad services and is comprised of American Haklnhasurance
Services, Inc. (“American Hallmark Insurance Sezsi¢ and Effective Claims Management, Inc. (‘ECM™Qur E&S
Commercial business unit (formerly known as our TGAperating Unit) handles primarily commercial anédncal
professional liability insurance products and ssgsiand is comprised of TGA Insurance Managers,(Ii6GA”), Pan
American Acceptance Corporation (“PAAC”) and TGAe8al Risk, Inc. (“TGASRI"). Our General Aviatidiusiness
unit (formerly known as our Aerospace Operatingt)Jnandles general aviation insurance productssandices and is
comprised of Aerospace Insurance Managers, Incer@dpace Insurance Managers”), Aerospace Specsld, Ric.
(“ASRI") and Aerospace Claims Management Group, (MCMG”). Our Excess & Umbrella business unibiinerly
known as our Heath XS Operating Unit) offers lowd amniddle market commercial umbrella and excesslifpinsurance
on both an admitted and non-admitted basis focuginmarily on trucking, specialty automobile, andnrfleet
automobile coverage. Our Excess & Umbrella businesit is compromised of Heath XS, LLC (“HXS") and
Hardscrabble Data Solutions, LLC (“HDS"), both offish were acquired effective August 29, 2008. OersBnal Lines
business unit (formerly known as our Personal Li@ggrating Unit) handles personal insurance preadant services
and is comprised of American Hallmark General Agerloc. and Hallmark Claims Services, Inc. (bothwdfich do
business as Hallmark Insurance Company). Our &maer company subsidiaries supporting these busingss are
American Hallmark Insurance Company of Texas (“AH|Gallmark Insurance Company (“HIC”), Hallmark &galty
Insurance Company (“HSIC"), Hallmark County Mutliasurance Company (“HCM"and Hallmark National Insurance
Company (“HNIC").

These five business units are segregated into tegemtable industry segments for financial accmgnpurposes. The
Standard Commercial Segment presently consistdysofethe Standard Commercial business unit and Reesonal
Segment presently consists solely of our Persomadslbusiness unit. The Specialty Commercial Segmneludes our
E&S Commercial business unit, our General Aviatioisiness unit and our Excess & Umbrella businegs un

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemectade the accounts and operations of Hallmarkiemsiubsidiaries.
Intercompany accounts and transactions have beamated. The accompanying consolidated finanstaiements have
been prepared in conformity with U.S. generallyegted accounting principles (“GAAP”) which, as t¢HKC, HIC,
HSIC, HCM and HNIC differ from statutory accountipgactices prescribed or permitted for insuranceganies by
insurance regulatory authorities.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financiateshents

The preparation of financial statements in confeymvith GAAP requires management to make estimated

assumptions that affect the reported amounts adtaisnd liabilities at the dates of the financi@tements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses dursgethorting periods. Management evaluates its astgnand
assumptions on an ongoing basis using historicgleence and other factors, including the curreconemic

environment, which management believes to be reddenunder the circumstances. We adjust such dssmand

assumptions when facts and circumstances dict&iace future events and their effects cannot berdebed with

precision, actual results could differ significgnftom these estimates. Changes in estimates irggdibom continuing

changes in the economic environment may be refldotéhe financial statements in future periods.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments




HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008

Fair value estimates are made at a point in tiraseth on relevant market data as well as the biestriation available

about the financial instruments. Fair value est#®sdor financial instruments for which no or lisit observable market
data is available are based on judgments regarlingent economic conditions, credit and interes¢ msk. These

estimates involve significant uncertainties andgjuénts and cannot be determined with precision. aAssult, such
calculated fair value estimates may not be redlizab a current sale or immediate settlement ofitferument. In

addition, changes in the underlying assumptiond us¢he fair value measurement technique, inclgdiiscount rate and
estimates of future cash flows, could significarmtfiect these fair value estimates.

Investment Securities: Fair values for fixed ineosecurities and equity securities are obtaineoh fam independent
pricing service or based on quoted market pricgse (Notes 2 and 3.)

Cash and Cash Equivalents: The carrying amouptsted in the balance sheet for these instrumeggsoaimate their
fair values.

Restricted Cash: The carrying amount for restiici@sh reported in the balance sheet approximiaesir value.

Note Payable: The carrying value of our bank dréatility of $2.8 million approximates the fair lug based on the
current interest rate.

Subordinated debt securities: Our trust preferemlisties had a carried value of $56.7 million &%6.7 million and a
fair value of $53.7 million and $54.4 million as Bécember 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Thevédure of our trust
preferred securities is based on discounted casi¥sfusing current yields to maturity of 8.0% anB98.as of December
31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, which are basesiroifar issues to discount future cash flows.

For reinsurance recoverable, federal income taalpleayand receivable, other assets and other tiabilithe carrying
amounts approximate fair value because of the shattrrity of such financial instruments

Investments

Debt and equity securities available for sale amorted at fair value. Unrealized gains and lossesrecorded as a
component of stockholders’ equity, net of relater ¢ffects. Equity securities that are determittetiave other-than-
temporary impairment are recognized as a loss wastments in the consolidated statements of opasati Debt

securities that are determined to have other-teerpbrary impairment are recognized as a loss oestments in the
consolidated statements of operations for the @orthat is related to credit deterioration with tleenaining portion

recognized in other comprehensive income. Debtriggquremiums and discounts are amortized into iegsusing the

effective interest method. Maturities of debt séms and sales of equity securities are recordedeceivable for

securities until the cash is settled. Purchasekebf and equity securities are recorded in paymloleecurities until the

cash is settled.

Realized investment gains and losses are recogimzmaerations on the specific identification metho
Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments with amginal maturity of three months or less to be caghivalents.

Premiums Receivable

Premiums receivable represent amounts due froncytaliders or independent agents for premiums waritmd
uncollected. These balances are carried at nigtabke value.

Reinsurance

We are routinely involved in reinsurance transaioith other companies. Reinsurance premiumsetoand LAE are
accounted for on bases consistent with those usextdounting for the original policies issued ahd terms of the
reinsurance contracts. (See Note 6.)

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs
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HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008

Policy acquisition costs (mainly commission, undéing and marketing expenses) that vary with ang grimarily
related to the production of new and renewal bussirere deferred and charged to operations ovesdsem which the
related premiums are earned. The method followezbmputing deferred policy acquisition costs lintiie amount of
such deferred costs to their estimated realizahleev In determining estimated realizable valbe, domputation gives
effect to the premium to be earned, expected inwast income, losses and loss adjustment expensesesiain other
costs expected to be incurred as the premiumsaane@. If the computation results in an estimateidrealizable value
less than zero, a liability will be accrued for fmemium deficiency. During 2010, 2009 and 2008,deéerred $58.2
million, $53.6 million and $54.9 million of policgcquisition costs and amortized $57.3 million, $52illion and $55.1
million of deferred policy acquisition costs, resfieely. Therefore, the net deferrals of policygaisition costs were
$0.9 million, $1.3 million and ($0.2) million for®0, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Business Combinations

We account for business combinations using the lase method of accounting pursuant to Accountirandrds
Codification ("*ASC”) 805, “Business CombinationsThe cost of an acquired entity is allocated toahsets acquired
(including identified intangible assets) and lidles assumed based on their estimated fair vallibg. excess of the cost
of an acquired entity over the net of the amoustsgmed to assets acquired and liabilities assusad asset referred to
as Goodwill. Indirect and general expenses rel&tedusiness combinations are expensed as incuriRethr to 2009
indirect and general expenses were capitalized.

Effective August 29, 2008, we acquired 80% of tmued and outstanding membership interests inulhsidiaries now
comprising the Excess & Umbrella business unitcfamsideration of $15.0 million. In connection witte acquisition of
membership interests in the subsidiaries comprisiteg Excess & Umbrella business unit, we executederating
agreement for each subsidiary. The operating aggats grant us the right to purchase the remaidd¥% membership
interests in the subsidiaries comprising the Ex&ekinbrella business unit and grant to an affiliafehe Seller the right
to require us to purchase such remaining membeistgpests (the “Put/Call Option”). The Put/Calpt®n becomes
exercisable by either us or the affiliate of thdlSeupon the earlier of August 29, 2012, the teration of the
employment of the Seller by the Excess & Umbrellsibess unit or a change of control of Hallmarkthé Put/Call
Option is exercised, we would have the right origdilon to purchase the remaining 20% membershigrests in the
Excess & Umbrella business unit for an amount eqoiatine times the average Pre-Tax Income (as efin the
operating agreements) for the previous 12 fiscalrigus. We estimate the ultimate redemption valuthe Put/Call
Option to be $1.3 million at December 31, 2010.

The fair value of the amortizable intangible assatguired and respective amortization periods far Excess &
Umbrella business unit are as follows ($ in thodsan

Tradename $ 757 15 years
Non-compete agreement $ 526 6 years
Agency relationships $ 6,385 15 years

In conjunction with the acquisition, cash and ceghivalents were used as follows (in thousands):

Fair value of tangible assets excluding

cash and cash equivalents $ (3)
Fair value of intangible assets acquired, net tdrded taxes 15,381
Redeemable non-controlling interest assumed (579)
Cash and cash equivalents used in acquisitions,

net of $201 thousand cash and cash equivalegtsrac $ 14,79

Effective June 5, 2009, we acquired all of the éssand outstanding shares of CYR Insurance Manage@mmpany
(“CYR”). CYR has as its primary asset a managemagieement with HCM which provides for CYR to have
management and control of HCM. We acquired alihefissued and outstanding shares of CYR for censiithn of a
base purchase price of $4.0 million paid at clogihgs an override commission in an amount equd%oof the net
premiums and net policy fees of HCM for the yedt&§@and 2011 subject to a maximum of $1.25 millidine override
commission will be paid monthly as the subject gtens and policy fees are written. The fair valfighe management
agreement acquired is $3.2 million and will be atimed over four years. HCM is used to front certanes of business
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HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008

in our Specialty Commercial and Personal Segmeantbeixas where we previously produced policies Fardt party
county mutual insurance companies and reinsureéblfoda fronting fee.

On December 31, 2010, we acquired all of the issretioutstanding capital stock of HNIC for init@insideration of
$14.0 million paid in cash on January 3, 2011. atldition, an earnout of up to $2.0 million is pdgatp the seller
quarterly in an amount equal to 2% of gross cadlégbremiums on new or renewal personal lines imagrgolicies
written by HNIC agents during the three years follmy closing. HNIC is an Ohio domiciled insuranm@mpany that
writes non-standard personal automobile policiesuthh independent agents in 21 states.

The fair value of the intangible assets acquired easpective amortization periods for HNIC are alofvs ($ in
thousands):

Insurance licenses $ 1,300 -
Non-compete agreement $ 670 3years
Agency relationships $ 3,063 10 years

In conjunction with the acquisition, cash and caghivalents were provided as follows ($ in thousand

Fair value of tangible assets excluding

cash and cash equivalents $ 29,796
Fair value of intangible assets acquired, net érded taxes 5,737
Fair value of liabilities assumed (42,937)
Cash and cash equivalents provided by acquis $ (7404

Intangible Assets

We account for our intangible assets according$&€/MA50, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other” (“ASC®B% ASC 350
(1) prohibits the amortization of goodwill and iffithte-lived intangible assets, (2) requires tegtimf goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets on an annualdfs impairment (and more frequently if the ogemce of an event or
circumstance indicates an impairment), (3) requieeing of definite-lived intangible assets if thecurrence of an event
or circumstances indicates an impairment, (4) meguthat reporting units be identified for the mpag of assessing
potential future impairments of goodwill, and (5%moves the forty-year limitation on the amortizatiperiod of
intangible assets that have finite lives.

Pursuant to ASC 350, we have identified the comptm®f goodwill and assigned the carrying valuetluése
components among our five business units, as falloBtandard Commercial business unit - $2.1 milli&&S
Commercial business unit - $18.8 million; Generalation business unit - $9.7 million; Personal lsrt@usiness unit -
$5.3 million; and Excess & Umbrella business ur$#-7 million. The determination of fair value waased on multiple
valuation approaches including an income approditizing discounted cash flows and a market apphoatlizing
observable key ratios of peer companies.

The income approach to determining fair value cagbuhe projections of the cash flows that the repg unit was

expected to generate converted into a present \@duévalent through discounting. Significant asptions in the

income approach model included income projectidisgount rates and terminal growth values. Theadist rate was
based on a risk free rate plus a beta adjustedyedsk premium and specific company risk premiuiirhe assumptions
were based on historical experience, expectatidrigtore performance, expected market conditiond ather factors
requiring judgment and estimates. While we belighveeassumptions used in these models were redsotiad inherent
uncertainty in predicting future performance andkaaconditions may change over time and influetieeoutcome of
future testing.

The market approach to determining fair value 2gili observable key metrics of similar peer comasieh as price to
earnings ratios for current year earnings and fmted 2011 earnings. Additionally, the direct tjziation of earnings
method was utilized.
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During 2010, 2009 and 2008, we completed the fitsp prescribed by ASC 350 for testing for impaimimand
determined that there was no impairment.

We have obtained various intangible assets frorersdwacquisitions since 2002. The table belowildethe gross and
net carrying amounts of these assets by major eatémn thousands):

December 31,

2010 2009
Gross Carrying Amount:
Customer/agent relationships $ 32,178 29,114
Tradename 3,440 3,440
Management agreement 3,232 3,232
Insurance licenses 1,300 -
Non-compete & employment agreements 4,235 3,565
Total gross carrying amount 44,384 39,351
Accumulated Amortization:
Customer/agent relationships (8,608) (6,676)
Tradename (1,012) (782)
Management agreement (1,279) (471)
Insurance licenses - -
Non-compete & employment agreements (3,244) (2,549)
Total accumulated amortization (14,143) (10,478)
Total net carrying amou $ 30,24. $ 28,87

Insurance licenses are not amortized because tiey dn indefinite life. We amortize definite-livettangible assets
straight line over their respective lives. Thdreated aggregate amortization expense for defliigsl intangible assets
for the next five years is as follows (in thousgnds

2011 $ 3,586
2012 $ 3,586
2013 $ 3,115
2014 $ 2,526
2015 $ 2,468

The weighted average amortization period for deditived intangible assets by major class is devi:

Years
Tradename 15
Customer relationships 15
Management agreement 4
Non-compete agreements 5

The aggregate weighted average period to amohesetassets is approximately 13 years.
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Leases

We have several leases, primarily for office féieii and computer equipment, which expire in vagigaars through

2020. Some of these leases include rent escalptavisions throughout the term of the lease. Wgease the average
annual cost of the lease with the difference toabmial rent invoices recorded as deferred renthwid classified in

accounts payable and other accrued expenses @onsolidated balance sheets.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment (including leasehold impnosets), aggregating $11.9 million and $10.1 milliah December
31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, which is inclutedther assets, is recorded at cost and is degeecusing the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives ofdbeets (three to ten years). Depreciation expEms2010, 2009 and
2008 was $1.1 million, $0.8 million and $0.7 miliiorespectively. Accumulated depreciation was $8illon and $8.0
million at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively

Variable Interest Entities

On June 21, 2005, we formed Hallmark Statutory TtugTrust I”), an unconsolidated trust subsidiafgr the sole
purpose of issuing $30.0 million in trust prefersturities. Trust | used the proceeds from the sfthese securities
and our initial capital contribution to purchased¥Bmillion of subordinated debt securities fromllhtark. The debt
securities are the sole assets of Trust |, angdlyenents under the debt securities are the soémuoes of Trust .

On August 23, 2007, we formed Hallmark Statutorystrl (“Trust 1I”), an unconsolidated trust suligigy, for the sole
purpose of issuing $25.0 million in trust preferseturities. Trust Il used the proceeds from #ie ef these securities
and our initial capital contribution to purchases® million of subordinated debt securities fromllhtark. The debt
securities are the sole assets of Trust Il, angdlyenents under the debt securities are the sedmues of Trust 1.

We evaluate on an ongoing basis our investmenigust | and Il (collectively the “Trusts”) and camie to conclude
that, while the Trusts continue to be variableriese entities (“VIE'S”), we are not the primary lediciary. Therefore,
the Trusts are not included in our consolidatedrfoial statements.

We are also involved in the normal course of bussneith VIE’'s primarily as a passive investor inrtgage-backed
securities and certain collateralized corporatekdaans issued by third party VIE's. The maximurpesure to loss
with respect to these investments is limited toitivestment carrying values, included in the coidsdéd balance sheets.

Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses (“LAE”") reptetbe estimated ultimate net cost of all repo@ed unreported
losses incurred through December 31, 2010, 20026@608. The reserves for unpaid losses and LAEestiemated using
individual case-basis valuations and statisticallyses. These estimates are subject to the efédctiends in loss
severity and frequency. Although considerablealdlity is inherent in such estimates, we belidvat the reserves for
unpaid losses and LAE are adequate. The estiraegesontinually reviewed and adjusted as experidawelops or new
information becomes known. Such adjustments aledeed in current operations.

Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest

We are accreting redeemable non-controlling intetests redemption value from the date of issuatcéhe earliest
redemption date, August 29, 2012, using the interethod. Changes in redemption value are coreidarchange in
accounting estimate. We follow the two class métbhbcomputing earnings per share. We treat dmyportion of the
periodic adjustment to the redeemable minorityregecarrying amount that reflects a redemptioexicess of fair value
as being akin to an actual dividend.
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Activity related to non-controlling interest forelyears ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 is as/fo{Iin thousands):

2010 2009
Beginning balance $ 1,124 % 737
Accretion of redeemable non-controlling interest 275 355
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest 105 52
Distribution to non-controlling interest (144) (20)
Ending balanc $ 1,36( $ 1,12¢

Recognition of Premium Revenues

Insurance premiums are earned pro rata over thestef the policies. Insurance policy fees are ehaweof the effective
date of the policy. Upon cancellation, any unedrpeemium is refunded to the insured. Insurancenpmas written
include gross policy fees of $13.3 million, $7.1limh and $5.1 million for the years ended DecemBgr 2010, 2009,
and 2008, respectively.

Finance Charges

We receive premium installment fees for each dibdtpayment from policyholders. Instaliment fieeome is classified
as finance charges on the consolidated statememtesfitions and is recognized as the fee is indoice

Also, PAAC provides premium financing for policipeoduced by TGA and certain unaffiliated general eetail agents.
Interest earned on the premium finance notes isbyeAAC for the financing of insurance premiumsésorded as
finance charges. This interest is earned on tHe BU78’s method, which approximates the interasthod for such
short-term notes. The credit risk for our premifinance receivables is mitigated by our abilitycencel the policy in
the event of non-payment.

Relationship with Third Party Insurers

Through December 31, 2005, our Standard Commedrasihess unit marketed policies on behalf of CldoenNational
Insurance Company (“Clarendon”), a third-party mesu Through December 31, 2008, all business aof B&S
Commercial business unit was produced under aifrgpragreement with member companies of the Republmup
(“Republic”), a third-party insurer. These insurancontracts on third party paper are accountedufater agency
accounting. Ceding commissions and other feesuwetainder these arrangements are classified aarned revenue
until earned pro rata over the terms of the pdicigffective July 1, 2009, in states where ourliasae companies are not
admitted, our Excess & Umbrella business unit \rgelicies under fronting arrangements pursuamthich we assume
all of the risk and retrocede a portion of the tiskhird party reinsurers. Through June 30, 2@089,Excess & Umbrella
business unit wrote policies under a fronting ageanent pursuant to which we assumed 35% of thefmisk a third-
party insurer. Ceding commissions and other feesived under this arrangement are recognized e afffective date
of the policy.

Recognition of Commission Revenues of Our StandatSpecialty Commercial Segments

Commission revenues and commission expenses rdlatedurance policies issued by American Hallmirgurance
Services and TGA on behalf of Clarendon and Repubdispectively, are recognized pro rata duringptiéod covered
by the policy. Profit sharing commission is caftad and recognized when the loss ratio, as detethtly a qualified
actuary, deviates from contractual targets. Weiwveca provisional commission as policies are pceduas an advance
against the later determination of the profit sh@rcommission actually earned. The profit shadogimission is an
estimate that varies with the estimated loss ratid is sensitive to changes in that estimate. Cssiom revenues and
commission expenses related to insurance poligssed by our Excess & Umbrella business unit find tparty
insurance carriers and not assumed by our insuisutz®diaries are recognized as of the effectite dithe policy.
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The following table details the profit sharing comsion provisional loss ratio compared to the eatéd ultimate loss
ratio for each effective quota share treaty betwherStandard Commercial Segment and Clarendon.

Treaty Effective Dates

7/1/01 7/1/02 7/1/03 7/1/04
Provisional loss ratio 60.0% 59.0% 59.0% 64.2%
Estimated ultimate loss ratio recorded to
at December 31, 2010 63.5% 64.5% 67.0% 59.4%

As of December 31, 2010, we had a $1.8 million ipsifaring payable for the quota share treaty &ffeculy 1, 2001,

a $2.6 million payable on the quota share treafgcafe July 1, 2003 and a $2.7 million receivabiethe quota share
treaty effective July 1, 2004. As of December 311@we did not have a receivable or payable omtimta share treaty
effective July 1, 2002. The payable or receivabléhe difference between the cash received toatatehe recognized
commission revenue based on the estimated ultilosseratio.

The following table details the profit sharing comsion revenue provisional loss ratio comparedh éstimated
ultimate loss ratio for the effective quota shaeaty between the Specialty Commercial SegmenRamaiblic.

Treaty Effective Dates

01/01/06 01/01/07 01/01/08
Provisional loss ratio 65.0% 65.0% 65.0%
Ultimate loss ratio recorded to at December 310201 57.8% 61.5% 58.6%

As of December 31, 2010 we had a $0.4 million prsfiare receivable for the quota share treaty &ffedanuary 1,
2006 and a $2.1 million profit share receivabletf@ quota share treaty effective January 1, 20080f December 31,
2010, we did not have a receivable or payableHerquota share treaty effective January 1, 200&.r&beivable is the
difference between the cash received to date amdettognized commission revenue based on the éstinudtimate

loss ratio.

Recognition of Claim Servicing Fees

Claim servicing fees are recognized in proportiorthte historical trends of the claim cycle. We ussorical claim
count data that measures the close rate of clainrelation to the policy period covered to substaetthe service
period. The following table summarizes the yeawhich claim servicing fee is recognized by typduos§iness.

Year Claim Servicing Fee Recognized

1s1 2nd 3rd 4th
Commercial property fees 80% - 20% - -
Commercial liability fees 60% 30% 10% -
Personal property fees 90% 10% - -
Personal liability fees 49% 33% 12% 6%

Retail Agent Commissions

We pay monthly commissions to retail agents basedmitten premium produced, but generally recogiime expense
pro rata over the term of the policy. If the pwglis cancelled prior to its expiration, the unearp®rtion of the agent
commission is refundable to us. The unearnedgodf commissions paid to retail agents is inclusedeferred policy
acquisition costs. Commission expenses relatedetansurance policies issued by our Excess & Untbtmisiness unit
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for third party insurance carriers and not assuiingdur insurance company subsidiaries are recodnize of the
effective date of the policy.

Agent Profit Sharing Commissions

We annually pay a profit sharing commission to matependent agency force based upon the resultseabusiness
produced by each agent. We estimate and accrudidbitity to commission expense in the year thesibass is
produced. Commission expense is classified as ofherating expenses in the consolidated stateafegerations.

Income Taxes

We file a consolidated federal income tax retubeferred federal income taxes reflect the futuredansequences of
differences between the tax bases of assets ailitiés and their financial reporting amounts atle year end. Deferred
taxes are recognized using the liability methodergby tax rates are applied to cumulative tempodéfgrences based
on when and how they are expected to affect theagaxn. Deferred tax assets and liabilities atisted for tax rate
changes in effect for the year in which these tenayodifferences are expected to be recoveredtede

Earnings Per Share

The computation of earnings per share is based tigpoweighted average number of common sharesaodisg during
the period plus (in periods in which they havelatilie effect) the effect of common shares potéiytiasuable, primarily
from stock options. (See Notes 11 and 13.)

Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standddard (“FASB”) updated Accounting Standards Cadifion
(“ASC 8207), “Fair Value Measurements and Discl@sir to require additional disclosures about faiduga
measurements regarding transfers between fair \Gtegories as well as purchases, sales, issuancesettlements
related to fair value measurements of financiatrimeents with non-observable inputs. This updates wffective for
interim and annual periods beginning after Decenitier2009 except for disclosures about purchasdss,sissuances
and settlements of financial instruments with ndservable inputs, which are effective for yearsit@gg after
December 15, 2010. The adoption of ASC 820 didhaot and is not expected to have a material imgaciur financial
position or results of operations but does reqaiféitional disclosures.

In January 2010, we adopted new guidance issuethéoyFASB providing that a company should includeasdable

interest entity (“VIE") in its consolidated accosrif the company is the primary beneficiary of ¥i&€. A company is
considered the primary beneficiary of a VIE if &shboth of the following characteristics: (a) trmwpr to direct the
activities of the VIE that most significantly impgaihe VIE's economic performance; and (b) the ddtiign to absorb
losses of the VIE that could potentially be sigrafit to the VIE or the right to receive benefisnfrthe VIE that could
potentially be significant to the VIE. Ongoing ssassment of whether a company is the primary léasfof a VIE is

required. The new guidance replaces the quangtiidsed approach previously required for detemginivhich

company, if any, has a controlling financial intren a VIE. The adoption of this guidance did have a significant
effect on our financial position or results of ogtéons.

In July 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standatpdate (ASU) 2010-20, which requires additionatidisures about
the credit quality of financing receivables anaathnces for credit losses. The additional requirgminclude disclosure
of the nature of credit risks inherent in financiegeivables, how credit risk is analyzed and asstwhen determining
the allowance for credit losses, and the reasonshfo change in the allowance for credit losses disclosures are
effective for us for interim and annual reportingripds ending on or after December 15, 2010. Thwptoh of ASU
2010-20 did not have a material impact on the Camisdinancial position or results of operations.

In April 2009, FASB issued FASB Staff Position NEAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2, “Recognition and Presmtabf
Other-Than-Temporary Impairments”, which was cadifinto ASC Topic 320, “Investment Securities” (‘“6320"),
amending prior other-than-temporary impairment goick for debt in order to make the guidance moeratipnal and
improve the presentation and disclosure of othariemporary impairments in the financial stateme®SC 320 does
not amend existing recognition and measurementagaie related to other-than-temporary impairmentseaifity
securities. The provisions of ASC 320 are effecfareinterim periods ending after June 15, 2009 &dopted ASC 320
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effective April 1, 2009, which resulted in a cuntiva effect adjustment to the beginning balancesetdined earnings
and accumulated other comprehensive income (Idsg)proximately $2.6 million before tax and $1.7limn net of tax.

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In October 2010, the FASB issued new guidanceeeélt the accounting for costs associated withisoguor renewing

insurance contracts. The guidance identifies tleosts relating to the successful acquisition @ ne renewal insurance
contracts which are to be capitalized. The guidanil be effective for us for the year beginnirgndary 1, 2012 and
may be applied prospectively or retrospectivelye e in the process of assessing the effecthbanhiplementation of
the new guidance will have on our financial positand results of operations. The amount of aciiscosts we would
defer under the new guidance may be less thamtlerat deferred under our current accounting practic

Reclassification

Certain previously reported amounts have beenssifiled in order to conform to our current yeargemation. Such
reclassification had no effect on net income ocldtolders’ equity.

Change in the Annual Goodwill Testing Date

In years prior to 2010, we performed our annualdyath impairment testing as of the last day of éourth fiscal quarter.
For 2010, we have changed this date to the firgtadaur fourth fiscal quarter, October 1, in ordemprovide additional
time to quantify the fair value of our reportingitsrand evaluate the results of our testing piothe completion of our
annual financial statements. We determined thatctitange in accounting principle related to theuahtesting date is
preferable under the circumstances because itpriVide sufficient time to complete more analysistequired, to

accommodate accelerated filing requirements and doeresult in adjustments to our financial staets. In addition,
the change in measurement date does not resti iacceleration, delay or avoidance of an impaitrobarge.

Investments

We complete a detailed analysis each quarter Esasghether any decline in the fair value of amgatiment below cost
is deemed other-than-temporary. All securities withunrealized loss are reviewed. We recognizengairment loss
when an investment's value declines below costisteljl for accretion, amortization and previous ethan-temporary
impairments and it is determined that the decknether-than-temporary.

Debt Investments We assess whether we intend to sell, or itasenlikely than not that we will be required tolsel

fixed maturity investment before recovery of itsatized cost basis less any current period credisds. For fixed
maturity investments that are considered other-tharporarily impaired and that we do not intendsétl and will not
be required to sell, we separate the amount ofinffmirment into the amount that is credit relatededit loss
component) and the amount due to all other fact®te credit loss component is recognized in egmiand is the
difference between the investment's amortized basis and the present value of its expected fudasd flows. The
remaining difference between the investment's falue and the present value of future expected ¢asts is

recognized in other comprehensive income.

Equity Investments Some of the factors considered in evaluating thdrea decline in fair value for an equity
investment is other-than-temporary include: (1) ability and intent to retain the investment fomperiod of time
sufficient to allow for an anticipated recoveryvalue; (2) the recoverability of cost; (3) the lémof time and extent to
which the fair value has been less than cost; nthé financial condition and near-term and loeig¥t prospects for the
issuer, including the relevant industry conditicared trends, and implications of rating agency astiand offering
prices. When it is determined that an equity invesit is other-than-temporarily impaired, the segus written down
to fair value, and the amount of the impairmerib@duded in earnings as a realized investment [bs. fair value then
becomes the new cost basis of the investment, mpdwbsequent recoveries in fair value are recegnat disposition.
We recognize a realized loss when impairment isnéekto be other-than-temporary even if a decisiosell an equity
investment has not been made. When we decidelta setporarily impaired available-for-sale equityestment and
we do not expect the fair value of the equity inrent to fully recover prior to the expected tinfesale, the investment
is deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaireth@period in which the decision to sell is made.
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Major categories of net investment income are sunz@a as follows (in thousands):

Twelve Months Ended
December 31

2010 2009 2008
U.S. Treasury securities and
obligations of U.S. Government $ 71 $ 169 $ 918
Corporate bonds 3,905 5,193 2,756
Collateralized corporate bank loans 4,149 1,925 439
Municipal bonds 6,259 6,486 10,101
Mortgage backed 35 15 -
Equity securities-financial services 335 941 647
Equity securities-all other 501 420 327
Cash and cash equivalents 195 216 1,255
15,450 15,365 16,443
Investment expenses (601) (418) (394)
Net investment income $ 14,849 $ 14,947 $ 16,049

No investments in any entity or its affiliates eeded 10% of stockholders’ equity at December 3102Q009 or 2008.
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Major categories of net realized gains (losseshwestments are summarized as follows (in thougands

Twelve Months Ended
December 31

2010 2009 2008

U.S. Treasury securities and

obligations of U.S. Government $ -9 - $ 1,217
Corporate bonds 2,026 31 (2,677)
Collateralized corporate bank loans 2,170 1,513 (355)
Municipal bonds (86) (41) 233
Equity securities financial services 2,858 1,862 157
Equity securities all other 1,434 205 (991)
Net realized gain (loss) 8,402 3,570 (2,416)
Other-than-temporary impairments - (538) (8,845)
Gain (loss) on investments $ 8402% 3032 $ (11,261)

We realized gross gains on investments of $8.6amijl$5.0 million, and $3.3 million during the yeanded December 31, 2010,
2009 and 2008, respectively. We realized grossetss investments of $0.2 million, $1.4 million &7 million during the
years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,ctasgde. We recorded proceeds from the sale oéstment securities of
$137.0 million, $111.6 million and $559.7 milliorudng the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 @68, Zespectively.
Realized investment gains and losses are recogimzmakerations on the specific identification metho
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The amortized cost and estimated fair value of shwents in debt and equity securities by categergsi follows (in
thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized  Unrealizet Unrealized Fair
As of December 31, 2010 Cost Gains Losses Value
U.S. Treasury securities and
obligations of U.S. Government $ 39,767 $ 36 $ - $ 39,803

Corporate bonds 82,956 3,465 (844) 85,577
Collateralized corporate bank loans 106,723 1,685 (95) 108,313
Municipal bonds 153,334 2,421 (1,842) 153,913
Mortgage-backed 750 43 - 793

Total debt securities 383,530 7,650 (2,781) 388,399
Financial service 15,38¢ 5,71( (270 20,88¢
All other 17,08¢ 6,19¢ (123 23,157

Total equity securities 32,469 11,966 (393) 44,042
Total debt and equity securities $ 415,999 $ 19,616 $ (3,174) $ 432,441
As of December 31, 2009
U.S. Treasury securities and

obligations of U.S. Government $ 6,830 $ 23 9% (17) $ 6,836

Corporate bonds 71,378 4,372 (865) 74,885
Collateralized corporate bank loans 23,182 2,818 (1,336) 24,664
Municipal bonds 185,036 2,543 (2,786) 184,793
Mortgage-backed 682 17 (1) 698

Total debt securities 287,108 9,773 (5,005) 291,876
Financial services 17,156 5,008 (232) 21,932
All other 10,095 3,790 (16) 13,869

Total equity securities 27,251 $ 8,798 $ (248) $ 35,801
Total debt and equity securities $ 314,359 $ 18,571 $ (5,253) $ 327,677
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The following schedules summarize the gross urmedlilosses showing the length of time that investméave been
continuously in an unrealized loss position as e€&nber 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 (in thosgand

As of December 31, 2010

12 months or less Longer than 12 months Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
U.S. Treasury securities and

obligations of U.S. Government $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
Corporate bonds 8,036 (13) 2,342 (831) 10,378 (844)
Collateralized corporate bank loans 17,370 (90) 19 (5) 17,389 (95)
Municipal bonds 24,755 (248) 46,591 (1,594) 71,346 (1,842)

Mortgage backed - - - - - -
Total debt securities 50,161 (351) 48,952 (2,430) 99,113 (2,781)
Financial services 1,234 (270) - - 1,234 (270)
All other 625 (123) - - 625 (123)
Total equity securities 1,859 (393) - - 1,859 (393)
Total debt and equity securities $ 52,028 (744) $ 48952 % (2,430) $ 100,972 $ (3,174)

As of December 31, 2009
12 months or less Longer than 12 months Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
U.S. Treasury securities and

obligations of U.S. Government $ 3,203 a7 $ - $ - $ 3,202 $ a7
Corporate bonds 17,945 (68) 5,292 (797) 23,237 (865)
Collateralized corporate bank loans 979 (98) 4,350 (1,238) 5,329 (1,336)
Municipal bonds 28,940 (1,524) 42,183 (1,262) 71,123 (2,786)
Mortgage backed 51 (1) - - 51 (1)
Total debt securities 51,117 (1,708) 51,825 (3,297) 102,942 (5,005)
Financial services 1,417 (232) - - 1,417 (232)
All other 658 (16) - - 658 (16)
Equity securities 2,075 (248) - - 2,075 (248)
Total debt and equity securities $ 53,193 (1,956) $ 51,825$% (3,297) $ 105,017 $ (5,253)

At December 31, 2010, the gross unrealized loss®e than twelve months old were attributable tod8ht security positions.
At December 31, 2009, the gross unrealized loss®e than twelve months old were attributable todéBt security positions.
We consider these losses as a temporary declinglue as they are predominately on bonds that weotlintend to sell and do
not believe we will be required to sell prior t@ogery of our amortized cost basis. We see noratigications that the decline
in values of these securities is other-than-tenora
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Based on evidence gathered through our normaltoegdiuation process, we presently expect thadeddk securities held in our
investment portfolio will be paid in accordancewiheir contractual terms. Nonetheless, it igast reasonably possible that the
performance of certain issuers of these debt gesunvill be worse than currently expected resgltin future write-downs
within our portfolio of debt securities.

Also, as a result of the challenging market condgi we expect the volatility in the valuation of @quity securities to continue
in the foreseeable future. This volatility may ldadmpairments on our equity securities portfaiochanges regarding retention
strategies for certain equity securities.

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of delourities at December 31, 2010 by contractualmtatare as follows.
Expected maturities may differ from contractual undies because certain borrowers may have thet tighcall or prepay
obligations with or without penalties.

Amortized Fair
Cost Value
(in thousands)

Due in one year or less $ 34,427 $ 34,778
Due after one year through five years 197,493 201,829
Due after five years through ten years 110,887 111,519
Due after ten years 39,973 39,480
Mortgage-backed 750 793

$ 383530 $ 388,399
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Activity related to the credit component recognizedearnings on debt securities held by us for Wwhacportion of other-than-

temporary impairment was recognized in other coimgmsive income for the year ended December 31, @8 follows (in
thousands):

Balance, January 1, 2009 $

Credit component of other-than-temporary impairmesitreclassified to OCl in
conjuction with the cumulative effect transitiadjustment (1) 1,168

Additions for the credit component on debt secesiin which other-than-temporary
impairment was not previously recognized

Balance, January 1, 2010 $ 1,168
Reductions for securities sold or matured durirgptbriod (1,168)
Balance, December 31, 2( $ -

(1) As of April 1, 2009, we had securities with B3nillion of other-than-temporary impairment prewsty recognized
in earnings of which $1.1 million represented thedd component and $2.6 million represented thecredit component
which was reclassified back to accumulated otbemmehensive income through a cumulative-effeatstdjent.

We have certain of our securities pledged for theeffit of various state insurance departments eimdurers. These securities
are included with our available-for-sale debt s#imsrbecause we have the ability to trade thesergms. We retain the interest

earned on these securities. These securities badying value of $33.4 million at December 311@@nd a carrying value of
$29.7 million at December 31, 2009.

3. Fair Value:

ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a condistamework for measuring fair value and expandsldsure requirements
about fair value measurements. ASC 820, among thiregs, requires us to maximize the use of obddevimputs and minimize
the use of unobservable inputs when measuringvidire. In addition, ASC 820 precludes the use othbldiscounts when

measuring the fair value of instruments tradedriraetive market, which were previously appliedame holdings of publicly
traded equity securities.

Effective January 1, 2008, we determine the faineaf our financial instruments based on theValue hierarchy established in
ASC 820. In accordance with ASC 820, we utilize fbllowing fair value hierarchy:

» Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for idegitassets;

* Level 2: inputs to the valuation methodology induguoted prices for similar assets and liabilifresctive
markets, inputs of identical assets for less actiaekets, and inputs that are observable for thetas liability,
either directly or indirectly, for substantiallyatiull term of the instrument; and

» Level 3: inputs to the valuation methodology that anobservable for the asset or liability.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable nmalde when available.

Under ASC 820, we determine fair value based orpthoe that would be received for an asset or faitansfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participantshenmeasurement date. It is our policy to maxintim use of observable
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inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inpiitsn developing fair value measurements, in acema@avith the fair value
hierarchy described above. Fair value measurenfientssets and liabilities where there existstihior no observable market
data are calculated based upon our pricing potley,economic and competitive environment, the aharestics of the asset or
liability and other factors as appropriate. Thestimated fair values may not be realized uponahctale or immediate
settlement of the asset or liability.

Where quoted prices are available on active examfay identical instruments, investment securities classified within Level
1 of the valuation hierarchy. Level 1 investmestigities include common and preferred stock.

Level 2 investment securities include corporatedsprollateralized corporate bank loans, munichmaids, and U.S. Treasury
securities for which quoted prices are not avadladoh active exchanges for identical instrumentse (We a third party pricing
service to determine fair values for each Level\@stment security in all asset classes. Sincéeduymrices in active markets for
identical assets are not available, these pricesl@ermined using observable market informatiai s quotes from less active
markets and/or quoted prices of securities withlamtharacteristics, among other things. We havéewed the processes used
by the pricing service and have determined that theult in fair values consistent with the reqmiemts of ASC 820 for Level 2
investment securities.

In cases where there is limited activity or lesmsparency around inputs to the valuation, investraecurities are classified
within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy. Leveirestments are valued based on the best avaialtdein order to approximate
fair value. This data may be internally developstt consider risk premiums that a market partidipgould require.
Investment securities classified within Level 3linte other less liquid investment securities.
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The following table presents for each of the failue hierarchy levels, our assets that are measuifadit value on a
recurring basis at December 31, 2010 and Decemhe2®9 (in thousands).

As of December 31, 2010

U.S. Treasury securities and
obligations of U.S. Government $

Corporate bonds

Collateralized corporate bank loans

Municipal bonds

Mortgage-backed

Total debt securities

Financial services
All other

Total equity securities

Quoted Prices in Other
Active Markets for ~ Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
- $ 39,803 % - 39,803
- 85,577 - 85,577
- 106,899 1,414 108,313
- 133,346 20,567 153,913
- 793 - 793
- 366,418 21,981 388,399
20,885 - - 20,885
23,157 - - 23,157
44,042 - - 44,042
44042 $ 366,418 $ 21,981 432,441

Total debt and equity securities ~ $
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As of December 31, 2009

Quoted Prices in Other
Active Markets for ~ Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
U.S. Treasury securities and
obligations of U.S. Government $ - $ 6,836 $ - $ 6,836
Corporate bonds - 74,885 - 74,885
Collateralized corporate bank loans - 24,664 - 24,664
Municipal bonds - 159,521 25,272 184,793
Mortgage-backed - 698 - 698
Total debt securities - 266,604 25,272 291,876
Financial services 21,932 - - 21,932
All other 13,869 - - 13,869
Total equity securities 35,801 - - 35,801
Total debt and equity securities  $ 35801 $ 266,604 $ 25272 $ 327,677

Due to significant unobservable inputs into theuaibn model for certain municipal bonds and aatelialized corporate
bank loan in illiquid markets, we classified theselevel 3 in the fair value hierarchy. We usednaome approach in order
to derive an estimated fair value of the municipahds classified as Level 3, which included inpsiish as expected
holding period, benchmark swap rate, benchmarlodisicrate and a discount rate premium for illiqyidiThe fair value of

the collateralized corporate bank loan classifisdeael 3 is based on discounted cash flows ugimgeot yield to maturity

of 11.0%, which is based on the relevant spread IoNBOR for this particular loan to discount futucash flows.

The following table summarizes the changes invalue for all financial assets measured at faiu@aln a recurring basis
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)idgithe year ended December 31, 2010 and 200®i¢insands).

2010 2009
Beginning balance as of January 1 $ 25,272% 46,104
Net purchases, issuances, sales and settlements 75)3,7 (20,525)
Total realized/unrealized gains included in nebme - -
Net gains (losses) included in other compreherisiz@me 484 (307)
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3 - -
Ending balance as of Decembe| $ 21,98 $ 2527
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4.  Other Assets

The following table details our other assets aBedember 31, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

2010 2009
Profit sharing commission receivable $ 5,143 $ 9,561
Accrued investment income 3,809 3,611
Debt issuance costs 1,311 1,362
Investment in unconsolidated trust subsidiaries 1,702 1,702
Fixed assets 2,829 2,140
Other assets 413 403

$ 15207 $ 18,779

5. Reserves for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses:

Activity in the reserves for unpaid losses and LAE ismanized as follows (in thousands):

2010 2009 2008

Balance at January 1 $ 184,662 $ 156,363 $ 125,338
Less reinsurance recoverable 8,412 6,338 4,489
Net Balance at January 1 176,250 150,025 120,849
Incurred related to:

Current year 193,354 151,999 146,059

Prior years 9,190 1,620 (1,815)
Total incurred 202,544 153,619 144,244
Paid related to:

Current year 91,424 62,584 64,610

Prior years 73,647 64,810 50,458
Total paid 165,071 127,394 115,068
Net Balance at December 31 213,723 176,250 150,025

Plus reinsurance recoverable 37,954 8,412 6,338

Balance at December $ 251,67 $ 184,66: $ 156,36:

The $9.2 million and $1.6 million unfavorable deyginent and $1.8 million favorable development iipaccident years
recognized in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectivepresent normal changes in our loss reserve essmat®010 and 2009,
the aggregate loss reserve estimates for priorsyeare increased to reflect unfavorable loss deveémt when the
available information indicated a reasonable Ith@did that the ultimate losses would be more tharpthvious estimates. In
2008, the aggregate loss reserve estimates for yemrs were decreased to reflect favorable losgldement when the
available information indicated a reasonable Iikedid that the ultimate losses would be less tharptievious estimates.
Generally, changes in reserves are caused by ieasabetween actual experience and previous exjmtsaand by reduced
emphasis on the Bornhuetter-Ferguson method dilne taging of the accident years.

The $9.2 million increase in reserves for unpaissés and LAE recognized in 2010 was attributablé3a@l million
unfavorable development on claims incurred in th@2accident year, $0.6 million unfavorable devaiept on claims
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incurred in the 2008 accident year and $3.2 millioriavorable development on claims incurred in 2007 and prior
accident years. Our Standard Commercial busineissE&S Commercial business unit, Excess and Uitibbrisiness unit
and Personal Lines business unit accounted for Bélion, $1.6 million, $0.1 million and $3.1 mitin of the increase in
reserves recognized during 2010, partially offsetab$0.2 million decrease in reserves for our Gan&viation business
unit. The increase in reserves for our Standanthi@ercial business unit was driven by unfavorabdént$ development in
the 2009 accident year due to late developing largeerty claims, including weather related clainfrther contributing
to the increase in reserves for our Standard Cowialdyusiness unit was unfavorable claims develogrivethe 2007 and
prior accident years driven by large loss develagnie property claims coupled with modest incredsegeneral liability.
The increase in reserves for our E&S Commerciainass unit was primarily the result of unfavoratéelopment due to
modest increases in 2008 hurricane claims andgttrening in general liability case reserves in2B87 and prior accident
years. The increase in reserves for our PersonadsLbusiness unit was primarily the result of uafable claims
development in the 2009 and 2008 accident yearslymhse to geographic expansion and the settlemebad faith claims
from the 2002 and 2001 accident years.

The $1.6 million increase in reserves for unpaigsés and LAE recognized in 2009 was attributabl&ad® million
unfavorable development on claims incurred in @& accident year, $0.7 million favorable developmen claims
incurred in the 2007 accident year and $0.3 milliorfavorable development on claims incurred in 2006 and prior
accident years. Our E&S Commercial business umdt@eneral Aviation business unit accounted fol $dillion and $0.3
million of the increase in reserves recognized u2009, partially offset by a $1.8 million and Gmillion decrease in
reserves for our Standard Commercial businessamditPersonal Lines business unit. The increasesirves for our E&S
Commercial business unit was driven by the devetagnon a small number of commercial auto liabititgims in which
later reporting of medical information resultedimereased case reserves on claims with similargatterns. The decrease
in reserves for our Standard Commercial businegsnas primarily the result of favorable claims depment in the 2006
through 2008 accident years with respect to geretaility, partially offset by a commercial paclagjability claim in
accident year 2005. The decrease in reserves fdPengonal Lines business unit was primarily theailiteof favorable claims
development in accident years 2007 and 2008 asaseillloss recovery from the 2002 accident year.

The $1.8 million decrease in reserves for unpaigbds and LAE recognized in 2008 was attributabl&Q@ million
favorable development on claims incurred in the7286cident year, $0.9 million favorable developmemtlaims incurred
in the 2006 accident year and $0.2 million favoeatdbvelopment on claims incurred in the 2005 amal @ccident years.
Our Standard Commercial business unit and Perdanak business unit accounted for $2.4 million &@d7 million,
respectively, of the decrease in reserves recogmiz2008, partially offset by a $1.5 million inase in reserves in our E&S
Commercial business unit. The decrease in resdovesur Standard Commercial business unit was gmiignthe result of
favorable claims development in the 2007 acciderar with respect to the commercial automobile pfalsiamage and
commercial property lines of business, offset sohmvby unfavorable development in accident yeas20h respect to
commercial package liability coverage. The decréaseserves for our Personal Lines business uadét primarily the result
of favorable claims development in accident yed¥&®0The increase in reserves for our E&S CommkEbcisiness unit was
primarily the result of unfavorable claims develaarhin accident years 2006 and 2007 attributable $onall number of
larger than normal commercial automobile liabilifgims, partially offset by favorable claims deysizent on the general
liability line of business in accident years 208Botugh 2007.

6. Reinsurance

We reinsure a portion of the risk we underwriteorder to control the exposure to losses and toeptatapital resources.
We cede to reinsurers a portion of these riskspaydpremiums based upon the risk and exposureegbdlicies subject to
such reinsurance. Ceded reinsurance involvestcrisli and is generally subject to aggregate las#td. Although the
reinsurer is liable to us to the extent of the samance ceded, we are ultimately liable as thectiresurer on all risks
reinsured. Reinsurance recoverables are repofted allowances for uncollectible amounts. We nmmihe financial
condition of reinsurers on an ongoing basis anievewur reinsurance arrangements periodically. nReiers are selected
based on their financial condition, business pecastiand the price of their product offerings. Idesrto mitigate credit risk
to reinsurance companies, most of our reinsurapceverable balance as of December 31, 2010 isreittisurers that have
an A.M. Best rating of “A-" or better.

The following table presents our gross and net prems written and earned and reinsurance recovéiesach of the last
three years (in thousands):
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2010 2009 2008
Premium Written :
Direct $ 249,071 $ 214,074 $ 152,156
Assumed 71,902 73,484 91,693
Ceded (39,332) (25,818) (8,922)

$ 281,64: $ 261,74 $ 234,92°

Premium Earned:

Direct $ 239,282 $ 185,727 $ 155,616
Assumed 75,461 83,747 89,040
Ceded (36,472) (18,402) (8,336)

$ 278,27: $ 251,07. $ 236,32(

Reinsurance recover $ 22,17: $ 8,97¢ $ 11,99/

Included in reinsurance recoverable on the conawi balance sheets are paid loss recoverable .6f iillion as of
December 31, 2010 and 2009.

We currently reinsure the following exposures ogibeiss generated by our business units:

Property catastropheOur property catastrophe reinsurance reducefirthacial impact a catastrophe could have
on our commercial and personal property insurances! Catastrophes might include multiple clainm a
policyholders. Catastrophes include hurricanesidatiorms, earthquakes, hailstorms, explosions,reewenter
weather and fires. Our property catastrophe reamae is excess-of-loss reinsurance, which provides
reinsurance coverage for losses in excess of aedgrpon amount. We utilize catastrophe modeksssist in
determining appropriate retention and limits toghase. The terms of our property catastropheusanse are:

0 We retain the first $3.0 million of property catagthe losses; and

0 Our reinsurers reimburse us 100% for any loss gesx of our $3.0 million retention up to $30.0 ioiil
for each catastrophic occurrence, subject to areggge limit of $54.0 million.

Commercial property Our commercial property reinsurance is excedsss coverage intended to reduce the
financial impact a single-event or catastrophislogy have on our results. The terms of our coriadgsroperty
reinsurance are:

0 We retain the first $1.0 million of loss for eaanemercial property risk;

0 Our reinsurers reimburse us for the next $5.0 onilfor each commercial property risk, and $10.0ioml
for all commercial property risk involved in anye@nccurrence, in all cases subject to an aggrdigaite
of $30.0 million for all commercial property lossescurring during the treaty period; and

o Individual risk facultative reinsurance is purchdisn any commercial property with limits above $6.0
million.

Commercial casualty Our commercial casualty reinsurance is excedessf coverage intended to reduce the
financial impact a single-event loss may have anresults. The terms of our commercial casualitysigance are:

0 We retain the first $1.0 million of any commerdiability risk; and
o Our reinsurers reimburse us for the next $5.0 amlfior each commercial liability risk.

Aviation. We purchase reinsurance specific to the aviatighks underwritten by our General Aviation busimes
unit. This reinsurance provides aircraft hull diathility coverage and airport liability coverage a per occurrence
basis on the following terms:

0 We retain the first $1.0 million of each aircraftihor liability loss or airport liability loss; ah

F-30



HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008

0 Our reinsurers reimburse us for the next $5.5 amliof each combined aircraft hull and liability $oand
for the next $4.0 million of each airport liabilityss.

Excess & Umbrella Currently, we purchase proportional reinsurawbere we retain 20% of each risk and cede
the remaining 80% to reinsurers. In states whexamg not yet licensed to offer a non-admitted pehdwe utilize

a fronting arrangement pursuant to which we assaiinef the risk and then retrocede a portion ot ttigk under
the same proportional reinsurance treaty. Throlghe 30, 2009, our Excess & Umbrella business write
policies pursuant to a general agency agreemehtamtunaffiliated carrier and we assumed 35% ofigiefrom
that carrier.

E&S Commercial Currently, we purchase proportional reinsuranpeour medical professional liability risks
where we retain 40% of each risk and cede the rengab0% to reinsurers. In states where we arg/etlicensed
to offer a non-admitted product, we utilize a fiogtarrangement pursuant to which we assume alefisk and
then retrocede a portion of that risk under theesproportional reinsurance treaty.

Hallmark County Mutual HCM is used to front certain lines of businessur Specialty Commercial and Personal
Segments in Texas where we previously producedipslifor third party county mutual insurance comesand
reinsured 100% for a fronting fee. In addition, M@ used to front business produced by unaffitiaterd parties.
HCM does not retain any business.

Hallmark National Insurance Companysimultaneous with the December 31, 2010 closihgur acquisition of
HNIC, HNIC entered into reinsurance contracts wath affiliate of the seller, State Auto Property &dDalty
Insurance Company (“SAPCI”), pursuant to which SAR@I handle all claims and assume all liabilitiasising
under policies issued by HNIC prior to closing arridg a transition period of up to six months faliag the
closing.
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7. Note Payable

On January 27, 2006, we borrowed $15.0 million wnoler revolving credit facility to fund the cashqréred to close the
acquisition of the subsidiaries now comprising &&S Commercial business unit. As of December 3M,(2and 2009, the
balance on the revolving note was $2.8 million,ckhiurrently bears interest at 2.80% per annuree ($ote 9.)

8. Subordinated Debt Securities

On June 21, 2005, we entered into a trust prefesegdirities transaction pursuant to which we issb@@l9 million aggregate

principal amount of subordinated debt securities idl2035. To effect the transaction, we formedsTt as a Delaware statutory
trust. Trust | issued $30.0 million of preferreztarities to investors and $0.9 million of commecwities to us. Trust | used
the proceeds from these issuances to purchaseaitoedinated debt securities. Our Trust | subotdithalebt securities bear an
initial interest rate of 7.725% until June 15, 2pabwhich time interest will adjust quarterly twetthree-month LIBOR rate plus
3.25 percentage points. Trust | pays dividendsterpreferred securities at the same rate. Undertérms of our Trust |

subordinated debt securities, we pay interest ealyh quarter and the principal of the note at ntgtuihe subordinated debt
securities are uncollaterized and do not requirent@aance of minimum financial covenants. As of &aber 31, 2010, the

balance of our Trust | subordinated debt was $80ligon.

On August 23, 2007, we entered into a trust prefesecurities transaction pursuant to which weed<k25.8 million aggregate
principal amount of subordinated debt securitiese @u 2037. To effect the transaction, we formedstrl as a Delaware

statutory trust. Trust Il issued $25.0 million pfeferred securities to investors and $0.8 millmihcommon securities to

us. Trust Il used the proceeds from these isssatacpurchase the subordinated debt securities. T@ust 11 subordinated debt
securities bear an initial interest rate of 8.28%il Beptember 15, 2017, at which time interest adjust quarterly to the three-
month LIBOR rate plus 2.90 percentage points. fTHupays dividends on its preferred securitieshet same rate. Under the
terms of our Trust |l subordinated debt securities,pay interest only each quarter and the prim@pthe note at maturity. The
subordinated debt securities are uncollaterizeddandot require maintenance of minimum financialermants. As of December
31, 2010, the balance of our Trust Il subordinateldt was $25.8 million.

9. Credit Facilities:

10.

Our First Restated Credit Agreement with The Fiational Bank dated January 27, 2006 was most tigcamended effective
May 27, 2010 to extend the term of the facilityiuMay 27, 2012, provide for the repayment of ath@unts outstanding at
termination on or before April 30, 2015, reduce teeolving commitment to $5.0 million from $25.0lkan and eliminate the
sub-facility for premium finance operations. Thimendment further revised various affirmative angatiee covenants and
changed the interest rate, at our election, toptiae rate or LIBOR plus 2.5%. We pay an annualaye fee of 0.25% of the
average daily unused balance of the credit facilide pay letter of credit fees at the rate of 1.0886annum. Our obligations
under the revolving credit facility are securedabgecurity interest in the capital stock of albof subsidiaries, guarantees of all
of our subsidiaries and the pledge of all of ounsttsurance company assets. The revolving credititiy contains covenants
that, among other things, require us to maintaitagefinancial and operating ratios and restratain distributions, transactions
and organizational changes. As of December 3102@& were in compliance with or had obtained weaivef all of our
covenants. As of December 31, 2010, we had $2IBmoutstanding under this facility.

Segment Information

We pursue our business activities through subsidiavhose operations are organized into produaiits and are supported by
our insurance carrier subsidiaries. Our non-carisurance activities are organized by businesss unio the following
reportable segments:

e Standard Commercial Segment. The Standard Commercial Segment includes thedatenlines commercial
property/casualty insurance products and serviaadlbd by our Standard Commercial business unithwisicomprised
of our American Hallmark Insurance Services and E<tMsidiaries.

e Specialty Commercial SegmenfThe Specialty Commercial Segment includes thegxand surplus lines commercial

property/casualty and medical professional liapilitsurance products and services handled by ou8 E&mmercial
business unit, the general aviation insurance psdand services handled by our General Aviatigirtass unit and the
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commercial excess liability and umbrella productdied by our Excess & Umbrella business unit. @&S
Commercial business unit is comprised of our TGAAR and TGARSI subsidiaries. Our General Aviatlmmsiness
unit is comprised of our Aerospace Insurance MarsggASRI and ACMG subsidiaries. Our Excess & Unibarel
business unit is compromised of our HXS and HDSsilifries. The Excess & Umbrella business unit aeguired
August 29, 2008.

Personal Segment. The Personal Segment includes the non-standardsomdr automobile, low value
dwelling/homeowners, renters and motorcycle instggoroducts and services handled by our Personaklbusiness
unit which is comprised of American Hallmark Genekgency, Inc. and Hallmark Claims Services, Ifmth of which
do business as Hallmark Insurance Company.

The retained premium produced by these reportagments is supported by the following insurancemammy subsidiaries:

American Hallmark Insurance Company of Texgmesently retains all of the risks on the comnangroperty/casualty
policies marketed within the Standard Commerciargent, retains a portion of the risks on persowditigs marketed
within the Personal Segment and assumes a portitimeaisks on the commercial, medical professidizddility and
aviation property/casualty policies marketed wittiia Specialty Commercial Segment.

Hallmark Specialty Insurance Companyresently retains a portion of the risks on thenowmrcial and medical
professional liability property/casualty policiesrketed within the Specialty Commercial Segment.

Hallmark Insurance Companypresently retains a portion of the risks on bbth personal policies marketed within the
Personal Segment and the commercial and aviatimpepty/casualty products marketed within the Spicia
Commercial Segment.

Hallmark National Insurance Companywas acquired on December 31, 2010. Simultanedtistire closing of the
acquisition, HNIC entered into reinsurance congadath an affiliate of the seller, SAPCI, pursugmtvhich SAPCI will
handle all claims and assume all liabilities agsimder policies issued by HNIC prior to the clgsand a portion of the
liabilities during a transition period of up to simonths following the closing. Commencing Januir2011, HNIC
retains a portion of the risks on the personalgedi marketed within thBersonal Segment.

Hallmark County Mutual Insurance Companyontrol and management was acquired effective Jur&909 through
the acquisition of all of the issued and outstagdihares of CYR Insurance Management Company (“GYRYR has
as its primary asset a management agreement withl, dich provides for CYR to have management anatrobd of

HCM. HCM is used to front certain lines of busisés our Specialty Commercial and Personal Segniantexas
where we previously produced policies for thirdtparounty mutual insurance companies and reinstfo for a
fronting fee. HCM does not retain any business.

AHIC, HIC, and HSIC have entered into a poolinthagement pursuant to which AHIC retains 46.0%heftbtal net premiums
written by any of them, HIC retains 34.1% of oulatanet premiums written by any of them and HSItires 19.9% of our total net
premiums written by any of them. Neither HCM nd¥Ig is a party to the intercompany pooling arrangetn
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The following is additional business segment infation for the twelve months ended December 31, 20009, and 2008 (in

thousands):

2010 2009 2008
Revenues
Standard Commercial Segment $ 69,670 % 76,496 84,075
Speciality Commercial Segment 131,076 131,504 127,882
Personal Segment 96,741 73,785 64,475
Corporate 9,573 5,254 (7,742)
Consolidate $ 307,06( $ 287,03 268,69(
Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Standard Commercial Segment $ 159 $ 87 173
Speciality Commercial Segment 3,703 3,075 2,718
Personal Segment 666 494 255
Corporate 223 449 73
Consolidate $ 4,751 $ 4,10t 3,21¢
Interest Expense
Standard Commercial Segment $ - $ - -
Speciality Commercial Segment - 30 96
Personal Segment - - -
Corporate 4,598 4,572 4,649
Consolidate $ 4,59¢ $ 4,60z 4,74
Tax Expense/(Benefit)
Standard Commercial Segment $ (1,384)% 1,905 1,763
Speciality Commercial Segment 4,015 5,151 5,116
Personal Segment (789) 2,482 1,993
Corporate (1,017) (908) (697)
Consolidate $ 82t $ 8,63( 8,17¢
Pre-tax Income (Loss), net of non-controlling ietsr
Standard Commercial Segment $ (2,316)% 9,266 9,683
Speciality Commercial Segment 13,315 20,883 21,328
Personal Segment (705) 11,000 8,989
Corporate (2,135) (7,944) (18,926)
Consolidate $ 8,15¢ $ 33,20t 21,07«
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Segment Information continued

The following is additional business segment infation as of the following dates (in thousands):

December 31

201C 2009
Asset:
Standard Commercial Segm $ 118,81t $ 136,74
Specialty Commercial Segmi 330,84 280,97(
Personal Segme 204,66C 109,84
Corporat 82,29¢ 101,31
Consolidate $ 736,62( $ 628,86

Earnings Per Share

We have adopted the provisions of ASC 260, “EamiRgr Share,” requiring presentation of both basit diluted earnings per
share. A reconciliation of the numerators and d@nators of the basic and diluted per share cdiicula is presented below (in
thousands, except per share amounts):

201C 200¢ 200¢
Numerator for both basic and diluted earnings pare
Net incom attributable t Hallmark Financial Service
Inc. $ 7334 % 24575 $ 12,89
Denominator, basic shal 20,12:¢ 20,62( 20,80:¢
Effect of dilutive securitie:
Stock option 52 13 74
Denominator, diluted shar 20,17¢ 20,63 20,87
Basic earnings per sha $ 06 $ 119 $ 0.62
Diluted earnings per sha $ 06 $ 119 $ 0.62

For the years ended 2010, 2009 and 2008 we had@®8hares of common stock potentially issuablegp@rcise of employee
stock options that were excluded from the weiglateerage number of shares outstanding on a dilusis because the effect of
such options would be anti-dilutive. These instrataexpire at varying times from 2016 to 2018

Regulatory Capital Restrictions

AHIC, domiciled in Texas, is limited in the paymaeaitdividends to their stockholders in any 12-mopémiod, without the prior
written consent of the Texas Department of Insuratw the greater of statutory net income for thergalendar year or 10% of
statutory policyholders’ surplus as of the prioayend. Dividends may only be paid from unassigsegblus funds. HIC,
domiciled in Arizona, is limited in the payment difvidends to the lesser of 10% of prior year pdiigers’ surplus or prior
year’'s net investment income, without prior writtapproval from the Arizona Department of Insurand&IC, domiciled in
Oklahoma, is limited in the payment of dividendstie greater of 10% of prior year policyholderst@us or prior year's
statutory net income, not including realized cdpiains, without prior written approval from the l@koma Insurance
Department. HNIC, domiciled in Ohio, is limited the payment of dividends to the greater of 10%tatusory policyholders’
surplus as of the prior December 31 or statutetyimcome as of the prior December 31 without pwatten approval from the
Ohio Insurance Department. During 2011, the aggeegadinary dividend capacity of these subsidiaigee$20.0 million, of
which $16.3 million is available to Hallmark. Ascaunty mutual, dividends from HCM are payable ttigybolders. None of
our insurance company subsidiaries paid a dividkmthg the years ended December 31, 2010 or 2009.

The state insurance departments also regulate cislatransactions between our insurance subsidiasied their affiliated
companies. Applicable regulations require apprafamanagement fees, expense sharing contracts iamidrstransactions.
American Hallmark General Agency, Inc. paid $5.6lion, $5.6 million and $4.5 million in managemeiges to Hallmark
during 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. HIC @i million in management fees to American Hatkn@eneral Agency,
Inc. during each of 2010, 2009 and 2008. AHIC p&#d4 million, $4.5 million and $3.3 million in magement fees to
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American Hallmark General Agency, Inc. during 202009 and 2008, respectively. HSIC paid $60,00hamagement fees to
TGA Insurance Managers during each of 2010, 2008 2808.

Statutory capital and surplus is calculated asistat assets less statutory liabilities. The vasistate insurance departments that
regulate our insurance company subsidiaries regusit® maintain a minimum statutory capital anghis. As of December 31,
2010, our insurance company subsidiaries repoitgdtery capital and surplus of $182.5 million, st#ntially greater than the
minimum requirements for each state. For the yealed December 31, 2010, our insurance company diakies reported
statutory net income of $5.1 million, excluding HlNIwhich was acquired December 31, 2010.

The National Association of Insurance Commissiometglires property/casualty insurers to file a-tislsed capital calculation
according to a specified formula. The purposehef formula is twofold: (1) to assess the adequdcgnoinsurer’s statutory
capital and surplus based upon a variety of factach as potential risks related to investmentfplst ceded reinsurance and
product mix; and (2) to assist state regulatorseuride RBC for Insurers Model Act by providing thinelds at which a state
commissioner is authorized and expected to takelatary action. As of December 31, 2010, the adpligapital under the risk-
based capital calculation of each of our insuraapany subsidiaries substantially exceeded themaim requirements.

Share-based Payment Arrangements

Our 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan (“2005 LTIP")asstock compensation plan for key employees andenquioyee directors
that was approved by the shareholders on May 285.20rhere are 2,000,000 shares authorized foatesuunder the 2005
LTIP. Our 1994 Non-Employee Director Stock Optielan (the “1994 Director Plan”) expired in 2004t ad unexercised
options outstanding as of December 31, 2010.

As of December 31, 2010, there were incentive stqtlons to purchase 1,286,666 shares of our constomk outstanding and

non-qualified stock options to purchase 320,000eshaf our common stock outstanding and there #88501 shares reserved
for future issuance under the 2005 LTIP. As of @sber 31, 2010, there were non-qualified stockomgtito purchase 20,834
shares outstanding under the 1994 Director Plame éxercise price of all such outstanding stockooptis equal to the market
value of our common stock on the date of grant.

Incentive stock options granted under the 2005 LgriBr to 2009, vest 10%, 20%, 30% and 40% on itts¢, Second, third and

fourth anniversary dates of the grant, respectjvafyl terminate five to ten years from the datgraht. Incentive stock options
granted in 2009 under the 2005 LTIP vest in eqnalal increments on each of the first seven ansargrdates and terminate
ten years from the date of grant. There was oart@f 25,000 incentive stock options in 2010 urttler2005 LTIP that vests in
equal annual increments on each of the first tlaneeiversary dates and terminates ten years frondabe of grant. Non-

qualified stock options granted under the 2005 L@#nerally vest 100% six months after the daterahigand terminate ten
years from the date of grant. There was one gri200,000 non-qualified stock options in 2009 unithe 2005 LTIP that vests
in equal annual increments on each of the firseseanniversary dates and terminates ten yearstfierdate of grant. All non-

qualified stock options granted under the 1994 @aePlan vested 40% six months from the date afigand an additional 10%
on each of the first six anniversary dates of tlegand terminate ten years from the date of grant
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A summary of the status of our stock options aanaf changes during the year ended December 31,i2@t€sented below:

Average  Contractual Intrinsic
Number of Exercise Term Value
Shares Price (Years) ($000)
Outstanding at January 1, 2010 1,614,186 9.62
Granted 25,000 $ 9.12
Exercised (9,166)% 2.69
Forfeited or expired (2,500% 2.63
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 1,627,580 9.66 70 $ 1,753
Exercisable at December 31, 2010 776,97 10.36 6.3 % 611

The following table details the intrinsic value @ftions exercised, total cost of share-based patgradrarged against income

before income tax benefit and the amount of relatedme tax benefit recognized in income for theiqus indicated (in
thousands):

2010 2009 2008
Intrinsic value of options exercised $ 47 $ 113 $ 415
Cost of share-based payments (non-cash) $ 1,115¢ 1,334 $ 1,368
Income tax benefit of share-based
payments recognized in income $ 30 % 78 % 30

As of December 31, 2010, there was $1.9 milliortatél unrecognized compensation cost related tovested share-based
compensation arrangements granted under our péamgich $0.8 million is expected to be recognize®011, $0.4 million is

expected to be recognized in 2012, $0.2 millioexpected to be recognized each year from 2013 ¢ghr@015 and $0.1 million
is expected to be recognized in 2016.

The fair value of each stock option granted isnested on the date of grant using the Black-Schofg®n pricing model.
Expected volatilities are based on the historicaatility of Hallmark’s and similar companies’ corom stock for a period equal
to the expected term. The risk-free interest rigeperiods within the contractual term of theiop$ are based on rates for U.S.
Treasury Notes with maturity dates correspondinghi® options’ expected lives on the dates of graBixpected term is

determined based on the simplified method as weaddave sufficient historical exercise data tovide a basis for estimating
the expected term.
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The following table details the weighted averagengdate fair value and related assumptions fopéneds indicated.

2010 2009 2008
Grant date fair value per share $ 3.62% 3.00 $ 474
Expected term (in years) 6.0 6.8 6.4
Expected volatility 35.0% 40.0% 35.0%
Risk free interest rate 3.2% 2.7% 3.4%

Retirement Plans

Certain employees of the Standard Commercial Segmere participants in a defined cash balance ptaering all
full-time employees who had completed at least @,86urs of service. This plan was frozen in Mag01 in
anticipation of distribution of plan assets to mengbupon plan termination. All participants weested when the plan
was frozen.

The following tables provide detail of the changebenefit obligations, components of benefit coatsighted-average
assumptions, and plan assets for the retirementgdaof and for the twelve months ending Decemiier2810, 2009
and 2008 using a measurement date of DecembertBb{isands).
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Assumptions (end of period):
Discount rate used in determining benefit obligatio
Rate of compensation increase

Reconciliation of funded status (end of period):
Accumulated benefit obligation

Projected benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Funded status

Net actuarial loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Prepaid pension cost

Net amount recognized as of December 31

Changes in projected benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation as of beginning of period
Interest cost

Actuarial liability (gain)/loss

Benefits paid

Benefit obligation as of end of peri

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets as of beginning of period
Actual return on plan assets, net of expenses
Employer contributions

Benefits paid

Fair value of plan assets as of end of pe

Net periodic pension cost:

Service cost - benefits earned during the period
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets

Recognized actuarial loss

Net periodic pension cc

Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

2010 2009 2008
5.25% 6.00% 5.50%

N/A N/A N/A
$ (12,050) $  (11,301) (12,159)
$  (12,050) $  (11,301) (12,159)
9,217 8,673 7,850
$ (2,833) $ (2,628) (4,309)
(3,114) (2,805) (5,132)
(3,114) (2,805) (5,132)

281 177 823
$ (2,833 (2,628) (4,309)
$ 11,301 $ 12,159 12,053
651 643 667

925 (631) 327
(827) (870) (888)

$  12,05( $ 11,30 12,15¢
$ 8673 $ 7,850 10,384
937 1,693 (2,448)

434 - 802
(827) (870) (888)

$ 9217 $ 8,67¢ 7 85(

$ -3 . .
651 643 667
(546) (485) (670)

224 489 64

$ 328§ 647 61
6.00% 5.50% 5.75%
6.50% 6.50% 6.50%

N/A N/A N/A
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Estimated future benefit payments by fiscal yeattfpusands):

2011 $ 895
2012 $ 911
2013 $ 909
2014 $ 904
2015 $ 896
2016-2020 $ 4,323

As of December 31, 2010, the fair value of the @agets was composed of cash and cash equivafed@s2omillion,
bonds and notes of $3.0 million and equity seasitf $6.0 million.

Our investment objectives are to preserve capitdl ta achieve long-term growth through a favorafale of return
equal to or greater than 5% over the long-termy@#r) average inflation rate as measured by thewuoar price index.
The objective of the equity portion of the portfols to achieve a return in excess of the Stan&aPeor’'s 500 index.
The objective of the fixed income portion of thertfdio is to add stability, consistency, safetydatotal return to the
total fund portfolio.

We prohibit investments in options, futures, presionetals, short sales and purchase on margin.al¥derestrict the
investment in fixed income securities to “A” ratedbetter by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s ratingvsges and restrict
investments in common stocks to only those thatisted and actively traded on one or more of tligomUnited States
stock exchanges, including NASDAQ. We manage taasset allocation of 45% to 75% in equity secgitieAn
investment in any single stock issue is restridte®% of the total portfolio value and 90% of thecgrities held in
mutual or commingled funds must meet the critestacbmmon stocks.

To develop the expected long-term rate of returmssets assumption, we consider the historicatnetand the future
expectations for returns for each asset class.etlsaa the target asset allocation of the pensmifglio. This resulted
in the selection of the 6.5% long-term rate of meton assets assumption. To develop the discatet used in
determining the benefit obligation we used the Mer¢ield Curve at the measurement date to matcHimhieag and

amounts of projected future benefits.

We estimate contributing $0.6 million to the definbenefit cash balance plan during 2011. We expact2011
periodic pension cost to be $0.3 million, the comgruts of which are interest cost of $0.6 milliorpected return on
plan assets of ($0.6) million and amortization abarial loss of $0.3 million.

The following table shows the weighted-average taalbecation for the defined benefit cash balantanpheld as of
December 31, 2010 and 2009.

12/31/10 12/31/09

Asset Category:

Debt securities 32% 32%
Equity securities 65% 65%
Cash and cash equivalents 3% 3%
Total 100% 100%

ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a condistemework for measuring fair value and expandscldsure
requirements about fair value measurements. ASC 8&tbng other things, requires us to maximize tke af
observable inputs and minimize the use of unob®égvianputs when measuring fair value. In additi#@§C 820
precludes the use of block discounts when measthmdpir value of instruments traded in an actharket, which were
previously applied to large holdings of publiclpdied equity securities.

Effective January 1, 2008, we determine the falueaof our financial instruments based on the failue hierarchy
established in ASC 820. In accordance with ASC, 820utilize the following fair value hierarchy:
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e Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for idesitassets;

» Level 2: inputs to the valuation methodology induguoted prices for similar assets and liabilifresctive
markets, inputs of identical assets for less actiaekets, and inputs that are observable for thetas liability,
either directly or indirectly, for substantiallyatiull term of the instrument; and

* Level 3: inputs to the valuation methodology that anobservable for the asset or liability.
This hierarchy requires the use of observable mald when available.

Under ASC 820, we determine fair value based onptiee that would be received for an asset or paittansfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between margatticipants on the measurement date. It is olicypto maximize the

use of observable inputs and minimize the use absarvable inputs when developing fair value measents, in

accordance with the fair value hierarchy descridledve. Fair value measurements for assets arilitieesbwhere there
exists limited or no observable market data areutaled based upon our pricing policy, the econaanid competitive
environment, the characteristics of the assetatility and other factors as appropriate. Thesienased fair values may
not be realized upon actual sale or immediateese#ht of the asset or liability.

Where quoted prices are available on active exaaifigr identical instruments, investment securities classified
within Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy. Leveirvestment securities include common and prefestedk.

Level 2 investment securities include corporatedspmunicipal bonds, collateralized corporate blans and U.S.
Treasury securities for which quoted prices areawatilable on active exchanges for identical insgnts. We use a
third party pricing service to determine fair vauer each Level 2 investment security in all ast&$ses. Since quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets at available, these prices are determined usingrobble market
information such as quotes from less active mar&etior quoted prices of securities with similaaretteristics, among
other things. We have reviewed the processes ugedhebpricing service and have determined that tlesylt in fair
values consistent with the requirements of ASC#@2Qevel 2 investment securities.

In cases where there is limited activity or lesms$parency around inputs to the valuation, investraecurities are
classified within Level 3 of the valuation hieraychLevel 3 investments are valued based on thedwadlable data in
order to approximate fair value. This data mayiriternally developed and consider risk premiumg #hanarket
participant would require.

The following table presents for each of the failue hierarchy levels, our plan assets that aresuned at fair value on
a recurring basis at December 31, 2010 (in thowsand

Quoted Prices in Other
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Debt securities $ - $ 2,961 $ - $ 2,961
Equity securities 5,999 - - 5,999
Cash and cash equivalents 257 - - 257
Total $ 6,25¢€ $ 2,961 $ - $ 9,21i

We sponsor a defined contribution plan. Under pifes, employees may contribute a portion of theinpensation on a
tax-deferred basis, and we may contribute a discraty amount each year. We contributed $0.2 onilfor each of the
years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 ctasghe.

F-41



HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008

15. Income Taxes

The composition of deferred tax assets and ligsliand the related tax effects as of Decembe2@10 and 2009, are

as follows (in thousands):
2010 2009

Deferred tax liabilities:

Deferred policy acquisition costs $ 7588 $( 7,277
Net unrealized holding gain on investments ( 5,767) ( 4,669
Agency relationship ( 113) ( 123)
Intangible assets ( 7,941) ( 6,81)
Fixed assets ( 669) ( 344)
Other ( 578) ( 477)

Total deferred tax liabilities ( 22,656 ( 19,693

Deferred tax assets:

Unearned premiums 8,082 7,846
Deferred ceding commissions 5 22
Amortization of non-compete agreements 595 655
Pension liability 1,090 982
Net operatingoss carr-forwarc 88¢ 99C
Unpaid loss and loss adjustment expense 6,434 5,149
Goodwill 302 511
Rent reserve 8 22
Investment impairments 1,599 2,416
Capital loss - 9
Other 181 149

Total deferred tax assets 19,185 18,751

Net deferred tax liability 6 3,47) % ( 942)

The change in valuation allowance attributable @atiouing operations and other comprehensive incmm@esented
below (in thousands):

2010 2009

Continuing operations $ - $ (1,213)
Changes in other comprehensiverireo - (3,300)
$ - $ (4,513
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Income Taxe, continued

A reconciliation of the income tax provisions basecdthe statutory tax rate to the provision re#iddin the
consolidated nancial statements for the years ended Decemb&030, 2009 and 2008, is as follows (in
thousands:

2010 2009 208

Computed expected income tax expt

at statutory regulatory tax ri $2892 $11,64( $7,39¢
Meals and enteainmen 17 14 18
Tax exempt intere ( 1,82¢) ( 2157) ( 2,887)
Dividends received deducti ( 172) ( 25%) ( 147)
State taxes (net of federal ben 29¢ 15¢ 26¢
Valuation allowanc - ( 1,21%) 2,96¢
Othe ( 382) 44C 55¢
Income tax expen $825 $8,63C $8,17¢
Current income tax exper $1,843 $10,16¢ $9,087
Deferred tavbenefi ( 1,01¢) (. 153) ( 917)
Income tax expen $825 $8,63C $8,17¢

We have available, for federal income tax joses, unused net operating loss of approximai2.5 million

at December 31, :10. The losses were acquired as part of the Hisition and may be used to offset future
taxable income. Utilization of the losses is leditunder Internal Revenueode Section 382. The Internal
Revenue Code has provided that effective with @a&ry beginning September 1997, the «-back and carry-
forward periods are 2 years and 20 years, resmgtiwith respect to newly generated operatingdessrhe ne
operating losses will expire, if unused, as follc (in thousands

Yeal
2021 $ 162t
202z 87¢

$ 2508

We are no longer subject to U.S. federal, statsgllor nor— U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorit@s f
years prior to 2C7.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties relateshdertain tax positions in income tax expenseergh
were no uncertain tax positions at December 310

Commitments and Contingencie:

We have several leases, primarily for office fities and computer equipment, which expire in uasigears throug
2018. Certain of these leases contain renewal optiétental expense amounted to $1.8 million, $1/8aniand $2.1
million for the years ended December 3110, 20(9 and 2018, respetively.

Future minimum lease payments under-cancelable operating leases as of December 39 are as follow (in
thousands:

Yeal

2011 $ 1,19¢
2012 1,02¢
2013 98¢
2014 97C
2015 96¢€
2016 and thereafte 2,52¢
Total mrinimum lease paymer $ 7,67¢

From time to time, assessments are levied on ubdguaranty association of the states where ver ofir insurance
products. Such assessments are made primarily ter dbe losses of policyholders of insolvent or atalitated
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insurers. Since these assessments can be recdlieyadh a reduction in future premium taxes puaié,capitalize the
assessments as they are paid and amortize thalzgutbalance against our premium tax expenseereTtvere no
assessments during 2010, 2009 or 2008.

In December 2010, TGA was informed by the Texas ftootler of Public Accounts that a surplus lineg tudit

covering the period January 1, 2007 through DecerBbe2009 was complete. TGA frequently acts asamaging

general underwriter (“MGU”) authorized to undeneripolicies on behalf of Republic Vanguard InsuraGoenpany
and Hallmark Specialty Insurance Company, both $exaible surplus lines insurance carriers. mritle as the
MGU, TGA underwrites policies on behalf of theseriems while other agencies located in Texas gdiyereferred to

as “producing agents” deliver the policies to thsureds and collect all premiums due from the idsir During the
period under audit, the producing agents also c@tethe surplus lines premium taxes due on thiipsifrom the
insureds, held them in trust, and timely remittedse taxes to the Comptroller. We believe thisesysfor collecting
and paying the required surplus lines premium taoesplies in all respects with the Texas InsuraBode and other
regulations, which clearly require that the samegypwho delivers the policies and collects the prens will also

collect premium taxes, hold premium taxes in trast] pay premium taxes to the Comptroller. It alsmplies with

long standing industry practice. The Comptrollsseats that TGA is liable for the surplus linesnpiten taxes related
to policy transactions and premiums collected freamplus lines insureds during the audit period #rat TGA

therefore owes $4.5 million in premium taxes, a8 a&$0.9 million in penalties and interest foe #udit period.

We disagree with the Comptroller and intend to vogrsly fight their assertion that TGA is liable filve surplus lines
premium taxes. At this stage, we cannot predietdburse of any proceedings, the timing of anyngdior other
significant events relating to such surplus linas tudit. Given these limitations and the inherdificulty of
projecting the outcome of regulatory disputes, wepmesently unable to reasonably estimate thelgedsss or legal
costs that are likely to arise out of the surpined tax audit or any future proceedings relatothts matter.

We are engaged in legal proceedings in the ordinatyse of business, none of which, either indiglfuor in the
aggregate, are believed likely to have a matedaeese effect on our consolidated financial positar results of
operations, in the opinion of management. Theousriegal proceedings to which we are a party @uérre in nature
and incidental to our business.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

We maintain cash and cash equivalents in accouittisseven financial institutions in excess of tineoaint insured by
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. We tootihe financial stability of the depository ingtions regularly
and do not believe excessive risk of depositortitintson failure existed at December 31, 2010.

We are also subject to credit risk with respectdimsurers to whom we have ceded underwriting riskthough a
reinsurer is liable for losses to the extent of ¢thgerage it assumes, we remain obligated to olicyholders in the
event that the reinsurers do not meet their ohtigatunder the reinsurance agreements. In ordmitigate credit risk
to reinsurance companies, we monitor the financ@idition of reinsurers on an ongoing basis andevevour
reinsurance arrangements periodically. Most ofreinsurance recoverable balance as of Decembe2(@D, is with
reinsurers that have an A.M. Best rating of “A-“hmtter.
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Unaudited Selected Quarterly Financidhformation :

Following is a summary of the unaudited interimutessof operations for the years ended Decembe2@10 and 2009
(in thousands, except per share data).
results of operations for such periods have beadema

Total revenu

Total expens
Income (loss) befor
tax

Income tax expens
(benefit

Net income (loss
Net income (loss
attributable to non-
controlling interes
Net incom (loss|
attributable to
Hallmark Financial
Services, Inc

Basic earninc (loss
per share:

Diluted earning
(loss per share

In theimpiof management, all adjustments necessary tgeptdairly the

201C 2009

Ql Q2 Q3 Q4 Ql Q2 Q3 Q4
$75,82¢  $75,681 $76,217 $79.33¢ $70,91C $70,74¢ $71,90!  $73,48:
66,64 76,99¢ 74,96 80,15 62,46¢ 63,941 66,07( 61,30¢
9,181 (1,309 1,25¢ (862) 8,44¢ 6,80: 5,83: 12,17¢
2,89( (953) 20¢ (1,317 1,662 2,51¢ 1,58¢ 2,86¢
6,291 (356; 1,04¢ 45t 6,78¢ 4,28¢ 4,24¢ 9,31-
5 32 33 35 (@) 9 34 16
$6,28¢€ $(388; $1,01¢ $42C $6,79( $4,27¢ $4,21¢ $9,29¢
$031 $(0.02) $0.05 $002 $C.33 $0.20 $0.2C $046
$031 $(0.02 $0.05 $002 $0.33 $0.20 $0.20 $046
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HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008

Schedule Il — Condensed Financial Information of Rgistrant (Parent Company Only)

HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 210 and 20(9
(In thousands

2010 2009

ASSET¢
Equity securities, availab-for-sale, at fair vall $ - % 944
Cash and cash equivale 10,98: 9,64¢
Investment in subsidiari 299,111 287,56t
Deferred federal income ta» 172 154
Otherasset: 3,821 3,59(

$ 31468t $ 301,90(

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Liabilities:
Notes payabl $ 59,50: $ 5950z
Current federl income tax payab 7,85¢ 8,55¢
Accounts payable and other accrued expe 11,5¢8 7,32¢
78,955 75,38t
Stockholders’ equit
Common stock, 118 par value, authorize33,333,33 share;
issuec20.872,83: shares i 2010 andin 20C9 3,751 3,757
Capital in excess of par val 121,81! 121,01¢
Retained earning 105,¢16 98,48:
Accumulated other comprehensincome 9,657 8,58¢
Treasury stoc|(748,66: shares in 210 anc 757,82{in 20(9), at cos (5,267) (5,3279)
Total stockholders’ equi 235762 226,51
Total liabilities and stockholders’ égu $ 314,688 $ 301,900

See accompanying report of independent registarbticpaccounting firm.

F-46



FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Schedule Il (Continued) — Condensed Financial Infanation of Registrant (Parent Company Only)

HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
(In thousands)

201c 200¢ 200¢
Investment income (loss), net of expel $ (119 % (166 $ 127
Realized gain (los 4] 31: (1,056
Management fee incor 6,071 7,127 6,044
Other incom £ - :
5,998 7,274 5,115
Losses and loss adjustment expe - - Q)
Operating expens 6,885 8,190 6,537
Interest expent 4,598 4,572 4,649
Amortization of intangible ass 150 37¢ .
11,633 13,141 11,185
Loss before equity in undistributed earnings of subsikaaind
income tax expen (5,635) (5,867) (6,070)
Income tax bene (1,608 (1,609 (1,567
Loss before equity in undistributed earnings of subsik (4,027) (4,258) (4,503)
Equity in undistributed share of earnings in subsidi 11,361 28,833 17,402
Net income $ 7332 _$ 2457 _$ 12,89¢

See accompanying report of independent registarblicpaccounting firm.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Schedule Il (Continued) — Condensed Financial Infanation of Registrant (Parent Company Only)

HALLMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 200

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitit

Net incom

Adjustments to reconcile net i

ncome to cash praViole (used in) operating activitir

Depreciation and amortization expe

Deferred income tax expense (ben

Change in unpaid losses and loss adjustnxpetinse
Undistributed share of earnings of subsidk

Realized gain (los
Change in current federal
Change in all other liabiliti
Change in all other ass

income tax pay

Net cash provided by (used in) operasictivities

Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of property and equipr

Acquisition of subsidiari

Net transfers from restricted c
Purchase of fixed maturity and equity secut

Maturities and redemptions

of investment seigs

Net cash provided by investing activi

Cash flows from financing act
Proceeds from exercise of e
Purchase of treasury she
Repayment of borrowin

ivitie
mployee stock of.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing atite

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equiv

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
Cash and cash equivalents at end of

Supplemental cash flow informatic

Interest pai

Income taxes recover

See accompanying report of independent registawbticpaccounting firm.
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201( 200¢ 200¢

$ 7,33 $ 2457F $ 12,89¢
22: 44§ 7¢

(12 11z (17

- - 1
(11,361 (28,833 (17,402
(41 (313 1,05¢

(700 5,13¢ 2,69:
4,092 2,557 19:
83¢ 2,40¢ 381

37¢ 6,09( (124

(28 (22 (60

- - (15,000

- - 10,644

(989 (10,957 (84,870
1,95¢ 12,651 91,98¢
93¢ 1,672 2,69¢

2t 11¢ 21¢

- (5,250 -

- (318 (9,683

2t (5,453 (9,464

1,337 2,30¢ (6,889
9,64¢ 7,33 14,22¢

$ 1098: $ 9646 $ 7,337
$ (4594 $ (4612 $ (4,662
$ 89t $ 4,24
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Hallmark Financial Services

Schedule Il - Supplementary Insurance Information

(In thousands)

FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Column 2 Column E ColumnC ColumnLC ColumnE ColumnF Column C Column + Column Column. Column K
Segment Deferred Future Unearned Other Premium Net Benefits, Amaiiobn ~ Other Net
Policy Policy Premiums Policy Revenue Investment Clainesses of Deferred Operating Premiums
Acquisition  Benefits, Claims Income  and Settlement Bolic Expenses  Written
Costs Losses, and Benefits Expenses Acquisition
Claims and Payable Costs
Loss
Adjustment
Expense

2010
Personal Segment 5,401$ 50,768 $ 33,152 $ - $ 88602% 2135 $ 72,165 $ 22,433 $ 26,855 $ 95,096
Standard Commercial Segment 6,168 84,524 33,134 - 65,571 4,475 51,468 13,3563 20,128 63,572
Specialty Commercial Segment 10,110 116,385 74,679 - 124,098 7,073 78,911 21,573 34,933 122,973
Corporate - - - - - 1,166 - - 6,960 -
Consolidate 21,67¢ $ 251,67 $ 140,96! $ - $ 278,27. $ 14,84¢ $ 202,54: $ 57,35¢ $ 88,87t $ 281,64:
2009
Personal Segment 3,760$ 24,808 $ 17,001 $ - $ 67512% 1809 $ 43,794 $ 15,027 $ 19,915 $ 71,708
Standard Commercial Segment 6,632 79,429 35,098 - 71,290 5,009 44,372 14,456 22,196 68,082
Specialty Commercial Segment 10,500 80,425 72,990 - 112,270 5,907 65,453 22,848 43,143 121,950
Corporate - - - - - 2,222 - - 8,246 -
Consolidate 20,79: $ 184,66. $ 125,08¢ $ - $ 251,07: $ 1494 $ 153,61¢ $ 52,337 $ 93,50( $ 261,74(
2008
Personal Segment 2,826 22,621 $ 12,806 $ - $ 59019% 169 $ 39,042 $ 12,711 $ 16,836 $ 60,834
Standard Commercial Segment 7,169 77,407 38,257 - 79,795 5,599 49,270 22,917 24,244 75,361
Specialty Commercial Segment 9,529 56,335 51,129 - 97,506 5,232 55,933 19,520 48,247 98,732
Corporate - - - - - 3,519 Q) - 6,537 -
Consolidate 19,52 $ 156,36 $ 102,19: $ - $ 236,32( $ 16,04¢ $ 144,24: $  5514¢ $ 95,86: $ 234,92

See accompanying report of independent regisfaubtic accounting firm.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Hallmark Financial Services
Schedule IV - Reinsurance
(In thousands)

Column A

Column B
Gross
Amount

Column C

Ceded to
Other

Companies

Column D
Assumed
From Other
Companies

Column E
Net
Amount

Column
Percentage
of Amount
Assumed to
Net

Year Ended December 31, 2010

Life insurance in force

Premiums
Life insurance
Accident and health insurance
Property and liability insurance
Title Insurance

Total premiums

Year Ended December 31, 2009

$

$

284,831

36,472

29,912 278,271

$

284,831 $

36,472 %

29,912 $278,271

Life insurance in force

Premiums
Life insurance
Accident and health insurance
Property and liability insurance
Title Insurance

Total premiums

Year Ended December 31, 2008

185,727

18,402

83,747 251,072

$

185,727$

1

8,402 $

83,747 $ 251,072

Life insurance in force

Premiums
Life insurance
Accident and health insurance
Property and liability insurance
Title Insurance

Total premiums

155,616

8,336

89,040 236,320

$

155,616%

8

,336 $

89,040% 236,320

See accompanying report of independent registarbticpaccounting firm.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Hallmark Financial Services
Schedule VI - Supplemental Information Concernig Property-Casualty Insurance Operations
(In thousands)

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E Column Column G Column H Column K
Claims and Claim
Affiliation Deferred Reserves Discount Unearned riear Net Adjustment Amortization Premiums
With Policy for Unpaid if any, Premiums Premiums védstment Expenses Incurred Related to  of Deferredain§ and Written
Registrant Acquisition Claims and Deducted Income Q) (2)
Costs Claim In Current Prior Acquisition  Adjustment
Adjustment Column C Year Years
Expenses

(a) Consolidated
property-casualty

Entities
2010 $ 21679 $ 251,677 $ - $ 140,965 $278,271 $ 14848 193354 $ 9,190 $
2009 $ 20,792 $ 184,662 $ - $ 125,089 $251,072 $ 14,947 $ 151,999 $ 1,620%
2008 $ 19,524 $ 156,363 $ - $ 102,192 $236,320 $ 16,049 $ 146,059 $ (1.815%

See accompanying report of independent registarblicpaccounting firm.
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57,359% 165,071 $ 281,641
52,331 $ 127,394% 261,740

55,148 $ 115,068 $ 234,927
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The following reconciles Hallmark’s 2006 net income, diluted earnings per share and return on average equity computed without the interest expense from amortization attributable to
the deemed discount on convertible promissory notes to its reported results (in thousands). Management believes this reconciliation provides useful supplemental information in
evaluating the operating results of Hallmark’s business. This disclosure should not be viewed as a substitute for net income, diluted earnings per share and return on average equity
determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles:

Income excluding
interest expense
from amortization

of discount, net of tax

Interest expense
from amortization
of discount | Tax effect Net Income

Year ended December 31, 2006 $ 15,257 $9,625 $(3,559) $ 9,191
Weighted-average shares—basic 17,181 17,181
Weighted-average shares—diluted 17,194 17,194
Average shareholders’ equity 117,960 117,960
Net income per share—basic $ 089 $ 053
Net income per share—diluted $ 0.89 $ 053
Return on average equity 12.9% 7.8%
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